# UNIVERSITY OF NAPLES FEDERICO II DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES



## **PH.D. PROGRAM IN FOOD SCIENCE**

XXXIII Cycle (Years 2018-2021)

**PH.D.** THESIS

# TITLE

"Diet, Microbiota and Epigenetics

as target for innovative strategies against Food Allergy"

**Ph.D. Coordinator** Prof. Amalia Barone

Audia Brae

**Ph.D. STUDENT** Dr. Giusy Della Gatta

**Ph.D. Supervisor** Prof. Danilo Ercolini

Din

**Ph.D. Co-Supervisor** Prof. Roberto Berni Canani

f Bean

Academic Year 2019-2020

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

## 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 THE CHANGING SCENARIO OF FOOD ALLERGY

1.2 NATURAL HISTORY OF FOOD ALLERGY

1.3 NEW INSIGHTS IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF FOOD ALLERGY

1.4 THE GUT MICROBIOME: INVESTIGATING THE METAGENOMIC AND

## METABOLOMICS FEATURES

1.5 THE ROLE OF BREASTFEEDING IN FOOD ALLERGY

1.6 EPIGENETICS REGULATION OF FOOD ALLERGY

## 2. AIMS

## **3. METHODS**

1.1 DONORS AND COLLECTION OF HUMAN MILK SAMPLES

1.2 DETERMINATION OF BUTYRATE CONCENTRATION IN HUMAN

## MILK SAMPLE

1.3 DNA AND RNA EXTRACTION FROM CD4+ T-CELLS ISOLATED

FROM PERIPHERAL BLOOD MONONUCLEAR CELLS

1.4 MEASUREMENT OF IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, IL-10, AND IFN-γ CULTURE

## MEDIA CONCENTRATION

1.5 DNA METHYLATION ANALYSIS

1.6 HUMAN ENTEROCYTES CELL LINE

1.7 IMMUNE AND NON-IMMUNE BIOMARKERS ANALYSIS ON HUMAN

ENTEROCYTES

1.8 HDAC ACTIVITY ASSAY

1.9 FOOD ALLERGY ANIMAL MODEL

1.10 FOOD ALLERGEN SENSITIZATION AND CHALLENGE

1.11 ELISAs

1.12 SPLEEN CULTURE AND CYTOKINE MEASUREMENT

1.13 PREPARATION OF ISOLATED MITOCHONDRIA AND

POLAROGRAPHIC MEASUREMENT OF RESPIRATION

1.14 DETERMINATION OF MITOCHONDRIAL ENZYMATIC ACTIVITIES

AND H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> RELEASE

1.15 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

2.1 ETHICS

2.2 STUDY SUBJECTS

2.3 METAGENOME SEQUENCING

2.4 METAGENOME ANALYSES

2.5 FECAL SHORT- CHAIN FATTY ACIDS DETERMINATION

2.6 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

## 4. RESULTS

1.1 BUTYRATE CONCENTRATION IN HUMAN MILK

1.2 EFFECTS OF BUTYRATE ON CD4+ T CELLS

1.3. EFFECTS OF BUTYRATE ON HUMAN ENTEROCYTES

1.4 EFFECTS OF BUTYRATE IN FA ANIMAL MODEL

1.5 EFFECTS OF BUTYRATE ON HEPATIC MITOCHONDRIAL

OXIDATIVE CAPACITY AND HEPATIC OXIDATIVE STRESS

2.1 STUDY SUBJECTS

2.2 SPECIFIC MICROBIAL SIGNATURES ARE ASSOCIATED WITH THE

ALLERGY STATE

2.3 ALLERGIC CHILDREN HARBOR DIFFERENT FUNCTIONAL TYPES OF *R.GNAVUS* AND *B.LONGUM* 

2.4 MAGs RECONSTRUCTION HIGHLIGHTS INFLUENCE OF THE DELIVERY MODE ON SUB-SPECIES DIVERSITY

**5. DISCUSSION** 

6. CONCLUSIONS

## 7. REFERENCES

#### 8. TABLES

## 9. FIGURE LEGENDS

## **10. FIGURES**

## **11. PUBLICATIONS IN THE LAST 3 YEARS**

#### **1. Introduction**

#### 1.1 The changing scenario of food allergy

Prevalence of allergies among children has become an increasing problem in the last few decades.<sup>1</sup> Food allergy (FA) is an adverse health effect arising from a specific immune response that occurs reproducibly on exposure to a given food.<sup>2</sup>

Studies have suggested that the epidemiology of FA has shown a notable increase in the severity of clinical manifestation, prevalence and risk of persistence into later ages, causing an increase in medical visits, hospital admissions, treatment, burden of care on families and healthcare system over the past twenty years.

Epidemiological data of the last decades showed a 7-fold increase in hospital admissions for a food severe allergic reactions in children in the UK, Italy, Usa and Australia over the last 10 years.<sup>3,4</sup> FA is one of the most common causes of anaphylaxis outside the hospital setting.<sup>5,6</sup> Milk, eggs, peanuts, fish, shellfish, wheat, soy, nuts and seeds and other foods have been identified as triggers of FA.<sup>7,4,8</sup> In Australia Caraballo et al. have observed the highest prevalence of FA, reaching 10% of the infant population.<sup>9,10</sup> FA mostly affects children<sup>11</sup> but arising number of elderly subjects also have symptoms of FA.<sup>12</sup> Age-related gender differences are reported in FA.<sup>13</sup> For a long time, FA has been considered a pediatric disease because in the greater part of cases it begins in childhood and disappears with growth. Though, the current exponential growth of the adult and elderly population, especially in industrialized countries, and the environmental and lifestyle changes, have profoundly changed the epidemiology of FA with an increasing even in advanced age. A rising prevalence of FA has been shown in developing countries. Incidence rates similar to those of Western countries

have been reported in China and Africa. The economic growth of countries like China and the expansion of the phenomenon of globalization point to a future increase of FA prevalence.

#### 1.2 Natural history of food allergy

Many subjects with FA naturally outgrow it over time; however, the natural course highly depends on the causative allergen. Cow's milk allergy (CMA), hen's egg and wheat allergy approximately resolve in 50% of children by the age of 5-10 years. Other FAs (including peanut, tree nut, fish) have low rates of resolution or are considered persistent.<sup>14</sup> In addition, many forms of FA, including CMA, may be associated with later development of other allergic diseases such as asthma, oculorhinitis, urticaria, and atopic dermatitis (the so called "Atopic March"),<sup>15</sup> as well as other diseases such as functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGIDs),<sup>16</sup> inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD),<sup>17</sup> and psychiatric disorders, such as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), autistic spectrum disorders (ASD) and obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD).<sup>18</sup> The pathogenesis of these events is still largely unknown, but increasing evidence suggest that perturbation of gut microbiome, leading to alterations in immune system and gut-brain axis, could influence the occurrence of FA and FA-related conditions later in the life (Figure 1).

#### 1.3 New insights in the pathogenesis of food allergy

FA derives from a breakdown of immune tolerance.<sup>19</sup> Induction and maintenance of tolerance to food antigens requires active generation of food antigens specific regulatory T cells (Tregs), which are influenced by the resident microbiome.<sup>20,21</sup> Current knowledge suggests that the epidemiology of FA might be influenced by genetics and genome-environment interactions leading to immune-system dysfunction, mediated at least in part by epigenetic mechanisms.<sup>22,23</sup>

There is mounting evidence that the alterations of gut microbiota composition (dysbiosis) early in life play a key role in early host immunological development and represents a critical factor underlying FA and occurrence of other allergic and not allergic diseases later in the life.<sup>24,25,26,27,28,29</sup> Many epidemiologic data suggest a link between environmental factors able to influence gut microbiota composition and function, and the occurrence of FA (Figure 2). But these data only support the notion that several factors potentially influencing gut microbiota may be key risk modifiers for the development of FA. Unfortunately, data characterizing the microbiota of patients with FA are still preliminary. Table 1 summarizes main evidences on FA-associated gut microbiota features. Heterogeneity in study design, including sampling time points, methods used to characterize the gut microbiota, and different allergic phenotypes under study, make it difficult to establish a causal relation between specific bacterial taxa and development of FA. Despite these limitations at least 4 relevant observations on FA-associated gut microbiota can be raised:

- Dysbiosis precedes the FA onset;

- Microbial community structure early in life, in particular in the first 6 months of life, is more relevant in FA development;

- No specific bacterial taxa could be consistently associated with FA onset, with a broad range of microbes that could have positive or negative influence on tolerogenic mechanisms;

- Dysbiosis could influence not only the occurrence, but also the course of disease of FA.<sup>27</sup>

Many factors have been postulated to contribute to the onset of FA. Among the multiple immutable risk factors that could influence FA onset, there are the male sex, ethnicity (increased risk among Asian and black children compared with white children), and genetics (familial associations, HLA, and specific genes).<sup>30,31,32,33,34</sup> In addition, there are other risk factors that can be potentially addressed to reduce/prevent FA. These factors are related (mode of delivery, breast milk, use of acid-suppressive medications or antibiotics, use of antiseptic agents, rural environment, junk food-

based and/or low fibers/high fat diet, consumption of unpasteurized milk or fermented foods, exposure to pets) or unrelated (comorbid atopic dermatitis, vitamin D insufficiency, reduced consumption of omega-3-polyunsaturated fatty acids or antioxidants, timing and route of exposure to foods) to an influence on gut microbiota development and function. <sup>24,35,25</sup>

In the 1989 the idea that there might be a linking between the allergy epidemic and reduced microbial exposure was first proposed by David Strachan formulated the hygiene hypothesis, it suggested that a lower frequency of infections in early childhood could explain the rise in atopic diseases during the twentieth century:<sup>36</sup> later on this hypothesis was refined and it suggests that it is not the infections that protect against allergies; rather, the allergy epidemic is a result of a loss of sufficient interaction with health-promoting microbes which have been present through thousands of years of common evolution and the evolvement of the mammalian immune system. Von Hertzen and colleagues expanded the hygiene hypothesis in 2010 into the biodiversity hypothesis, which suggested that, in addition to microbes in the home, in food, in drinking water, and on domestic animals, microbes of the living environment, in general may play a key role in shaping the composition of microbial communities on the skin in the respiratory system and in the gut, with consequences for physiology and health.<sup>37</sup>

Even though the hygiene and biodiversity hypotheses and data from epidemiologic studies sustain that situation associated to differential microbial exposures are linked with allergy and FA risk, studies that have considered microbial diversity and composition in populations with and without FA provide direct evidence that GM differ in individuals with FA.

Several evidence indicates that the alterations of GM composition early in life has an important role in early host immunological development and represents a significant factor underlying FA and incidence of other allergic and not allergic diseases later in the life.<sup>34,25,38,26</sup> Azad and colleagues have shown elevated *Enterobacteriaceae/Bacteroidetes* ratio and a low GM richness in infant stool to be related with increased risk of food sensitization in the population-based Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) birth cohort study. They have found food-sensitized infants to have decreased abundance of Ruminococcaceae at 1 year. Arrieta et al. have shown that microbial alpha diversity did not differentiate atopic children from control children in a larger subset of CHILD study. They have found that a reduction of 4 genera such as Lachnospira, Faecalibacterium, Veillonella and Rothia in the faecal microbiome at age 3 months was predictive of atopic disease later in life while Cait et al. have found that only Faecalibacterium and Veillonella were predictive of atopic disease.<sup>28</sup> In a recent work Roduit et al. found that children with the highest levels of butyrate and propionate (≥95th percentile) in feces at the age of one year had significantly less atopic sensitization and were less likely to have asthma between 3 and 6 years and children with the highest levels of butyrate were also less likely to have a reported diagnosis of food allergy or allergic rhinitis.<sup>29</sup> Goldberg and collegues demonstrated a link between IgE-mediated FA and the composition and metabolic activity of the gut microbiota, to characterize the gut microbiota composition and short-chain fatty acid (SCFAs) profiles associated with major food allergy groups, they recruited 233 patients with FA including milk, sesame, peanut, and tree nuts, and non-allergic controls. They found that the gut microbiota composition of allergic patients was significantly different compared to age-matched controls both in  $\alpha$ -diversity and  $\beta$ -diversity. Distinct microbial signatures were observed for different type of FAs.

*Prevotella copri (P. copri)* was the most overrepresented species in non-allergic controls. SCFAs levels were significantly higher in the non-allergic compared to the FA groups, whereas *P. copri* significantly correlated with all three SCFAs.<sup>39</sup>

Experimental data from animal model suggest a connection between environmental factors able to influence GM composition and function, and the occurrence of FA. Treg was found reduced in mice treated with antibiotic or in germ free mice, with following inclination to allergy development.<sup>40,41,42</sup> Administration of defined *Clostridia*, or bacteria-derived SCFA to germ free mice induced a growth of Treg cells number, and reduced allergic response.<sup>40,43,44</sup> Several studies

in the animal model have shown the allergy-protective action of *Clostridia*, where a considerable protective effect consisting in regulation of innate lymphoid cell function, Foxp3+ Tregs, immunoglobulin (Ig)A and intestinal epithelial permeability was demonstrated.<sup>20</sup> A "humanized mice model" created with inoculation of microbiota-derived from human feces, resulted in an increase in Treg cells and a decrease of allergic symptoms.<sup>45</sup> The functional role of dysbiosis associated with FA was also exposed by the different capacity of the GM of allergen-sensitized mice to increase Th2 cells number and IgE responses and to promote allergic sensitization.<sup>19</sup>

A rising concept is the effect elicited by different dietary intervention in early life on modulation of the composition and diversity of GM. A modern study demonstrated that infants with non IgEmediated CMA that consumed vegetable protein-based formulas (soy and rice based formula) showed low abundance of Coriobacteriaceae. In particular, those fed with rice formulas presented low abundances of representatives of Coriobacteriaceae and Bifidobacteriaceae in their fecal samples. Contrary, Coriobacteriaceae, and the genus Collinsella, the major lactose utilizers in the human gut, have been present in higher ratio in infants with non IgE-mediated CMA children that have consumed an extensively hydrolyzed formula. An encouraging correlation was found between Coriobacteriaceae and butyrate levels in non IgE-mediated CMA children that consumed an extensively hydrolyzed formula. This may be described by the stimulation of certain butyrate producers through cross-feeding mechanisms that are triggered by end fermentation metabolites, which are produced by *Coriobacteriaceae*. <sup>46</sup> We have demonstrated a GM dysbiosis in non-IgEmediated CMA, driven by an enrichment of Bacteroides and Alistipes and these specific signatures coinciding with GM dysbiosis of IgE-mediated CMA children,<sup>47</sup> characterized by a progressive increase in Bacteroides from healthy to IgE-mediated CMA patients. The treatment with extensively hydrolysed casein formula (EHCF) plus the probiotic L. rhamnosus GG (LGG) positively infuenced gut dysbiosis composition in non-IgE-mediated CMA children, to restore the Bacteroides sub-genus composition and structure, which exhibited diversity similar to that shown

by the healthy controls.<sup>47</sup> Fazlollahi et al. in a study of 141 children with a reliable diagnosis of egg allergy and healthy control genera from the *Lachnospiraceae, Streptococcaceae* and *Leuconostocaceae* families were found to be differentially abundant in GM of children with egg allergy versus control children.<sup>48</sup>

Bunyavanich et al. studied 226 infants with milk allergy to examine the relationship between the infant GM and the clinical course of FA. They found that taxa from the *Firmicutes* phylum, including *Clostridia*, were enriched in the GM of infants with milk allergy. Moreover, Tanaka et al. have shown evidence that the GM at age of 2 months is associated with the development of self-reported FA by age 2 years. They found that the genera *Leuconostoc*, *Weissella and Veillonella* were underrepresented in the fecal samples of children with egg, cow's milk, soy and /or wheat allergy compared to children without FA while Savage et al. have found among 225 children a lower relative abundance of *Haemophilus*, *Dialister*, *Dorea* and *Clostridium* in stool sample was associated with sensitization to at least 1 food allergen among milk, egg, peanut, soy and wheat. <sup>49,34</sup>

There are many factors that could modulate GM-immune system axis composition influencing the occurrence of FA: animal exposure, mode of delivery, birth order and family size, antibiotic exposure, diet and environmental exposures. Recent studies suggest that the protective association between farming and the development of allergic disease may be due to differences in microbial exposure. Ege et al. found that the frequency of asthma was inversely associated with the diversity of microbial exposure even after controlling for farming status. Several studies have shown that infants who develop allergic disease later in life tended to have less *Bacteroides*, *Bifidobacteria* and *Enterococci*, but more *Clostridiae* comprising their microbiome early in life.<sup>50,51,52</sup> It has been shown that a diverse microbial exposure early in life modifies both the innate and adaptative immune system resulting in a significantly decreased risk of allergic disease.<sup>53,54</sup>

Babies born by cesarean section and those born through vaginal delivery show differences in immune responsiveness. Caesarean section could be change the GM composition. The baby is

delivered through a sterile surface instead of the birth canal where colonization by maternal microbiota would typically occur.<sup>55</sup> Delivery by Caesarean-section has been shown to delay the development of the GM and shape its colonization to patterns similar to the maternal skin.<sup>56</sup> Recent evidences have shown that children born by Caesarean-section had decreased microbial diversity and reduced Th1 responses during the first two years of life.<sup>57</sup>

Other studies have shown a link between Caesarean-section delivery and the development of asthma, allergic rhinitis and eczema. <sup>52,58,59</sup>

Specically, the GM of children born by Caesarean-section showed a reduced abundance of Bacteroides, Bifidobacteria, and E. coli but increased amounts of Enterobacter, Enterococcus, Klebsiella and Clostridia.<sup>57,52,60,61</sup> An infant delivered vaginally has colonization representative of the mother's vaginal tract, including Lactobacillus, Prevotella, or Sneathia spp.<sup>56</sup> Infants born via cesarean section have colonization more consistent with maternal skin and oral microbes, such as Enterobacter hormaechei/E. cancerogenus, Haemophilus parainfluenzae/H. aegyptius/H. influenza/H. haemolyticus, Staphylococcus saprophyticus/S. lugdunensis/S. aureus, Streptococcus australis, and Veillonella dispar/V. parvula.<sup>62</sup> An infant delivered by C- section misses out on contact with the microbes in the mother's vaginal canal, and one study shows that these infants have a significantly lower abundance of *Bacteroides* over time, regardless of feeding mode.<sup>56</sup> Infants born via C-section bypass microbes found in mom's stool as well, including Escherichia/Shigella, Bifidobacterium longum, Enterococcus faecalis, Bacteroides fragilis, B. thetaiomaomicron, and Bilophila wadsworthia, which have increased prevalence in the intestinal microbiomes of infants born vaginally.<sup>62</sup> Moreover, children born via C-section tended to have a higher need for antibiotics due to respiratory infections in the first year of life.<sup>63</sup> This was attributed to differences in acquisition of bacteria. In children born via C- section the gut microbiota was less stable with delay to Bifidobacterium emergence and higher pathogen abundance, from the genera Klebsiella and Enterococcus. These taxa are specifically noted to be associated with higher incidence of

respiratory infections within the first year of life.<sup>63</sup> A review of samples from nearly 600 infants in the UK by Shao et al. suggests that this could be due to the fact that these children lack commensal maternal Bacteroides strains of GM and are instead dominated with opportunistic pathogens (including Enterococcus, Enterobacter and Klebsiella species) associated with hospital environments.<sup>64</sup> Strachan showed with his hypothesis that infants with higher numbers of siblings had a decreased incidence of allergic disease. Since then, several studies have reproduced the inverse relationship between siblings' number and asthma, allergic rhinitis and eczema.<sup>65</sup> This association was initially due to the increased exposure to infections during childhood. Penders and colleagues have shown that birth order and family size may mediate their protective effect through alterations in the GM.<sup>61</sup> It has been showed that infants with an increased number of older siblings had decreased colonization rates of *Clostridia* and increased rates of *Bacteroides* and *Lactobacillus*. Penders and his collegues showed that colonization with Clostridia was linked with an increased risk of developing atopic dermatitis.<sup>61</sup> An Australian birth cohort study of 5276 children, 453 with reliable diagnosis of egg allergy, found that having older siblings and dog ownership were each associated with decreased egg allergy risk.<sup>66</sup> Use of antibiotic in early life could influence the GM. Several studies on full term infants receiving perinatal antibiotics showed that antibiotic treatment is associated with less bacterial diversity along with higher proportions of Proteobacteria and Enterobacteriaceae and lower proportions of Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus.<sup>67,49</sup>

The Prevention of Allergy-Risk Factors for sensitization in Children Related to Farming and Anthroposophic Lifestyle (PARSIFAL) and The Multidisciplanary Study to identify the Genetic and Environmental Causes of Asthma in the European Community (GABRIEL) studies estabilished that farm living is very important to the exposition to a wider range of microbes and this exposure explains much of the inverse relation between asthma and hay fever and growing up on a farm.<sup>53</sup> Lynch et al. in the Urban Environment and Childhood Asthma (URECA) study examined innercity homes with low neighborhood SES across different cities and assessed the house dust content.<sup>68</sup>

They showed that higher exposure to specific Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes together with high levels of pests and pests allergen conferred protection against the development of allergies. Diet is another area that has been shown to have significant effect on the GM.<sup>69</sup> One specific dietary that has been studied to the effect of GM composition and the development of allergic disease is breastfeeding and formula. It has been confirmed that breast milk may contain small oligosaccharides that promote the colonization of positive bacteria such as *Bifidobacteria*.<sup>70</sup> Several studies over the last 30 years have only shown minor differences in the GM between breast and formula-fed infants.<sup>60</sup> Fed-infants have higher amounts of *Clostrium difficile* that compose their GM.<sup>71,72</sup> Several studies have shown that Bacteroides, Enterococci and Enterobacteriaceae may be more common in the GM of formula fed infant, where staphylococci tend to be more prevalent in breast fed infants.<sup>60</sup> It is known that westernized countries have a higher prevalence of allergic disease,<sup>73</sup> and modern western diets have been associated with differences in the GM.<sup>69</sup> Evidences have shown that differences in consumption of animal fat, carbohydrates, and fiber can produce changes in GM that can have important effects on the immune system.<sup>74,75</sup> Advances in metagenomics and metabolomics implicate diet and gut microbiota (the diet-gut microbota axis) as key modulators of the maturation of the immune system. Findings from a recent systematic review further support the relationship between maternal diet during pregnancy and lactation and allergic sensitization to food during childhood.<sup>76</sup> Diet during the first 1000 days of life, from conception up to the first 24 months of age, may influence the risk of developing FA.<sup>77,78,79</sup> A study examining the influence of dietary patterns on the development of FA at the age of 24 months suggests that a healthy child diet with high levels of fruits, vegetables, and home-made foods is associated with less FA.<sup>80</sup>

The role of maternal and infant diet in the development of food allergy has been a major focus of research throughout this period. Allergen exposure can potentially occur in utero could impact on food allergy development. Early introduction of peanut has been shown to be protective against the development of peanut allergy in high-risk children with the body of evidence suggesting the same

is true for egg allergy.<sup>81</sup> One cohort reported that the delayed introduction of rice/wheat cereal (>6 months of age) was associated with a lower risk of food allergy.<sup>82</sup> In addition to allergenic food introduction, postnatal vitamin D status and prebiotic and/or probiotic supplementation has been suggested to be associated with the development of food allergy. Zhang et al. recently performed a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials about probiotic supplementation during pregnancy and/ or infancy and their effects on atopy in children.<sup>83</sup> They found that administering probiotics prenatally to pregnant mothers and postnatally to the child both could reduce the risk of food sensitization. Based on a review of the literature, the World Allergy Organisation guideline panel suggests using prebiotic supplementation in infants who are not exclusively breastfed, but not for exclusively breastfed infants.<sup>84</sup>

Several studies reported that nutrients impact the gut microbiota and the bacterial metabolites production.<sup>85</sup> The Mediterranean diet (MD) is highly regarded as a healthy balanced diet. It is characterized by high consumption of assorted fruits, vegetables, cereals, legumes, olive oil, and nuts; moderate consumption of fish, poultry, and red wine; and a lower intake of dairy products, red meat, processed meat and sweets. It has been demonstrated that adherence to MD during pregnancy and early life has a protective effect on allergic disease in children.<sup>86</sup> These effects could derive from the high intake of non-digestible dietary carbohydrates (NDC), the beneficial fatty acid profile that is rich in omega-3, the high levels of polyphenols and other antioxidants.<sup>87</sup> Non-digestible dietary carbohydrates represent the primary nutrient source for the gut bacteria and their fermentation leads to the production of short chain fatty acids (SCFA).<sup>88</sup> It has been demonstrated that reduced availability of NDC lowered the concentration of fiber-degrading bacteria and increased mucin degrading bacteria.<sup>89</sup> De Filippis et al. observed a significant association between degree of adherence to the MD and increased levels of SCFAs, *Prevotella* bacteria, and other *Firmicutes.*<sup>90</sup>

The immunomodulatory mechanisms stimulated by SCFAs represent one of the strongest connections between diet, gut microbiota, and allergic diseases.<sup>91</sup> SCFAs are 2-carbon to 5-carbon weak acids, including acetate, propionate, butyrate and valerate.<sup>92</sup> SCFAs-producing bacteria represent a functional group, including *Bacteroidetes* phylum that are good producers of acetate and propionate, whereas *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, which belongs to the *Clostridium leptum* cluster (or clostridial cluster IV), and *Eubacterium rectale/Roseburia spp.*, which belong to the *Clostridium coccoides* cluster (or clostridial cluster XIVa) of Firmicutes bacteria are efficient butyrate producers.<sup>93</sup> SCFAs are major energy source for colonocytes and influence gene expression necessary for the expression of epithelial barrier-forming molecules and mucin production defense functions and regulation of immune cells, such as macrophages, neutrophils, DCs, T and B-cells.<sup>94,95,96,97,98,99,100</sup> They are absorbed by colonocytes and other cells via transporters (SLC16a1 and SLC5a8), via simple diffusion or through G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), such as GPR43, GPR41, GPR109A and Olfr78.<sup>101,102,103,104</sup> GPR43 and GPR41 are highly expressed by intestinal epithelial cells.<sup>105</sup> Neutrophils, macrophages and DCs, express GPR43 and GPR109A, but T- and B-cells do not express these SCFA receptors.<sup>101,102,106,107,108</sup>

Among SCFAs, butyrate exerts a pivotal role in immune tolerance induction. It is able to regulate DCs, reducing pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines production and enhancing retinoic acid (RA) expression and subsequent generation of RA-regulated tolerogenic DCs.<sup>109</sup> It has been found that SCFA individually or in combination (SCFA mix) are able to increase colonic Treg frequency and number and that this effect coincides with increased luminal SCFA. Furthermore, SCFA are able to increase also CD4+ T cell frequency and number but did not alter colonic Th1 or Th17 cell numbers.<sup>110</sup> In vitro treatment of colonic Tregs from germ free mice with propionate significantly increased FoxP3 and IL-10 expression, a key cytokine in Treg-mediated suppression suggesting that SCFA specifically induce FoxP3+ IL-10-producing Tregs.<sup>110</sup> In a mouse model, it has been

inhibitory and enhance acetylation of the Foxp3 locus, induced a decrease of proinflammatory cytokine expression within DCs to stimulate colonic Tregs.<sup>111</sup> The mechanisms are multiple and involve a strong epigenetic regulation of gene expression through the inhibition of histone deacetylase (HDAC). Butyrate promoting B-cell differentiation and increasing IgA and IgG production through their HDAC inhibitory activity.<sup>112</sup> It has been demonstrated that butyrate suppresses CD4+ T-cell proliferation and increase colonic FoxP3+ Tregs, potentially through their HDAC inhibitor activity.<sup>110,111,113</sup> The inhibition of HDAC 9 and 6 increases FoxP3 gene expression, as well as the production and suppressive function of Tregs.<sup>114</sup> Butyrate deficiency has been observed in allergic patients.<sup>115</sup> Bacteria-produced SCFAs have been implicated in the regulation of both the proportions and functional capabilities of Tregs, which, in some studies, has been specifically attributed to butyrate production by spore-forming *Clostridiales*. It has been observed an enrichment of taxa from the Clostridia class and Firmicutes phylum in human subjects with faster CMA resolution.<sup>115</sup> Altogether these evidences suggest the potential of a "post-biotic" approach, based on the use of butyrate against FA. In this light, data from our laboratory showed that oral butyrate induces a dramatic inhibition of acute allergic skin response, anaphylactic symptom score, body temperature decrease, intestinal permeability increase, anti-ß lactoglobulin (BLG) IgE, IL-4 and IL-10 production in a murine model of CMA, suggesting a protective role of butyrate against FA.<sup>116</sup> We evaluated the direct effects of butyrate on peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from children affected by challenge-proven IgE-mediated CMA. PBMCs were stimulated with BLG in the presence or absence of butyrate. Preliminary results showed that butyrate stimulates IL-10 and IFN-y production and decreases DNA methylation rate of these two cytokines. Same effective butyrate dose induces FoxP3 promoter region demethylation and HDAC6/HDAC9 expression down-regulation.<sup>116,117</sup> Additional potential mechanisms by which diet could exert pro-tolerogenic effects in the gut are related to the production of immunoregulatory metabolites, which interact with the host immune cells to promote non-responsiveness to innocuous luminal antigens.<sup>118</sup> Tryptophan is essential amino acid which cannot be synthesized independently

by humans, thus, need to be ingested with the diet. A part of tryptophan is utilized to synthesize protein, the other portion is catabolized to produce variety bioactive compounds, such as kynurenine, serotonin, melatonin. Tryptophan absorbed by intestinal epithelial cells directly activates the mTOR pathway by intracellular tryptophan receptors through a PI3K/AKTindependent mechanism. <sup>119,120</sup> As we known, mTOR plays an important role in connecting metabolism and immune system. During an inflammatory process, tryptophan is metabolized through the kynurenine (Kyn) pathway. Kyn is an active metabolite and its biological activity is mediated by aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR).<sup>121</sup> The bond of Kyn to AhR receptor;<sup>122</sup> lead to the inhibition of dendritic cells (DCs) maturation;<sup>123</sup> and the proliferation of Th17 cells and Treg, increasing IL-22 and IL-10 production. <sup>124,125</sup> Indole, indole 3-propionic acid (IPA) and indole-3aldehyde (I3A) are produced by catabolism of tryptophan through intestinal commensal bacteria. A study demonstrated that *Peptostreptococcus anaerobius* CC14N and three strains of Clostridium cadaveris utilizing tryptophan to produce IPA. Another study suggested that IPA could promote the intestinal barrier function via PXR and TLR4 pathway. Tryptophan can be also catabolized by lactobacilli to I3A. This metabolite protects gut mucosa against inflammation through AhR recognition.<sup>126</sup> It has been demonstrated that indole-3-carbinole (I3C), an AhR ligand, was able to boost oral tolerance in ovalbumin (OVA)-sensitized mouse model. Mice fed I3C showed lower titers of anti-OVA IgG1 antibodies and higher.<sup>127</sup>

#### 1.4 The Gut Microbiome: investigating the metagenomic and metabolomics features

The human body is characterized by the presence of 10-100 trillion of symbiotic microbial cells and the term 'microbiota' refers to a collection of all taxa constituting microbial communities, most of them located in the human gut.<sup>128</sup> Similarly, the term microbiome is used to indicate the whole community of living microorganisms living in a specific matrix along with its potential genome activities that might influence the metabolic capabilities and functioning of such micro-

environment. It was estimated that the genes of our microbiome outnumber 100 times the number of the genes represented in our genomes. <sup>129,130</sup> In particular, each individual has a unique and a specific gut microbial composition as a peculiar fingerprint and it has been agreed that the development of several types of diseases in humans might be linked to gut microbiome perturbation, such condition known as dysbiosis. In fact, the gut microbiota is in symbiosis with the human host, a mutual association established due to a long story of coevolution and the homeostasis of such strictly anaerobic ecosystem is necessary for the maintenance of human health.<sup>131</sup> Overall, the human microbiome is recognized as our second genome and the understanding of its composition and modulation could be used as therapeutic target for personalized microbiomedirected interventions in order to prevent the onset of human diseases. In particular, the gut microbiota is made of hundreds of species and while its composition could vary in the early stages of life, it has been observed an overall microbial stability during adulthood.<sup>132</sup> The composition of GM may slightly chande based on endogenous and exogenous factors. Among others, antibiotics, diet and/or food supplements as well as pathological conditions are able to provisionally modulate the microbial structure. Therefore, the resilience, or rather the gut ability to resist to perturbations depends on the responsive capabilities of the core taxa. Such condition plays a role in maintaining gut homeostasis, its normal composition and functioning, affecting in turn the microbiota-host interaction.<sup>133</sup> It was demonstrated that under the influence of diet, drugs and other factors in a given individual it was possible to observe shifts and movements of GM composition through the space of these three configurations, even though each enterotype had a specific ecological stability and a lower propensity to switch to another one.<sup>134</sup> However, this paradigm was overtaken since among individuals considerable variations in GM composition were described.<sup>135,136</sup> Despite being core taxa contributing to enterotype clustering, it has been shown a large variance in terms of relative abundances.<sup>135</sup> Morevover, species- and strain-level variations were neglected and several studies highlithted the important contribution of such taxa to functional differences between individuals in clinical contexts.<sup>137,138</sup> In addition, recent meta-analyses made progress in

understanding the strain-level diversity within the human gut microbiome and gene-level variation across strains was found to be related to gut microbiome diversity in human health and disease.<sup>139,140,141</sup> Despite less prevalent species in wellstudied populations are newly identified, the bacterial diversity remains uncultured and the complete bacterial and functional repertoire of the human gut microbiome remains still to be undefined.<sup>139</sup> However, the identification of the complex gut ecosystem may help us understanding human health and disease status.

The knowledge and awareness of the role the gut microbiota and metabolites in the balance between health and disease is rapidly increasing. This is mainly due to the advance in technology and the availability we currently have of high sensitivity means to study microbial communities in any type of ecosystem. It is important for the clinicians and researchers dedicated to the FA field to know potential and limits of these technologies to better understand the value and significance of the findings reported in literature. Thanks to the power of genome DNA sequencing, we have learned much about the composition of gut microbial communities. In addition, the potential of transcriptomics, proteomics and metabolomics are enlarging our understanding of the gut microbiota role in human health. Until the 1990s, knowledge of the gut microbiota was limited because the only technique used to study and characterize the composition of gut microbiota was bacteriological culture. Since the 1990s, there were advances in culture-independent techniques. These new techniques are fast, facilitate high throughput, identify organisms that are uncultured to date and enable enumeration of organisms present in the gut microbiota. In the last decade, the composition of the gut microbiota was described by next generation sequencing of 16S ribosomal RNA genes. Lately, it is widening the amount of information that can be retrieved by studying metagenomes from human samples, with the capability to infer the abundance of genes and potential metabolic pathways that characterize a microbial community. It is possible to describe the taxonomic composition of the microbiota and also to study the potential functions in a given system. Such methodological background is fundamental to investigate associations between

microbiota structure and health as well as other environmental factors <sup>136</sup> and also to observe the changes of the gut microbiota in response to disease or perturbations in diet or lifestyle. An advanced technique to investigate gut microbiota at deep level is shotgun sequencing that represents a massive parallel sequencing of the whole genome. This is done by massive parallel sequencing of the mixed DNA sample. Shotgun sequencing involves random fragmentation of DNA, sequencing of DNA fragments and reconstruction of overlapping sequences to assemble them into a continuous sequence.<sup>142</sup> Metabolomics represents one of the meta-omic approach to study gut microbiota function. Metabolomics uses high throughput techniques to characterize and quantify small molecules in several biological samples such as feces, urine, plasma, serum, saliva.<sup>143</sup> The use of metabolomics is considered a powerful top-down systems biology approach, and it is essential to reveal the genetic-environment-health relationship, as well as the clinical biomarkers of diseases.<sup>144</sup> Currently, the rapid development of several analytical platform, including Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS), liquid chromatography (LC), high pressure LC (HPLC), ultra pressure LC (UPLC), Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR), ion cyclotrone resonance-FT (ICR-FT), capillary electrophoresis (CE) coupled to mass spectrometry (MS), and nuclear and proton nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR-1H-NMR), allowed to separate, detect, characterize and quantify metabolites and their metabolic pathways.<sup>145</sup> (Table 2) What is needed is a transition from descriptive research to understanding the ways the microbiome interacts with the host and plays a role in health and disease. In this frame, controlled clinical interventions are of utmost importance to establish microbiota causative involvement and are the basis to implement approaches of personalized medicine. <sup>130,146</sup> The study of the relationship between microbiota and FA may start from association and be translated to causation and clinical practice with appropriate advances in knowledge. An initial wide screening of microbial diversity in gut microbiota of patients with a sure diagnosis of FA, including a well-matched control population, may identify useful signatures in the microbiota that are specific for certain types of FA.<sup>147,38</sup> If the wide screening included cohorts of patients with different dietary style or ethnicity, the common

microbial signatures would be even stronger and provide a solid indication of the microbial biomarkers of FA. A further mapping of the genomic features associated to FA maybe inferred by metagenomics and metabolomics, which may inform on the functional microbial signatures that can be recognized in FA patients. Biomarkers strains or defined microbial systems may be tested in gnotobiotic or humanized animal models to observe the development of the disease, and beneficial vs detrimental microbial metabolites can be recognized and used as final target of microbiome-targeted personalized interventions. The identification of bacterial metabolites, that affect positively the immune tolerance network, may be an interesting strategy against FA using a post-biotic approach.

#### 1.5 The role of breastfeeding in food allergy

Breastfeeding has important health benefits for infants and represents the gold standard of nutrition for infants. <sup>148</sup> However, the role of human milk (HM) in the primary prevention of FA <sup>149</sup> are still undefined. One birth cohort from Taiwan reported exclusive or partial breastfeeding for 6 months was associated with reduced milk sensitization at ages 1 and 1.5 years compared with formula feeding. <sup>150</sup> An influence of breast milk on the development of disease in offspring may also be explained by the composition of breast milk. Mothers' diet during lactation can alter the composition of breast milk, which might have an impact on allergic outcomes. A small cohort study (FARMFLORA) in Sweden showed mothers consuming more margarine, margarine and oils and low-fat milk during pregnancy and were more likely to have pediatrician-confirmed allergic children. <sup>151</sup> (HM is a complex living nutritional fluid that contains antibodies, enzymes, and hormones, all of which have health benefits. <sup>152</sup> It has been demonstrated a pivotal role of breast-milk antibodies for the development immature immune system of a newborn. <sup>153</sup> Breast-milk antibodies that transfer in the newborn's gut can help to determine the composition of microbes that colonize the intestine, and thereby prevent excessive immune responses to non-pathogenic

microbes. <sup>153</sup> Yet despite this maternally provided immune protection, an infant still faces an extremely sensitive period in early life when the progressive microbial colonization of internal and external body surfaces occurs concurrently with the development and maturation of the immune system. <sup>154</sup> In addition to passive immunity (from bioactive components such as secretory IgA and IgG), human milk also contains factors that actively stimulate the infant immune system. <sup>155</sup> Accumulated data suggests that a wide range of bioactive factors: such as proteins, polyunsaturated fatty acids, oligosaccharides, microbial content, metabolites, lipids and micronutrients present in HM can influence the infant's gut immune maturation. <sup>156</sup> Milk lipids is the main source to supply energy for newborns such that it comprises ~50% of the energy that they need. <sup>157</sup> Milk lipids provide essential nutrients, which are needed, as structural elements, for all cell membranes and, as integral constituents of neural tissues, for rapidly growing infants. <sup>158, 159</sup> Among fatty acids, human milk has been examined as a potential source of the major SCFAs butyrate for neonates, with a different content of SCFAs than infant formula. <sup>160</sup> However, butyrate levels in HM are not well established.

#### 1.6 Epigenetics regulation of food allergy

Epigenetic modifications are biochemical changes of the chromatin, in other words, DNA or histones, that are functionally relevant, but do not affect the nucleotide sequence of the genome. DNA methylation, a covalent addition of a methyl group, occurs at the cytosine nucleotide belonging to CpG dinucleotide (called 'CpG site'), which is a DNA sequence where a cytosine nucleotide (C) is directly followed by a guanine nucleotide (G). CpG sites frequently cluster to form 'CpG islands', typically located in the elements of a gene regulatory element with impact on its transcription, for example, promoters or enhancers. <sup>161,162</sup> High DNA methylation levels in the CpG island of a promoter are usually associated with lower gene expression up to full gene silencing. The reaction of DNA methylation is catalyzed by DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs), including

DNMT1 and DNMT3A and DNMT3B. <sup>163,164,165,166</sup> The best-characterized post-translational histone modifications include phosphorylation, ubiquitination, acetylation and methylation, the last two of which are the most extensively studied. <sup>167,168</sup> Histone acetylation occurs at the lysine residues and it is catalyzed by histone acetyltransferases, while the opposite reaction by histone deacetylases (HDACs). Histone acetylation independent of the position of the lysine amino acid generally correlates with potentially active genes or gene regulatory elements. <sup>169,170</sup>

DNA methylation and histone modifications mutually interact. <sup>171</sup> MicroRNAs (miRNAs) represent post-transcriptional control elements, important epigenetic regulators of gene expression. <sup>172, 173</sup> These approximately 22-nt noncoding RNA molecules are highly abundant, with more than 2500 mature miRNA molecules characterized in humans. To exert its function, mature miRNAs become incorporated into the RNA-induced silencing complex. The RNA-induced silencing complex is in turn guided by miRNAs to specifically target mRNAs. This leads to the cleavage or degradation of the bound mRNA molecule or suppression of its translation by reducing the speed of the ribosomal machinery. <sup>172,173, 174,175,176,177</sup>

Considering their biological importance, miRNAs have been involved in multiple human pathologies. <sup>174</sup> These include also allergic diseases, in which the role of miRNAs has been rather extensively studied. <sup>178,179,180,181,182</sup> It is also worth mentioning that the mechanism of RNA-mediated silencing of gene expression has been utilized in biomedical research as a powerful laboratory tool <sup>183</sup> and in therapeutic applications as one of the possible antisense approaches. <sup>184</sup> Connections between miRNAs and DNA methylation/histone modifications have also been described. <sup>172,174, 185,186,187</sup> Several studies provide direct evidence linking epigenetics and FA.<sup>188,189,190,191,192,193</sup>

Martino et al. investigated whether variation in DNA methylation underscores the suboptimal neonatal CD4+ T-cell gene expression associated with the development of FA <sup>194</sup> including impaired T-cell expansion and reduced IFN-  $\gamma$  production. <sup>195,196,197,194</sup> In a follow-up study, it was

examined the genome-wide DNA methylation profiles in CD4+ T-cells from 12 children with FA and from 12 non-allergic controls at birth and again at 12 months. The authors found that the dysregulation of DNA methylation at MAPK signaling-associated genes during early CD4+ T-cell development may contribute to T lymphocyte responses in early childhood associated with the development of FA.<sup>194</sup> Further linking epigenetics and FA, the first genome-wide association study (GWAS) of FA in 2759 US participants revealed the important role of differential DNA methylation in mediating identified genetic risk factors for peanut allergies.<sup>198</sup> Syed et al demonstrated that subjects who acquired immune tolerance to peanuts after 3 months of immunotherapy had higher numbers of Tregs with higher levels of FoxP3 demethylation, compared to non-tolerant and healthy subjects. <sup>199</sup> Recent study demonstrated that naive CD4+T cells from children with FA exhibit an intrinsic molecular defect during the early state of priming and depressed capacity for proliferation, which is related to epigenetic changes in metabolic (RPTOR, PIK3D, MAPK1, FOXO1) and immunological genes (IL1R, IL18RAP, CD82). Furthermore, the authors found that children who fail to resolve FA in later childhood exhibit cumulative increases in epigenetic disruption at T cell activation genes and a decrease of CD4+ T cells proliferative responses compared to children who resolved FA.<sup>200</sup> Preliminary cross-sectional studies have suggested that Th1/Th2 cytokine genes DNA methylation pattern and selected miRNAs expression change significantly during CMA disease course. <sup>191,192, 193</sup> In particular, we demonstrated a potential role of miR-193a-5p in regulation of Th2 response in children with IgE-mediated CMA.<sup>193</sup> Different demethylation rates in Treg-specific-demethylation region (TSDR) of FoxP3 have been also demonstrated comparing CMA children with active disease with those with recent evidence of immune tolerance acquisition. <sup>192</sup> Dietary factors exert a pivotal role in the regulation of epigenetic mechanisms.<sup>22</sup> Previous observations suggest that formula choice for CMA treatment could influence these mechanisms. Specifically, we observed a significant difference in DNA demethylation rate in TSDR of FoxP3, and in the promoter region of T helper (Th)1/Th2 cytokine genes in children who acquired immune tolerance after treatment with extensively hydrolyzed

casein formula containing the probiotic Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG (EHCF+LGG) compared to subjects who received other formulas. <sup>191,192,193</sup>

The study of epigenetics in FA is a promising avenue that may lead to a better understanding of the mechanisms underlying FA etiology. It has been shown that both genetics and environmental factors can alter epigenetic profile. <sup>201,202</sup>Thus, epigenetics may be the missing piece to understanding environmental–genetic interactions and FA risk.

In the first year of PhD, I studied the potential protective role of human milk against FA. We identified a compound butyrate that could regulate a wind range of immune and non immune mechanism, preveting FA.

In the second and in the third year of PhD, I focused on the characterization of GM composition and function of FA children to identify a possible target of intervention for this condition.

### 2. Aims

#### Aim #1

The aim of our study was to evaluate butyrate concentrations in HM and to see whether these butyrate concentrations can exert protective actions against FA, exploring several immune and non-immune tolerogenic mechanisms in different experimental models:

- 1. CD4+ T cells from healthy controls and children with IgE-mediated FA
- 2. human enterocytes cell lines, HT-29 and Caco-2
- 3. mouse model of FA

#### Aims #2

The primary aim was the comparative evaluation of gut microbiome features in children affected by IgE-mediated allergies and in healthy controls.

The secondary aims were:

- the comparative evaluation of gut microbiome features in children affected by IgE-mediated FA or respiratory allergies and in healthy controls;

- the comparative evaluation of gut microbiome features in children affected by IgE-mediated food allergies induced by different food allergens;

- the evaluation of the influence elicited by gut microbiome on immune tolerance acquisition timing in IgE-mediated FA children.

#### 3. Methods

#### **1# Methods**

#### 1.1 Donors and collection of human milk samples

Mothers who participated in the study were enrolled after full-term, singleton births, with all mothers intending to breastfeed infants for at least 75% of feedings for 3 months from the Villa Betania Evangelic Hospital (Naples, Italy) in accordance with the Research Ethics Committee of the University of Naples "Federico II". All donors were healthy, aged 21-42 years and HM samples were donated at 3 days (colostrum) and during the first 5 months post-partum. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants. HM samples were collected by either manual or electric breast pump expression into 2 mL a sterile milk tubes. Samples were immediately frozen and then stored at -80°C. For each enrolled subject, anamnestic, demographic, clinical and laboratory data were recorded in a data collection sheet. 3-days dietary diary before the collection of HM samples was obtained. The sampling procedures applied ensured that breastfeeding had been well established and that the baby was thriving.

#### 1.2 Determination of butyrate concentration in human milk samples

Butyrate extraction from HM was performed as previously described (*Clinica Chimica Acta, 78* (1977) 243-250 Pretreatment methods prior to gaschromatographic analysis of volatile fatty acids from faecal samples J.B. Zijlstra, J.Beukema, B.G.Wolthers, B.M.Byrne, A.Groen, J.D.Anker). 0.5 ml of HM were acidified with 20 µl of 85% (w/v) ortophosphoric acid and 0.5 ml of ethyl acetate, mixed, centrifuged (12,000 x g) for 1 h and extracted in duplicate. About 0.5 ml of extract containing 3mmol/L of 2-ethylbutyric acid (internal standard) was transferred into a 2 ml glass vial and loaded onto an Agilent Technologies (Santa Clara, CA, USA) 7890 gas chromatograph (GC) system with automatic loader/injector. The GC column was an Agilent J&W DB-FFAP (Agilent

Technologies) of 30 m, internal diameter 0.25 mm and film thickness 0.25 µm. The GC was programmed to achieve the following run parameters: initial temperature 90°C, hold 0.5 min, ramp of 20°C min–1 up to a final temperature of 190°C, total run time 8.0 min, gas flow 7.7 ml min–1 split less to maintain 3.26 p.s.i. column head pressure, septum purge 2.0 ml min–1. Detection was achieved using a flame ionization detector. Peaks were identified using a mixed external standard and quantified by peak height/internal standard ratio.

# **1.3 DNA and RNA extraction from CD4+ T-cells isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells**

Two healthy children (Caucasian male, age 24 months with negative clinical history for any allergic conditions and not at risk for atopic disorders), referred to the Pediatric Department of the University of Naples "Federico II" because of minimal surgical procedure, and six children with challenge-proven FA (2 cow's milk allergy, 2 peanut allergy, 2 egg allergy; all Caucasian male, age 24 months) were recruited. Patients and control subjects donated a venous blood samples in heparin tubes (8 ml), after written informed consents. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated using the Ficoll-Paque (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) method, as described previously. <sup>192</sup> CD4+ T-cells were obtained by negative selection using the CD4+ T-Cell Isolation Kit II (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). Non-target cells were labeled with a cocktail of biotin-conjugated monoclonal antibodies (MicroBead Cocktail, Miltenvic Biotec) and the magnetically labeled non-target T cells were retaining on a column in the magnetic field of a separator (Miltenyi Biotec). This protocol produces >95% pure CD4+ T cells, as tested by fluorescence-activated cell sorting analysis. Cells were resuspended at 2x106 cells/ml in RPMI-1640 cultur medium (Gibco) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, penicillin/streptomycin (1%) (Lonza), L-glutamine (1%), sodium pyruvate (1%) (Lonza) and NEAA (1%) (Lonza). Cells were cultured at 37°C in complete medium at concentrations of 2x106 cells/ml in 24-well plate

(Nunc, Roskilde, Denmark). CD4+ T-cells obtained were processed for DNA and RNA extraction. All experiments were performed in triplicate and repeated twice.

#### 1.4 Measurement of IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, IL-10, and IFN-γ culture media concentration

CD4+ T cells were stimulated with beta-lactoglobulin (BLG;100µg/ml), peanut extract (PN;100µg/ml) or ovalbumin (OVA;100µg/ml) in the presence or absence sodium butyrate (Sigma-Aldrich, Darmstadt, Germany) at dose of 0.75mM for 24h. After stimulation, the supernatants were collected and the cells were washed and harvested for total DNA and RNA isolation. The concentrations of IL-4 and IL-10 were measured in supernatants with a Human IL4/IL10 Enzyme immunoassay kit (Boster Biological Technology, Ltd., Fremont, CA, USA) according to the type of stimulation and stimulant. Human IL-5, IL-13 and IFN- $\gamma$  ELISA, High Sensitivity (BioVendor, Brno, Czech Republic) were used to detect the IL-5, IL-13 and IFN- $\gamma$  concentrations. Absorbance was read at 450 nm. The minimum detection concentrations were 15.6 pg/ml for IL-4, 7.8 pg/ml for IL-5, and IL-10, 1.6 pg/ml for IL-13, and 0.78 pg/ml for IFN- $\gamma$ .

#### **1.5 DNA methylation analysis**

One microgram of DNA, extracted from CD4+T cells, was modified with sodium bisulfite to convert all unmethylated, but not methylated-cytosines to uracil. Bisulfite conversion was carried out using the EZ DNA Methylation Gold Kit (ZYMO Research Co., Orange, CA, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The converted DNA was stored at -20°C until used. Fully methylated and fully unmethylated DNA (Merck Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany) were used as controls for the optimization of the assay conditions and to calculate the percent of methylation (0% to 100%). The primers used for DNA methylation analysis of IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, IL-10, IFN-gamma

and FoxP3 TSDR are reported elsewhere. <sup>191,192</sup> High-resolution melting real-time PCR for methylation analysis was performed as described previously. <sup>191,192</sup>

The results of methylation analysis were verified by direct sequencing (using the Sanger method modified as follows: ddNTPs labeled with four different fluorophores) and analyzed by capillary electrophoresis (the analytical specificity and sensitivity of the test was >99 %). Real-time PCR was performed with the LightCycler® 480 instrument (Roche Applied Science, Penzberg, Germany) using 96-well plates (Roche Applied Science).

#### 1.6 Human enterocytes cell line

Human enterocytes cell line Caco-2 and HT-29 were used (American Type Culture Collection, Teddington, Middlesex TW11 0LY, UK). Caco-2 cells were grown to confluence in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; Gibco, Berlin, Germany) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (Lonza, Visp, Switzerland), 1% L-glutamine (Lonza), 1% nonessential amino acids, and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Lonza). HT-29 cells were grown to confluence in RPMI medium 1640 (Gibco, Berlin, Germany) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (Lonza, Visp, Switzerland) 1% L-glutamine (Lonza) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Lonza). Cells were cultured at 37°C in a water-saturated atmosphere consisting of 95% air and 5% CO2, and the medium was changed every 2 days. All experiments were performed in triplicate and repeated twice.

#### 1.7 Immune and non-immune biomarkers analysis on human enterocytes

At full confluence (15 days), when a human enterocytes monolayer was obtained from Caco-2 and HT-29 in six-well plates (Falcon, Heidelberg, Germany), cells were stimulated for 48h with or without sodium butyrate at different doses (0.1; 0.5; 0.75; 1; 2 mM). Afterward, the supernatants were harvested and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C for further use. Cells were used for RNA extraction to perform

real-time PCR experiments. The concentration of  $\beta$ -defensin 3 (HBD-3) in the supernatants was measured using a commercially available ELISA kit specific for human HBD-3 (MyBioSource, San Diego, CA, USA) with a detection limit of 11.3 pg/ml. The ELISA was conducted according to the manufacturer's recommendations. For ZO-1, Occludin, Muc2 and Muc5AC and FoxP3 expression analysis, total cellular RNA was extracted from cells with TRIzol reagent (Gibco BRL, Paisley, Scotland). RNA (1 µg) was reverse transcribed at 37°C in cDNA with a High-Capacity RNA-to-cDNA<sup>™</sup> Kit (Life Technologies, Waltham, MA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Complementary DNA (cDNA) was stored at -20°C until use. Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) analysis was performed with the TaqMan miRNA assay kit and the TaqMan gene expression assay kit, respectively (both from Applied Biosystems, Grand Island, NY, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Samples were run in duplicate at 95°C for 15 seconds and 60°C for 1 minute using an ABI Prism 7900 HT Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems). After a hot start, the amplification protocol was 40 cycles of 30 sec of denaturation at 95°C, 30 sec of annealing at 60°C, and 1 min of elongation at 72°C. Data analysis was performed with the comparative threshold cycle (CT) method. We used the GAPDH gene to normalize the level of mRNA expression.

For measurement of the mucus thickness, human enterocytes cell lines were seeded onto polycarbonate membranes (0.4 µm pore size) from TranswellTM (Corning Inc., New York, US) at 37°C in an atmosphere with 95% humidity and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. At full confluence (14 days), the cells were stimulated for 24, 48 and 72 h with or without butyrate. A pair of membranes cultured under the same conditions were embedded immediately in an optimal cutting temperature compound (BioOptica, Milan, Italy) to avoid mucus damage during processing. Five-micrometre frozen sections of each sample were cut, and after rinsing in 3% acetic acid (Merck, Germany), the cells were stained with 1% Alcian Blue (Merck, Germany) and oxidized in 1% periodic acid (Merck, Germany). Finally, sections were counterstained with Mayer's haematoxylin and mounted with

Aquamount (BDH, Poole, UK). Measurement of the mucus thickness was performed in the middle of the membrane using the ruler tool provided by the Zeiss Axio Observer/ApoTome.

#### **1.8 HDAC activity assay**

To assess HDAC activity, HT-29 cells were treated with 10 nmol/L trichostatin A (TSA, Sigma-Aldrich) and with butyrate (0.1; 0.5; 0.75; 1; 2 mM) for 48 hours. HT-29 cells nuclear extracts (3x107 cells/well in 10 mL of culture medium) were prepared by using the Nuclei EZ Prep kit (Sigma-Aldrich) and quantified by with the Micro BCA Protein Assay Kit. HDAC activity was measured with the EpiQuik HDAC Activity/Inhibition Assay Kit (Epigentek, Farmingdale, NY), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

#### 1.9 Food allergy animal model

For all experiments three week-old female C3H/HeJ mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Calco, Lecco, Italy). Mice were housed in the animal facility under a 12L:12D lighting cycle, 20-24°C range of ambient temperature and 40-70% of relative humidity. The mice were acclimated to their environment for 1 week before experiments. Each experiment was littermate controlled and mice were cohoused throughout manipulations. All procedures involving the animals were carried out in accordance with the Institutional Guidelines and complied with the Italian D.L. no.116 of January 27, 1992 of the Italian Ministry of Health and associated guidelines in the European Communities Council Directive of November 24, 1986 (86/609/ECC) and they were approved by the Institutional Committee on the Ethics of Animal Experiments (CSV) of the University of Naples "Federico II" and by the Ministero della Salute (protocol no.2012-0024683).

#### 1.10 Food allergen sensitization and challenge

The experimental design is reported in Figure 3. Briefly, two weeks prior to sensitization, mice were given 30 mg/kg/day of butyrate by oral gavage and continued during the whole study. The control animal received only PBS. After 14 days, mice were sensitized orally using a blunt needle on day 0, 7, 14, 21, 28 with 20 mg of  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin (BLG) (Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) or 1 mg of ovalbumin (OVA) (Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) or 12 mg of peanut extract (kindly provided by Prof. Nagler) mixed with 10 µg cholera toxin (CT) as adjuvant. The control mice receive CT only.

One week after the final sensitization, two doses of 50 mg BLG or 5 mg OVA or 36 mg PN each were administered via intragastric gavage 30 minutes apart. Core body temperature was measured prior to allergen challenge and every 5 minutes after the first challenge until at least 30 minutes after the second challenge using a rectal probe (Mitutoyo, Lainate, Italy). Anaphylaxis symptoms were scored by an investigator blind to the study group assignment 1 hour after oral challenge, as previously described *[National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine. Finding a path to safety in food allergy: assessment of global burden, causes, prevention, management, and public policy (2016). Washington (DC) National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine.]*: 0 = no symptom; 1 = scratching and rubbing around the nose and head; 2 = reduced activity; 3 = activity after prodding and puffiness around the eyes and mouth; 4 = no activity after prodding, labored respiration, and cyanosis around the mouth and the tail; and 5 = death. Serum was collected 1 hour after the second challenge to measure mMCP-1 levels. Spleen and serum were collected 24 hours after challenge for splenocyte culture and antibody measurements.

#### 1.11 ELISAs

mMCP-1 was quantified in serum collected 1 hour after challenge according to the manufacturer's protocol (eBioscience). BLG/PN-specific ELISAs were performed using protocols modified from ref X. Briefly, plates were coated overnight at 4°C with 100µg/mL BLG/PN in 100mM carbonatebicarbonate buffer (pH 9.6). Plates were blocked for 2 hours at room temperature with 3% BSA. Samples were added in 1% BSA and incubated overnight at 4°C. Assays were standardized with BLG/PN-specific antibodies (IgE) purified from mice immunized with BLG+alum or PN+alum on a CNBr-Sepharose affinity column(X). Secondary antibody (biotin-anti-IgE, BD Pharmingen) was added at a 1:500 dilution overnight at 4°C. On the third day, the plate was incubated with streptavidin-HRP (ThermoFisher) for 1 hour at room temperature and developed with TMB (Sigma) and 15 min were allowed for the development of colorimetric reactions. Absorbance were read at a wavelength of 450 nm in a microplate reader. OVA-specific IgE were measured using commercially ELISA kit (eBioscience).

#### 1.12 Spleen culture and cytokine measurement

Single-cell suspensions were prepared from spleens harvested 24 h after challenge. Cells were plated at 2×105cells per well with media alone, 1 µg/mL anti-CD3 (clone 2C11), or 200 µg/mL BLG/OVA/PN and incubated at 37 °C for 72 h. After 72 h, plates were frozen at -20 °C. IL-4, IL-13, IL-10, and INF- $\gamma$  concentrations in supernatants were measured using commercially ELISA kit (eBioscience).

#### 1.13 Preparation of isolated mitochondria and polarographic measurement of respiration

After removal, the livers were finely minced and washed in a medium containing 220 mMmannitol, 70 mM sucrose, 20 mM -N'-(2-hydroxyethyl) piperazine-N-2-ethanesulfonic acid
(HEPES) (pH 7.4), 1 mM-EDTA, and 0-1 % (w/v) fatty-acid-free bovine serum albumin (BSA). Tissue fragments were homogenised with the above medium (1:4, w/v) in a Potter Elvehjem homogeniser (Heidolph, Kelheim, Germany) set at 500 rpm (4 strokes/min). The homogenate was centrifuged at 1000 gav for 10 min and the resulting supernatant fraction was again centrifuged at 3000 gav for 10 min. The mitochondrial pellet was washed twice and finally re-suspended in a medium containing 80 mM-KCl, 50 mM-HEPES (pH 7.0), 5 mM KH2PO4, and 0.1% (w/v) fattyacid-free BSA. The protein content of the mitochondrial suspension was determined by the method of Hartree (1972) using BSA as the protein standard. Isolated mitochondria were then used for the determination of respiratory parameters. Mitochondrial O2 consumption was estimated by a Clark type electrode (Yellow Springs Instruments, Yellow Springs, OH, USA), maintained in a waterjacketed chamber at 30°C. Hepatic mitochondria (0.5 mg protein) were incubated in a medium (3 ml) containing 80 mM KCl, 50 mM HEPES, 1 mM EGTA, 5 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (pH 7.0), and 0.1% (w/v) fatty-acid-free BSA. The substrates used for liver respiration were 10 mM succinate + 3.75 μM-rotenone or 40 μM-palmitoyl-carnitine + 2.5 mM-malate for the determination of fatty acid oxidation rate. State 3 measurements were performed in the presence of 0.6 mM ADP. State 4 respiration was measured in the absence of ADP in isolated mitochondria. The ratio between state 3 and 4, called the respiratory control ratio, was calculated according to Estabrook (1967).

## 1.14 Determination of mitochondrial enzymatic activities and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> release

Total activity of the Carnitine Palmitoyl-CoA Transferase (CPT) was followed spectrophotometrically as CoA-sH production by the use of 5,5'-dithiobis (nitrobenzoic acid) (DTNB) and as substrate palmitoyl CoA. The medium consisted of 50 mM KCl, 10 mM Hepes (pH 7.4), 0.025% Triton X-100, 0.3 mM DTNB, and 10-100 pg of mitochondrial protein in a final volume of 1.0 ml. Two cuvettes were used, both containing the same medium as that used in the mitochondrial samples. In addition, the sample cuvette contained 1 mM L-carnitine. The reaction was started by simultaneous addition of acyl-CoA to both cuvettes, and the change in absorbance difference between the two cuvettes was followed at 412 nm. Enzyme activity was calculated from E412 = 13,600/(M X cm). The temperature was thermostated to 25°C. (Alexson 1988). Mitochondria (40–60 µg) were solubilized in 1% Triton X-100. Aconitase specific activity was measured in a medium containing 30 mmol/l sodium citrate, 0.6 mmol/l MnCl2, 0.2 mmol/l NADP, 50 mmol/l Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, and 2 units isocitrate dehydrogenase, and the formation of NADPH was followed spectrophotometrically (340 nm) at 25°C. (Hausladen, 1996). The rate of mitochondrial H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> release was measured at 30°C following the linear increase in fluorescence (exicitation at 320nm, emission at 400 nm) due to oxidation of homovanillic acid by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in the presence of horseradish peroxidase in a computer controlled Jasco fluorometer equipped with a thermostatically controlled cell-holder. The reaction mixture consisted of 0.4 mg of mitochondrial proteins and succinate (0.6M) added at the end to stat the reaction in the same incubation buffer used for measurements of O<sub>2</sub> consumption. Known concentrations of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> were used to establish the standard concentration curve (Barja, 1998).

#### **1.15 Statistical Analysis**

The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether variables were normally distributed. To evaluate the differences among continuous variables, the independent sample t-test was performed. The level of significance for all statistical tests was 2-sided, p < 0.05. All analyses were conducted by a statistician, using SPSS version 19.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and Graph Pad Prism 5.0.

#### #2 Methods

## 2.1 Ethics

The study was conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration (Fortaleza revision, 2013), the Good Clinical Practice Standards (CPMP/ICH/135/95), the Italian Decree-Law 196/2003 regarding personal data, and the European regulations on this subject. The study protocol, the subject information sheet and the informed consent form were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of our Institution. The study was registered in the Clinical Trials Protocol Registration System at ClinicalTrials.gov with the identifier NCT04750980.

#### 2.2 Study subjects

Children (age range 48-84 months) with a sure diagnosis of IgE-mediated FA and RA, visiting our tertiary Center for Pediatric Allergy (www.allergologiapediatrica.eu), were considered for the study.

The exclusion criteria were: age at enrollment <48 months or >84 months; history of non IgEmediated allergy; eosinophilic disorders of the gastrointestinal tract; chronic systemic diseases; congenital cardiac defects; acute or chronic infections; autoimmune diseases; immunodeficiencies; chronic inflammatory bowel diseases; celiac disease; cystic fibrosis or other forms of primary pancreatic insufficiency; genetic and metabolic diseases; food intolerances; malignancy; chronic pulmonary diseases; malformations of the respiratory tract or of the gastrointestinal tract; pre-, proor sinbiotic use in the previous 3 months; antibiotics or gastric acidity inhibitors use in the previous 3 months.

Written informed consent was obtained from the parents/caregiver of each subject.

During the same study period, consecutive age-matched healthy children, with negative history for any allergic condition and not at risk for allergy, visiting our Department because of minimal surgical procedures or vaccination program were also enrolled. The same exclusion criteria were adopted for this study population.

Anamnestic, demographic, anthropometric and clinical data from each subject were recorded in a dedicated database.

For all study subjects two stool samples (3 g/each) were collected and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until analyses according to the Human Microbiome Project procedures. <sup>203</sup>

All allergic patients were followed at the Center for at least 36 months after the enrollment. In children with FA the possible acquisition of immune tolerance was assessed yearly by the results of skin prick tests, serum specific IgE levels and oral food challenge performed as previously described. <sup>204</sup> Similarly, healthy controls were followed by the physicians involved in the study for the possible occurrence of any allergic conditions for 36 months.

# 2.3 Metagenome sequencing

DNA extraction from faecal samples was carried out following the Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) 07 developed by the International Human Microbiome Standard Consortium (www.Microbiome-standards.org). Briefly, 3 ml of STE Buffer (100mM NaCl, 10mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 1mM EDTA) was added to faecal samples (2g) and then, they were vortexed and centrifuged the samples for 1 minute at 10 000 x g. For each sample, a volume of 600  $\mu$ l of fecal slurry was transferred into 2ml screw cap tubes containing 0.1mm silica balls. 250  $\mu$ l of Guanidine Thiocyanate 4M (protein denaturant) and 500  $\mu$ l of 5% N-Lauroylsarcosin (ionic surfactant) were added. The samples were incubated under stirring (700 rpm) for 1 hour at 70 ° C and then centrifuged for 1 minute at 14 000 x g. The supernatant was transfered to 2 ml eppendorf containing 15 mg of Polyvinylpyrrolidone (polymer used to remove phenolic and faecal contaminants). After vortexing, the samples were centrifuged at 4 ° C for 3 minutes at 15 000 x g and transfered 500  $\mu$ l

of supernatant to new eppendorfs. 8 µl of RNase (final concentration of 10 mg / ml) was added and the samples were incubated under stirring (700 rpm) for 20 minutes at 37 ° C. The DNA was purified using silica membranes (NucleoSpin gDNA Clean-up Kit, Macherey-Nagel<sup>TM</sup> 740230.250, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA), according to the manifacture's protocol. DNA libraries were sequenced on Illumina NovaSeq platform leading to 2x150bp, paired-end reads.

# 2.4 Metagenome analyses

Reads filtering, taxonomic and functional analyses

Human reads were removed using the Human Removal pipeline developed within the Human Microbiome Project by using the Best Match Tagger (BMtagger;

https://hmpdacc.org/hmp/doc/HumanSequenceRemoval\_SOP.pdf). Then non-human reads were quality-filtered using PRINSEQ:<sup>205)</sup> reads with bases having a Phred score < 15 were trimmed and those < 75bp were discarded. Number of reads for each sample is reported in Table S1. High-quality reads were imported in MetaPh1An3 <sup>206</sup> to obtain species-level, quantitative taxonomic profiles. Functional profiling was obtained using HUMAnN3. <sup>207</sup>

# Assembly-free strain level analysis

PanPh1An3 <sup>206</sup> was applied on high-quality reads using default parameters, generating a presence/absence gene-family profiles for the top 11 most abundant species. Jaccard distance between each couple of samples was computed using (dist.binary R function) and Classical Multidimensional Scaling (MDS, cmdscale R function) was carried out on Jaccard distance matrix. Assembly and genome reconstruction from metagenomics reads

. .

High- quality reads were assembled independently using MEGAHIT (ref) and contigs >1,000 bp were used to predict genes by using MetaGeneMark.<sup>208</sup> Predicted genes were aligned (using BlastX;

ref) against Ruminococcus gnavus genes coding for an inflammatory polysaccharide (as reported by Henke et al.  $^{209}$ ). An e-value cutoff of 1e-5 was applied, and a hit was required to display > 90% of identify over at least 50% of the query length. Assembly results are reported in Table S1.

Contigs (< 1,000 bp) were also binned using MetaBat2, and Metagenome Assembled Genomes (MAG) quality was estimated with CheckM (ref). Only MAGs with < 50% completeness and < 5% contamination were retained for further analyses. MAGs bined in this study were clustered to genomic database including 107,442 high-quality MAGs previously reconstructed from human metagenomes 140 and 185,939 isolate genomes downloaded from NCBI RefSeq on May 2020. Pairwise genetic distances between genomes were calculated using Mash (version 2.0; option "-s 10000" for sketching). <sup>210</sup> A Mash distance <5 % from any of the database genomes was considered to place the MAG within the relative Species- level Genome Bin (SGB). RAxML (Statamatakis, 2014) was used to generate species-specific phylogenetic trees, which were visualized in iTOL 5.5.1. <sup>211</sup>

## 2.5 Fecal short-chain fatty acids determination

One gram of feces was diluted with saline buffer, vortexed and centrifuged  $(12,000 \times g)$  for 10 min in 2 ml tubes. The supernatant was filtered (0.45 µm) and stored at -80 °C until analysis. Frozen fecal extracts from -80°C were defrosted at 4°C for 12h, then invert 10 times to mix at RT. 1ml of each sample was acidified with 40µl of H3PO4 85%(w/v), vortexed for 5 min and sonicated for 10 min at 40 KHz immersed in an ice bath (Branson 2800 ultrasonic). 1 mL of ethyl acetate was added, vortexed for 10 min and centrifuged (12000 RPM for 45 min). Finally, it was taken from the supernatant (organic phase, of about 1mL) with a Pasteur pipette and placed in a new glass tube for gas-chromatography mass spectrometry (GC-MS) analysis. The GC column was an Agilent 122-7032ui (DB-WAX-U, Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, California, USA) of 30 m, internal diameter of 0.25 mm, and film thickness of 0.25 µm. The GC was programmed to achieve the following run parameters: initial temperature of 50°C, hold of 1 min, ramp of 10°C min-1 up to a final temperature of 180°C, total run time of 20 min, gas flow of 70 ml min-1 splitless to maintain 12.67 p.s.i. column head pressure, and septum purge of 2.0 ml min-1. Helium was the carrier gas (1.5ml min-1 costant). Parameters of mass spectrometer were: source at 230°C and MS Quad at 150°C. The GraphPad PRISM 5 program was used to determine the concentration in mM. The data were inserted in the "XY" form in which in the "X" frame the values of the straight concentration-response were reported, while in the "Y" box the values of the area under the curve (AUC) related to the peaks obtained from the mass gas were reported. The AUC values of the single samples (obtained from the mass gas) were interpolated with the line X (concentration-response) to determine the corresponding mM.

#### **2.6 Statistical Analyses**

Comparisons of taxa or gene abundance between groups were carried out using pairwise Wilcoxon tests. Statistical significance of pangene prevalence was verified through Fisher's test with multiple-hypothesis testing corrections via the false discovery rate (FDR).

Machine learning-based classification analysis was done using the MetAML package <sup>212</sup> and by consering random forests (RFs) as back-end classifier for all the experiments. Results were through a five-fold cross-validation and averaged on 20 independent runs.

The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether variables were normally distributed. Descriptive statistics were reported as the means and standard deviations for continuous variables, and discrete variables were reported as the number and proportion of subjects with the characteristic of interest. The level of significance for all statistical tests was 2-sided, p<0.05. All data were collected in a dedicated database and analysed by a statistician using SPSS for Windows (SPSS Inc, version 23.0, Chicago, IL).

# 4. Results

# **Results #1**

## 1.1 Butyrate concentration in human milk

100 healthy lactating women were consented to participate in the study and provided HM samples during the first 5 months of lactation. Butyrate concentrations in colostrum and in mature HM are reported in Figure 5. Butyrate concentration resulted significantly higher in mature HM than in colostrum starting from the 0.5 to 0.75 mM in the 2 ° month of lactation, and remain stable until the 5° month of lactation. This result was in line with previous study in which HM has been examined as a potential source of butyrate for neonates. <sup>213</sup> Median butyrate concentration in mature HM was 0.75 mM. This means that a breastfed infant could receive a daily dose of butyrate of about 30 mg/Kg body weight.

## 1.2 Effects of butyrate on CD4+ T cells

To investigate immunological effects of butyrate, we performed time-course and dose response experiments on CD4+T cells from healthy children. Butyrate was able to stimulate IL-10 production, with a maximal effect at 0.75 mM after 24 hours of incubation. No modulation was observed for IL-4, IL-5, IL-13 and IFN- $\gamma$  production (data not shown). CD4+ T cells from IgE-mediated FA patients, stimulated with BLG, OVA, PN in absence of butyrate, resulted in a significant increase in Th2 cytokines production: IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13. Co-incubating the cells with 0.75 mM, butyrate induced a significant inhibition of these effects (Figure 4). This effect was independent on a methylation of the promoter region of the IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 genes. Instead, butyrate stimulated the tolerogenic cytokines IL-10 and IFN- $\gamma$  production through a demethylation of respective genes at 0.75 mM dose. This effect paralleled with a modulation of TSDR FoxP3 demethylation and its expression (Figure 4).

#### **1.3.** Effects of butyrate on human enterocytes

The direct regulatory action elicited by butyrate on human enterocytes in the regulation of nonimmune tolerogenic mechanisms is depicted in Figure 5. Butyrate stimulated the expression of tight junction (TJ) proteins, ZO-1 and occludin in Caco-2 cells. The maximal effective dose was 0.75 mM. The same butyrate dose was also able to up-regulate Muc2 and Muc5AC expression, in HT-29 and Caco-2 cells, respectively (Figure 6). Accordingly, 0.75 mM butyrate was able to increase the enterocyte mucus layer thickness (from 0.0 to  $5\pm 2 \mu m$ , NT vs 0.75 mM, p<0.05). We also investigated the butyrate effect on the innate immune peptide synthesis, HBD-3, that is involved in Foxp3+ T cells induction. <sup>214</sup>As shown in Figure 6, butyrate elicited a significant effect on HBD-3 synthesis by human enterocytes with maximum effective dose of 0.75 mM.

To determine whether butyrate acts as an HDAC inhibitor in HT-29 cells, we analyzed the HDAC activity in comparison with TSA, a well-established HDAC inhibitor. We observed that HDAC activity was reduced in a dose-dependent manner in HT-29 cells treated with butyrate (Figure 6).

#### 1.4 Effects of butyrate in FA animal model

BLG-, OVA- and PN- sensitized mice showed a significantly higher anaphylactic symptoms score and body temperature decrease, compared to control animals. Exposing the animal to oral butyrate caused a significant inhibition of these parameters of allergic response (Figure 7).

To determine whether the butyrate administration was effective in reducing local mucosal mast cell degranulation in sensitized mice, mMCP-1 serum concentrations were measured after oral challenge. Serum mMCP-1 concentration was significantly increased in BLG-, OVA- and PN-sensitized mice compared to the control animals. Whereas, oral butyrate caused a significant reduction in mMCP-1 concentration compared to control mice. According with these data, butyrate

administration also caused a reduction in specific IgE concentrations compared to control group (Figure 7).

To study the mechanism underlying the effect of butyrate in reducing allergic response, splenocytes cytokines production was investigated. BLG-, OVA- and PN- sensitized mice showed a significant increase in Th2 cytokines production (IL-4 and IL-13) and a significant decrease in Th1 cytokines production (IL-10 and IFN-gamma) compared to control animals. These effects were significantly inhibited by butyrate administration (Figure 7).

# **1.5 Effects of butyrate on hepatic mitochondrial oxidative capacity and hepatic oxidative stress**

Pivotal role for hepatic mitochondrial dysfunction, and consequent excessive generation of ROS, in a murine model of FA has been recently demonstrated.<sup>215</sup> H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> yield and ROS-induced damage on aconitase activity were measured in hepatic mitochondria. The increased ROS production was proven by the higher mitochondrial H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> yield and the lower basal/total aconitase ratio in all sensitized animals when compared to the control group. Butyrate administration efficiently modulated the oxidative stress as demonstrated by the lower H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> release and by the reactivation of the aconitase enzyme in all treated groups when compared to control animals (Figure 8).

#### **Results #2**

## 2.1 Study subjects

From June 2017 to June 2020, 90 subjects with a sure diagnosis of IgE-mediated allergy and 30 age-matched healthy controls (HC) were evaluated for the study. All patients accepted to participate and stool samples were collected from each child. Six stool samples failed in sequencing procedures, then metagenomics analysis was performed on 85 subjects: 30 with respiratory allergies (RA) (15 with allergic asthma and 15 with oculorhinitis), 55 with FA, and 29 HC. Among FA children, 22 resulted allergic to one allergen (11 cow's milk; 6 hen's egg; 3 nuts; 2 peach), while the other 33 resulted allergic to  $\geq$  2 food allergens (18 cow's milk and hen's egg; 2 cow's milk and food other than hen's egg; 8 hen's egg and food other than milk; 5 food allergens different from milk and hen's egg).

Baseline main demographic and clinical characteristics were reported in Table 3.

At 36-month of follow up, 17 out of 55 (30.9%) children with FA acquired immune tolerance. All healthy controls remained free from any allergic disease during the 36-month follow-up.

## 2.2 Specific microbial signatures are associated with the allergy state

We didn't find significant differences in the overall GM taxonomic composition according to the disease status (CT vs ALLERGY or CT vs FA/RA) by MANOVA computed on Jaccard distance matrix (p>0.05). Therefore, no specific clustering of the subjects was observed in PCoA plots based on Jaccard distance matrix (Figure 9A-9B). In addition, microbial diversity indices were not different in FA compared with CT, while higher diversity was observed in RA (Figure 10). Firstly, we evaluated the hypothesis that the allergic state (FA or RA) could be associated with specific signatures in the GM (Figure 11A). Allergic children showed significantly higher abundance of *Ruminococcus gnavus*, *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, *Dialister invisus*, *Anaerostipes hadrus*,

several *Blautia* and *Parabacteroides* species compared with healthy controls (Wilcoxon test, p<0.05). On the contrary, their GM was depleted of *Bifidobacterium longum*, *Bacteroides dorei*, *B. vulgatus* and some fibre-degrading taxa (e.g., *Roseburia CAG\_471*, *Ruminococcus bromii*; Figure 11A). However, when evaluating the differences associated with the type of allergy, we also identified some allergy-specific signatures. Children with FA showed a microbial pattern characterized by decreased abundance of *B.vulgatus*, and higher levels of *Blautia wexlerae* compared with RA (p<0.05; Figure 11B). On the contrary, *Anaerostipes hadrus* and *Prevotella copri* were higher in subjects with RA compared with both CT and paiernts with FA (Figure 11B). We also evaluated differences in the GM in FA children showing sensitization to multiple allergens (N=33) compared with those having a single allergy (N=22), but we did not find significant differences associated with the number of FAs. Interestingly, fecal levels of butyrate and propionate were consistently higher in CT compared with both allergic groups (Figure 12).

We used a machine-learning based classification approach (see Methods) to evaluate capabilities of the GM in terms of species-level relative abundances to discriminate among different conditions. We observed a moderate (area under the curve AUC = 0.64) but significant (p < 0.01 by computing the statistical test against the null hypothesis of equal AUC for classification of true and shuffled labels) discrimination between healthy and allergic children irrespective of the allergy type. Moreover, we found a high discrimination (AUC = 0.79) when comparing FA and RA, supporting the finding that different microbial taxa are associated with different allergy types.

Finally, we found that specific GM features at baseline (FDR q<0.1) were associated with the acquisition of immune tolerance, suggesting a possible influence of the microbiome on the natural history of FA (Figure 13). Children with cow's milk allergy who developed immune tolerance (T) showed higher abundance of *B.longum*, *Lachnospira pectinoschiza* and *Anaerostipes hadrus* at diagnosis, as well as lower levels of *Ruthenibacterium lactatiformans* and *Clostridium leptum* if compared with children who not acquired immune tolerance (NT), while the baseline fecal level of

butyrate and propionate were similar into the two groups. Consistently, the machine learning-based classification showed a high discrimination between T and NT (AUC=0.74; Figure 13), that was not affected by the addition of SCFAs concentration to the model.

We used HUMAnN3 to define the functional potential of the gut metagenome and found that the GM of allergic children was characterized by higher inflammatory potential. Indeed, genes involved in the biosynthesis of the bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS; UniRef\_A0A395J976 and UPI000F05499B) were more abundant in FA and RA compared with CT (p<0.05, Figure 14). Moreover, genes coding for urease (E.C. 3.5.1.5) were also enriched in allergic children, showing higher microbial potential for urea degradation with consequent ammonia production (p<0.05, Figure 14). On the contrary, some genes involved in complex polysaccharides degradation (E.C. 3.2.1.31, E.C. 3.2.1.15) were depleted only in FA compared with both CT and RA (p<0.05; Figure 14).

## 2.3 Allergic children harbor different functional types of R.gnavus and B.longum

We explored the possibility that a selection at strain level occurs in the GM of allergic children. Firstly, we used a mapping-based approach to define the pangenome of the 10 most abundant species. We carried out this analysis on 11 species (*Bifidobacterium bifidum*, *B.breve*, *B. adolescentis*, *B.longum*, *Bacteroides vulgatus*, *B.fragilis*, *B.uniformis*, *Eubacterium rectale*, *Akkermansia muciniphila*, *Ruminococcus gnavus*, *R.bromii*) that were selected as the most abundant and present at >2% abundance in at least 80% of the subjects. Among the taxa investigated, we identified differences associated with the allergic state in the pangenome of *B.bifidum* and *R.gnavus*. In particular, 76 and 155 pangenes of *B.bifidum* and *R.gnavus* respectively, occurred differently in CT and allergic children (either FA or RA; Table S2). *B.bifidum* pangenome discriminates healthy from allergic children, regardless the type of allergy (FA or RA; Figure 15A-B). On the contrary, when considering *R.gnavus* pangenome, we observed that CT clustered apart from allergic children, who also separated according to the type of allergy (Figure 16A-B), suggesting the presence of different *R.gnavus* strains. Among *R.gnavus* genes that were enriched in healthy children, we identified several genes involved in complex polysaccharides degradation (e.g., acetylxylan esterase, alpha-L-fucosidase, beta-xylosidase; Figure 16C). Conversely, allergyassociated strains were characterized by higher potential to adhere to the gut epithelium, having higher prevalence of genes related with pilin and anchoring factors (Figure 16C and Table S2). We further explored the role of *R.gnavus* specifically looking for the presence of genes related with the biosynthesis of a pro-inflammatory polysaccharide<sup>154</sup> and we identified a significantly higher number of hits in FA and RA compared with healthy children (Figure 16D), highlighting the presence of a potential mechanism leading to inflammation in allergic children. The difference was still significant even normalizing the number of hits for the number of predicted genes in each sample.

### 2.4 MAGs reconstruction highlights influence of the delivery mode on sub-species diversity

To further explore the effect of allergy on sub-species diversity of the GM, we also reconstructed Metagenome Assembled Genomes (MAGs). We binned a total of 3,357 MAGs from the 117 samples that were clustered into 470 SGBs and taxonomically assigned as reported in Table S3. We further analysed newly reconstructed MAGs to explore the influence of other metadata (i.e., delivery mode and breastfeeding) on sub-species diversity. Interestingly, we identified specific strain-level signatures associated with vaginal or C-section delivery in two species (*Blautia wexlerae* and *Bacteroides vulgatus*). For both, we could identify two putative sub-species based on phylogenetic diversity (Figure 17A-B). In the case of *Bl. wexlerae*, one sub-species was almost exclusively (11 out of 12 MAGs) found in C-section delivered children (Figure 17A). For *B. vulgatus*, we identified one sub-species found both in C-section and vaginal delivered children,

while another was exclusive of vaginal delivery (Figure 17B). In both cases, no association with allergy was found.

# 5. Discussion

The results of our study demonstrate that HM butyrate stimulates a wide range of immune and non-immune tolerogenic mechanisms able to protect against FA. Immune tolerance is a state of active non-responsiveness to ingested soluble antigens mediated by gut-associated intestinal lymphoid tissue. Inducible FoxP3+ CD4+ Treg cells are central to the maintenance of immune homeostasis and tolerance throughout the body, particularly in the gut. Other evidence suggests also a role for the complex interaction between gut microbiota and immune and non-immune cells in shaping immune tolerance. The presence of both diet-and microbe-induced populations of Treg cells is required for oral tolerance to food antigens.<sup>216</sup> In our study, we observed that butyrate is able to modulate these mechanisms of oral tolerance.

We evaluated the direct effects of butyrate on CD4+ T cells isolated from PBMCs from children affected by challenge-proven IgE-mediated FA. CD4+ T cells were stimulated in vitro with different allergens, BLG, PN and OVA, in the presence or absence of butyrate. Butyrate stimulated, in a dose-dependent manner, tolerogenic cytokines, such as IL-10 production, through a demethylation of respective gene. We found also that butyrate induced a FoxP3 demethylation and a concomitantly increase of its expression. The mechanisms of action of butyrate are multiple, many of these involve an epigenetic regulation of gene expression through the inhibition of histone deacetylase (HDAC). <sup>217</sup> It has been demonstrated that the inhibition of HDAC 6 and 9 is responsible for the increase in FoxP3 gene expression and increase of Tregs. <sup>218</sup> Acetylation of Foxp3 is an important posttranslational mechanism that affects Foxp3 abundance, because it protects Foxp3 proteasomal degradation. <sup>219</sup> This is a signature mechanism of action of several HDACs in Tregs. <sup>220,221, 222,223,224</sup>

We also explore the direct effects of butyrate on human enterocytes. Our data suggest that SCFA butyrate contribute to mucosal homeostasis through the induction of Treg cells and the regulation of epithelial barrier integrity. Loss of epithelial integrity in the gut increases antigen uptake and

52

promotes secretion of epithelial-derived cytokines IL-33, thymic stromal lymphopoietin, and IL-25.<sup>225</sup> These cytokines promote Th2-type allergic response by activation of ILC2s, mast cells, basophils, and DCs. <sup>226</sup> Activation of ILC2s stimulates production of IL-4–, IL-5–, and IL-13– promoting Th2-type allergic responses. <sup>227</sup> Overall, the state of the epithelial barrier is thought to be important for sensitization to food antigens.

The positive modulation of gut mucosa integrity by butyrate is supported by the up-regulated expression of TJ proteins, which in turn are involved in the tuning of epithelial permeability. These results are in line with previous observations demonstrating that butyrate is able to maintain epithelium barrier integrity through an increase of ZO-1 and occludin expression. <sup>228</sup>

A significant increase of Muc2, Muc5AC expression and mucus layer thickness was also observed after stimulation of human enterocytes with butyrate. Similarly, Gaudier et al. demonstrated that butyrate differently stimulates the expression of various mucin genes in the colon, with maximum effects on Muc2 expression. <sup>229</sup> The mucus layer, covering the gastrointestinal mucosa, is considered as the first line of defense against mechanical, chemical, or microbiological aggressions arising from the luminal contents. <sup>230</sup> The mucus layer does not merely form a nonspecific physical barrier, but also constrains the immunogenicity of gut antigens by delivering tolerogenic signals. <sup>231</sup> In the colon, the mucus layer is directly in contact with the butyrate produced by gut microbiota, representing the major energy source for colonocytes. <sup>232</sup>

Moreover, butyrate stimulates the HBD-3 synthesis, an innate immune peptide, involved in induction of FoxP3+ T cells. <sup>233</sup>

To confirm the butyrate immune and non immune effects demonstrated in vitro, we performed an in vivo model of FA. In a murine model of FA, the results of anaphylactic symptom score and body temperature decrease demonstrated that butyrate administration inhibits allergic response. Accordingly, butyrate administration caused a significant reduction in mMCP-1 concentrations, which reflects a reduction in mast cell degranulation, and a reduction in sIgE concentrations compared to control group.

To study the mechanism underlying the effects of butyrate administration in reducing allergic response, cytokine production by T-cells in the spleen was studied and a modulation of Th1/Th2 cytokine expression was observed. We found an enhancement in IL-10 expression, a major immune-regulatory cytokine that maintains mucosal homeostasis and limits excessive immune responses against dietary and bacterial antigens present in the intestinal lumen.

We found liver mitochondrial dysfunction in FA sensitized mice. After sensitization with three antigens, a significant decrease in mitochondrial state 3 respiration rates was observed in PN and BLG sensitized animals when compared to control animals, while butyrate administration improved mitochondrial respiration rates in treated animals. Instead, butyrate administration efficiently modulated the oxidative stress as demonstrated by the lower H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> release and by the reactivation of the aconitase enzyme in all treated mice groups. Mitochondrial dysfunction and elevated ROS have been reported in allergic disease. <sup>234,235,236,237</sup> The involvement of liver in FA is emerging.<sup>238</sup> Studies in a murine model suggest that the liver could act as a source of helper CD4+ T cells and could play an important role in the IgE response to dietary antigens. <sup>239</sup> As demonstrated in the airway epithelium of asthma animal model, mitochondrial dysfunction precedes allergic inflammation, where prior to antigen exposure, mitochondrial dysfunction exacerbates allergen-induced accumulation of eosinophils, mucin levels, and airway hyperresponsiveness. <sup>234</sup>

Interestingly, the most effective butyrate dose is similar to mean butyrate concentration in HM. Data generated from Global Exploration of Human Milk (GEHM) study suggests that butyrate concentration in HM through the first year of lactation are consistent across regions, but that factors such as maternal diet or microbiome could influence overall levels given butyrate's association with individual donor. <sup>240</sup> From the analysis of 3-days dietary diary of the lactating mothers, we observed a significant correlation between their daily fiber intake and HM butyrate concentration. As more

54

dietary fibers are ingested, SCFAs production increases.<sup>241</sup> New evidence show that maternal SCFA levels during pregnancy can directly influence the health of infants. Thorburn et al. observed that when a high-fiber diet was consumed during pregnancy, maternal serum acetate levels were higher. <sup>242</sup> Lower serum levels of acetate during pregnancy were associated with wheeze in infants. In a follow-up murine model experiment, feeding dams acetate during pregnancy and the immediate postpartum period reduced the development of allergic airway inflammation in offspring. In the field of FA, we know that an infant diet consisting of high levels of fruits, vegetables, and homeprepared foods is associated with less FA by the age of 2 years. <sup>243</sup> The finding that high fiber diet protects mice against peanut allergy through diverse cellular pathways supports these data. Tan et al. find that this effect involves reshaping of the gut microbiota as well as increased levels of SCFAs and activity of their receptors. High fiber feeding also increased tolerogenic CD103+ DCs activity, leading to increased Treg cells differentiation.<sup>244</sup> The results from our work suggest that the dietary fiber intake of the lactating mothers could influence the HM butyrate concentration, with multiple protective effects against FA. This could be relevant for future research, because all the observed effects were dose dependent. Our data open the possibility of using butyrate as a supplement in the formulas of non-breastfed children for preventing FA in early life. A limitation of our study is that we are unable to determine where the butyrate present in HM derives. Considering that there are bacterial species in the HM, we cannot rule out that it derives from these ones or from maternal intestinal microbiota. Another limitation of our study is that HM contains a wide range of bioactive factors in addition to butyrate: such as proteins, polyunsaturated fatty acids, oligosaccharides, microbial content, metabolites, and micronutrients that can influence the infant's gut immune maturation.

Gut dysbiosis refers to an unbalance in the composition and activity of the GM. Dysbiosis was previously associated with different disease conditions, although a cause-effect mechanism remained largely undefined.<sup>130</sup> The link between GM and allergic diseases was explored in several

studies and microbial signatures specific of the different allergies were identified, although a general agreement does not exist.<sup>245</sup> This is the first study employing a shotgun metagenomics approach to the study of GM composition and functional potential in children with IgE-mediated allergy. We identified common features in the GM of allergic children, regardless the type of allergy (food or respiratory). Indeed, we found an increase in *Firmicutes* and a decrease in Bacteroidetes taxa in allergic children, as previously reported.<sup>245</sup> In agreement with previous findings, the GM in FA and RA was characterized by higher abundance of *F. prausnitzii*, *R. gnavus*, Blautia wexlerae, Anaerostipes hadrus, as well as lower levels of B.longum, B.dorei, B.vulgatus and several fibre-degrading species compared with healthy controls.<sup>147,246,247,28,248</sup> In addition, we didn't find differences related to the co-occurrence of multiple FAs, which is in agreement with previous findings.<sup>39</sup> However, comparison with previous data is difficult, since existing studies are all based on lower resolution techniques (e.g., 16S rRNA sequencing) and often achieved taxonomic identification at genus level or even above. Althought the microbiome in FA is a widely researched subjected, we need still others studies. Bao et al. collected fecal sample from a cohort of twins concordant or discordant for FA to identify bacterial signatures and metabolic pathways that may influence the expression of this disease.<sup>249</sup> A bacterial signature of 64 operational taxonomic units (OTUs) distinguished healthy from allergic twins: the OTUs enriched in the healthy twins were largely taxa from the Clostridia class. Bao and collegues detected significant enrichment in distingt metabolite pathways in each group. The enrichment of diacylglycerol in healthy twins is of particular interest for its potential as a readily measurable fecal biomarker of health. In addition, an integrated microbial-metabolomic analysis identified a significant association between healthy twins and Phascolarctobacterium faecium and R. bromi.

Moreover, in this study, we firstly highlighted that the GM dysbiosis at taxonomic level is also reflected in an altered functional potential. The GM of allergic children showed higher levels of ureases and genes related with LPS biosynthesis. LPS stimulates the production of proinflammatory cytokine, thus activating the inflammatory cascades<sup>250</sup> and it was previously associated with the onset of allergic rhinosinusitis.<sup>251</sup> Ureases are involved in urea degradation and ammonia production. An increased potential for urea degradation was suggested to promote gut microbiota dysbiosis and to exacerbate colitis in mice.<sup>252</sup> Conversely, allergy GM showed lower potential for complex fibre degradation, explaining the lower concentration of the SCFAs butyrate and propionate found in allergic subjects compared with healthy controls, both in this study and in previous reports. <sup>47,39</sup> Therefore, the metagenome of allergic diseases is defined by an overall higher pro-inflammatory potential compared with healthy children, with an increased production of proainflammatory molecules, and a decreased biosynthesis of anti-inflammatory SCFAs.

In addition, we identified specific signatures at sub-species levels linked with the allergic disease, suggesting the presence of a strain-level adaptation to the pro-inflammatory environment typical of the allergic condition. Indeed, we recognized a strain diversity linked to allergy in *B. longum* and *R.* gnavus. In particular, R. gnavus strains associated with allergy showed an enriched ability to adhere to the gut epithelium and colonize the gut environment, that may contribute to a pathogenic mechanism, <sup>253,254</sup> as well as a depletion of genes involved in complex polysaccharides break-down, negatively contributing to the reduced concentration of SCFAs found in allergic children. These results supported a previous hypothesis of a determinant role of R. gnavus in the development of allergy in the pediatric age,<sup>246</sup> but firstly highlighted that this association may be strain-dependent. Indeed, recent findings suggest that high variability at strain level exists in the GM and that different strains may be differently linked with health or diseases <sup>255, 256, 257</sup> R. gnavus abundance increased with the consumption of an unhealthy diet rich in fat and animal products.<sup>255, 258</sup> In addition, it was previously associated with inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD)<sup>259,260</sup> and a recent study proposed a mechanism mediated by the production of an inflammatory polysaccharide. <sup>209</sup> Accordingly, we identified a higher number of genes involved in the production of this polysaccharide <sup>209</sup> in the gut metagenome of allergic children. In addition, Hall et al. identified

57

disease-specific clades of *R. gnavus* associated with IBD,  $^{260}$  characterized by higher adhesion potential to the gut epithelium, consistently with our results.

Finally, we identified specific microbial signatures that may be involved in the resolution of FA after 36 months of exclusion diet. In a previous study, FA resolution at 8 years was linked with increased baseline abundance of *Clostridia*.<sup>27</sup> Thanks to a higher resolution, we identified higher abundance of *Lachnospira pectinoschiza* and *Anaerostipes hadrus* (both *Clostridia* class), as well as of *B. longum*. Indeed, gut microbiome composition could predict the development of immune tolerance in a Random Forest classification model. This may suggest a possible implication of the GM in the immune tolerance acquisition pathways.

# 6. Conclusion

Gut microbiota could be a promising target for innovative preventive and therapeutic strategies against FA. Studies are promising, but more data are needed to better define the potential of modulating the diet-gut microbiota–immune system axis to fight FA. We are approaching a new era where we can regulate immune system development and function through dietary intervention and measure the clinical impact through gut microbes and their metabolites. Given the current gaps in the investigational approaches, and data analysis and interpretation, we need more scientific evidence that can be translated in clinical practice. Understanding how nutrients and metabolites, or probiotics could influence gut bacteria communities and the immune system will contribute to build up a precision medicine approach for FA care (Figure 18).

In summary, using high-resolution metagenomics, we highlighted GM dysbiosis in allergic children and strain-level adaptation in allergy, with R. gnavus emerging as likely involved in the allergic disease. We also suggest that the production of pro-inflammatory molecules and the reduced ability to catabolize complex polysaccharides may be associated with the increased inflammation typical of allergic conditions. These findings support the importance of the GM in the onset of allergic diseases and may open new cues in the development of innovative therapeutic strategies based on microbiome manipulation for allergy treatment.

## 7. References

- Loh W, Tang MLK. The Epidemiology of Food Allergy in the Global Context. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018 Sep 18;15(9):2043. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15092043. PMID: 30231558; PMCID: PMC6163515.
- Boyce JA, Assa'ad A, Burks AW, Jones SM, Sampson HA, Wood RA, Plaut M, Cooper SF, Fenton MJ, Arshad SH, Bahna SL, Beck LA, Byrd-Bredbenner C, Camargo CA Jr, Eichenfield L, Furuta GT, Hanifin JM, Jones C, Kraft M, Levy BD, Lieberman P, Luccioli S, McCall KM, Schneider LC, Simon RA, Simons FE, Teach SJ, Yawn BP, Schwaninger JM; NIAID-Sponsored Expert Panel. Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Food Allergy in the United States: Summary of the NIAID-Sponsored Expert Panel Report. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010 Dec;126(6):1105-18. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.10.008. PMID: 21134568; PMCID: PMC4241958.
- Berni Canani R, Nocerino R, Terrin G, Leone L, Troncone R. Hospital admissions for foodinduced anaphylaxis in Italian children. Clin Exp Allergy. 2012 Dec;42(12):1813-4. doi: 10.1111/cea.12036. PMID: 23181797.
- Sicherer SH, Muñoz-Furlong A, Godbold JH, Sampson HA. US prevalence of self-reported peanut, tree nut, and sesame allergy: 11-year follow-up. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010 Jun;125(6):1322-6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.03.029. Epub 2010 May 11. PMID: 20462634.
- Branum AM, Lukacs SL. Food allergy among children in the United States. Pediatrics. 2009 Dec;124(6):1549-55. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-1210. Epub 2009 Nov 16. PMID: 19917585.
- Decker WW, Campbell RL, Manivannan V, Luke A, St Sauver JL, Weaver A, Bellolio MF, Bergstralh EJ, Stead LG, Li JT. The etiology and incidence of anaphylaxis in Rochester, Minnesota: a report from the Rochester Epidemiology Project. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008 Dec;122(6):1161-5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008.09.043. Epub 2008 Nov 6. PMID: 18992928; PMCID: PMC2704497.

- Boyce JA, Assa'ad A, Burks AW, Jones SM, Sampson HA, Wood RA, Plaut M, Cooper SF, Fenton MJ, Arshad SH, Bahna SL, Beck LA, Byrd-Bredbenner C, Camargo CA Jr, Eichenfield L, Furuta GT, Hanifin JM, Jones C, Kraft M, Levy BD, Lieberman P, Luccioli S, McCall KM, Schneider LC, Simon RA, Simons FE, Teach SJ, Yawn BP, Schwaninger JM; NIAID-Sponsored Expert Panel. Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Food Allergy in the United States: Summary of the NIAID-Sponsored Expert Panel Report. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010 Dec;126(6):1105-18. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.10.008. PMID: 21134568; PMCID: PMC4241958.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine. Finding a Path to Safety in Food Allergy: Assessment of Global Burden, Causes, Prevention, Management, and Public Policy.Washington, DC: National Academies Press. (2016).7.
- Caraballo, L.; Zakzuk, J.; Lee, B.W.; Acevedo, N.; Soh, J.Y.; Sánchez-Borges, M.; Hossny, E.; García, E.; Rosario, N.; Ansotegui, I.; et al. Particularities of allergy in the Tropics. World Allergy Organ. J. 2016, 9, 20, doi:10.1186/s40413-016-0110-7;
- Tang ML, Mullins RJ. Food allergy: is prevalence increasing? Intern Med J. 2017 Mar;47(3):256-261. doi: 10.1111/imj.13362. PMID: 28260260.
- 11. Schussler E, Sobel J, Hsu J, Yu P, Meaney-Delman D, Grammer LC 3rd, Nowak-Wegrzyn A. Workgroup Report by the Joint Task Force Involving American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology (AAAAI); Food Allergy, Anaphylaxis, Dermatology and Drug Allergy (FADDA) (Adverse Reactions to Foods Committee and Adverse Reactions to Drugs, Biologicals, and Latex Committee); and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Botulism Clinical Treatment Guidelines Workgroup-Allergic Reactions to Botulinum Antitoxin: A Systematic Review. Clin Infect Dis. 2017 Dec 27;66(suppl\_1):S65-S72. doi: 10.1093/cid/cix827. PMID: 29293931; PMCID: PMC5850017.

- De Martinis M, Sirufo MM, Ginaldi L. Allergy and Aging: An Old/New Emerging Health Issue. Aging Dis. 2017 Apr 1;8(2):162-175. doi: 10.14336/AD.2016.0831. PMID: 28400983; PMCID: PMC5362176
- De Martinis M, Sirufo MM, Suppa M, Di Silvestre D, Ginaldi L. Sex and Gender Aspects for Patient Stratification in Allergy Prevention and Treatment. Int J Mol Sci. 2020 Feb 24;21(4):1535. doi: 10.3390/ijms21041535. PMID: 32102344; PMCID: PMC7073150.
- 14. Savage J, Sicherer S, Wood R. The Natural History of Food Allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2016 Mar-Apr;4(2):196-203; quiz 204. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2015.11.024.
  PMID: 26968958.
- 15. Hill DA, Spergel JM. The atopic march: Critical evidence and clinical relevance. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2018 Feb;120(2):131-137. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2017.10.037.
  Erratum in: Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2018 Mar 9;: PMID: 29413336; PMCID: PMC5806141.
- Saps M, Lu P, Bonilla S. Cow's-milk allergy is a risk factor for the development of FGIDs in children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2011 Feb;52(2):166-9. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e3181e85b55. PMID: 20975580.
- Virta LJ, Kautiainen H, Kolho KL. Symptoms suggestive of cow's milk allergy in infancy and pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. 2016 Jun;27(4):361-7. doi: 10.1111/pai.12551. Epub 2016 Apr 7. PMID: 26887931.
- Topal E, Catal F, Soylu N, Ozcan OO, Celiksoy MH, Babayiğit A, Erge D, Karakoç HT, Sancak R. Psychiatric disorders and symptoms severity in pre-school children with cow's milk allergy. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr). 2016 Sep-Oct;44(5):445-9. doi: 10.1016/j.aller.2016.03.001. Epub 2016 May 27. PMID: 27240441.
- 19. Noval Rivas M, Burton OT, Wise P, Zhang YQ, Hobson SA, Garcia Lloret M, Chehoud C, Kuczynski J, DeSantis T, Warrington J, Hyde ER, Petrosino JF, Gerber GK, Bry L, Oettgen HC, Mazmanian SK, Chatila TA. A microbiota signature associated with experimental food

allergy promotes allergic sensitization and anaphylaxis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2013 Jan;131(1):201-12. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.10.026. Epub 2012 Nov 30. PMID: 23201093; PMCID: PMC3860814.

- 20. Stefka AT, Feehley T, Tripathi P, Qiu J, McCoy K, Mazmanian SK, Tjota MY, Seo GY, Cao S, Theriault BR, Antonopoulos DA, Zhou L, Chang EB, Fu YX, Nagler CR.
  Commensal bacteria protect against food allergen sensitization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.
  2014 Sep 9;111(36):13145-50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1412008111. Epub 2014 Aug 25. PMID: 25157157; PMCID: PMC4246970.
- 21. Berni Canani R, Gilbert JA, Nagler CR. The role of the commensal microbiota in the regulation of tolerance to dietary allergens. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. 2015 Jun;15(3):243-9. doi: 10.1097/ACI.000000000000157. PMID: 25827065; PMCID: PMC4498960.
- Paparo L, Aitoro R, Nocerino R, et al. Epigenetic Regulation of Early Nutrition on Immune System. Editors Preedy VR, Patel VB. Handbook of Nutrition, Diet, and Epigenetics (2018); doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-31143-2\_54-1.
- 23. Sicherer SH, Sampson HA. Food allergy: A review and update on epidemiology, pathogenesis, diagnosis, prevention, and management. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2018 Jan;141(1):41-58. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.11.003. Epub 2017 Nov 21. PMID: 29157945.
- 24. Huang YJ, Marsland BJ, Bunyavanich S, O'Mahony L, Leung DY, Muraro A, Fleisher TA. The microbiome in allergic disease: Current understanding and future opportunities-2017 PRACTALL document of the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology and the European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017 Apr;139(4):1099-1110. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.02.007. Epub 2017 Feb 28. PMID: 28257972; PMCID: PMC5899886.

- Prince BT, Mandel MJ, Nadeau K, Singh AM. Gut Microbiome and the Development of Food Allergy and Allergic Disease. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2015 Dec;62(6):1479-92. doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2015.07.007. Epub 2015 Sep 7. PMID: 26456445; PMCID: PMC4721650.
- 26. Azad MB, Konya T, Guttman DS, Field CJ, Sears MR, HayGlass KT, Mandhane PJ, Turvey SE, Subbarao P, Becker AB, Scott JA, Kozyrskyj AL; CHILD Study Investigators. Infant gut microbiota and food sensitization: associations in the first year of life. Clin Exp Allergy. 2015 Mar;45(3):632-43. doi: 10.1111/cea.12487. PMID: 25599982.
- Bunyavanich S, Shen N, Grishin A, Wood R, Burks W, Dawson P, Jones SM, Leung DYM, Sampson H, Sicherer S, Clemente JC. Early-life gut microbiome composition and milk allergy resolution. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2016 Oct;138(4):1122-1130. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.03.041. Epub 2016 May 10. PMID: 27292825; PMCID: PMC5056801.
- 28. Cait A, Cardenas E, Dimitriu PA, Amenyogbe N, Dai D, Cait J, Sbihi H, Stiemsma L, Subbarao P, Mandhane PJ, Becker AB, Moraes TJ, Sears MR, Lefebvre DL, Azad MB, Kollmann T, Turvey SE, Mohn WW. Reduced genetic potential for butyrate fermentation in the gut microbiome of infants who develop allergic sensitization. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2019 Dec;144(6):1638-1647.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2019.06.029. Epub 2019 Jul 3. PMID: 31279007.
- 29. Roduit C, Frei R, Ferstl R, Loeliger S, Westermann P, Rhyner C, Schiavi E, Barcik W, Rodriguez-Perez N, Wawrzyniak M, Chassard C, Lacroix C, Schmausser-Hechfellner E, Depner M, von Mutius E, Braun-Fahrländer C, Karvonen AM, Kirjavainen PV, Pekkanen J, Dalphin JC, Riedler J, Akdis C, Lauener R, O'Mahony L; PASTURE/EFRAIM study group. High levels of butyrate and propionate in early life are associated with protection against atopy. Allergy. 2019 Apr;74(4):799-809. doi: 10.1111/all.13660. Epub 2018 Nov 25. PMID: 30390309.

- Allen KJ, Koplin JJ. Prospects for Prevention of Food Allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2016 Mar-Apr;4(2):215-20. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2015.10.010. Epub 2016 Jan 2. PMID: 26755097.
- 31. du Toit G, Tsakok T, Lack S, Lack G. Prevention of food allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol.2016 Apr;137(4):998-1010. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.02.005. PMID: 27059727.
- 32. Hong X, Hao K, Ladd-Acosta C, Hansen KD, Tsai HJ, Liu X, Xu X, Thornton TA, Caruso D, Keet CA, Sun Y, Wang G, Luo W, Kumar R, Fuleihan R, Singh AM, Kim JS, Story RE, Gupta RS, Gao P, Chen Z, Walker SO, Bartell TR, Beaty TH, Fallin MD, Schleimer R, Holt PG, Nadeau KC, Wood RA, Pongracic JA, Weeks DE, Wang X. Genome-wide association study identifies peanut allergy-specific loci and evidence of epigenetic mediation in US children. Nat Commun. 2015 Feb 24;6:6304. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7304. PMID: 25710614; PMCID: PMC4340086.
- 33. Gupta RS, Walkner MM, Greenhawt M, Lau CH, Caruso D, Wang X, Pongracic JA, Smith
  B. Food Allergy Sensitization and Presentation in Siblings of Food Allergic Children. J
  Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2016 Sep-Oct;4(5):956-62. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2016.04.009.
  Epub 2016 Jul 12. PMID: 27421900; PMCID: PMC5010481.
- 34. Savage JH, Lee-Sarwar KA, Sordillo J, Bunyavanich S, Zhou Y, O'Connor G, Sandel M, Bacharier LB, Zeiger R, Sodergren E, Weinstock GM, Gold DR, Weiss ST, Litonjua AA. A prospective microbiome-wide association study of food sensitization and food allergy in early childhood. Allergy. 2018 Jan;73(1):145-152. doi: 10.1111/all.13232. Epub 2017 Aug 2. PMID: 28632934; PMCID: PMC5921051.
- 35. Sicherer SH, Sampson HA. Food allergy: A review and update on epidemiology, pathogenesis, diagnosis, prevention, and management. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2018 Jan;141(1):41-58. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.11.003. Epub 2017 Nov 21. PMID: 29157945.
- 36. Strachan DP. Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. BMJ. 1989 Nov 18;299(6710):1259-60. doi: 10.1136/bmj.299.6710.1259. PMID: 2513902; PMCID: PMC1838109.

- 37. von Hertzen L, Hanski I, Haahtela T. Natural immunity. Biodiversity loss and inflammatory diseases are two global megatrends that might be related. EMBO Rep. 2011 Oct 28;12(11):1089-93. doi: 10.1038/embor.2011.195. PMID: 21979814; PMCID: PMC3207110.
- Fieten KB, Totté JEE, Levin E, Reyman M, Meijer Y, Knulst A, Schuren F, Pasmans SGMA. Fecal Microbiome and Food Allergy in Pediatric Atopic Dermatitis: A Cross-Sectional Pilot Study. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2018;175(1-2):77-84. doi: 10.1159/000484897. Epub 2018 Jan 25. PMID: 29393195.
- 39. Goldberg MR, Mor H, Magid Neriya D, Magzal F, Muller E, Appel MY, Nachshon L, Borenstein E, Tamir S, Louzoun Y, Youngster I, Elizur A, Koren O. Microbial signature in IgE-mediated food allergies. Genome Med. 2020 Oct 27;12(1):92. doi: 10.1186/s13073-020-00789-4. PMID: 33109272; PMCID: PMC7592384.
- 40. Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Shima T, Imaoka A, Kuwahara T, Momose Y, Cheng G, Yamasaki S, Saito T, Ohba Y, Taniguchi T, Takeda K, Hori S, Ivanov II, Umesaki Y, Itoh K, Honda K. Induction of colonic regulatory T cells by indigenous Clostridium species. Science. 2011 Jan 21;331(6015):337-41. doi: 10.1126/science.1198469. Epub 2010 Dec 23. PMID: 21205640; PMCID: PMC3969237.
- 41. Russell SL, Gold MJ, Hartmann M, Willing BP, Thorson L, Wlodarska M, Gill N, Blanchet MR, Mohn WW, McNagny KM, Finlay BB. Early life antibiotic-driven changes in microbiota enhance susceptibility to allergic asthma. EMBO Rep. 2012 May 1;13(5):440-7. doi: 10.1038/embor.2012.32. PMID: 22422004; PMCID: PMC3343350.
- 42. Bashir ME, Louie S, Shi HN, Nagler-Anderson C. Toll-like receptor 4 signaling by intestinal microbes influences susceptibility to food allergy. J Immunol. 2004 Jun 1;172(11):6978-87. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.11.6978. PMID: 15153518.
- 43. Geuking MB, Cahenzli J, Lawson MA, Ng DC, Slack E, Hapfelmeier S, McCoy KD, Macpherson AJ. Intestinal bacterial colonization induces mutualistic regulatory T cell

responses. Immunity. 2011 May 27;34(5):794-806. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.021. Epub 2011 May 19. PMID: 21596591.

- 44. Mazmanian SK, Round JL, Kasper DL. A microbial symbiosis factor prevents intestinal inflammatory disease. Nature. 2008 May 29;453(7195):620-5. doi: 10.1038/nature07008.
  PMID: 18509436.
- 45. Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Oshima K, Suda W, Nagano Y, Nishikawa H, Fukuda S, Saito T, Narushima S, Hase K, Kim S, Fritz JV, Wilmes P, Ueha S, Matsushima K, Ohno H, Olle B, Sakaguchi S, Taniguchi T, Morita H, Hattori M, Honda K. Treg induction by a rationally selected mixture of Clostridia strains from the human microbiota. Nature. 2013 Aug 8;500(7461):232-6. doi: 10.1038/nature12331. Epub 2013 Jul 10. PMID: 23842501.
- 46. Díaz M, Guadamuro L, Espinosa-Martos I, Mancabelli L, Jiménez S, Molinos-Norniella C, Pérez-Solis D, Milani C, Rodríguez JM, Ventura M, Bousoño C, Gueimonde M, Margolles A, Díaz JJ, Delgado S. Microbiota and Derived Parameters in Fecal Samples of Infants with Non-IgE Cow's Milk Protein Allergy under a Restricted Diet. Nutrients. 2018 Oct 11;10(10):1481. doi: 10.3390/nu10101481. PMID: 30314304; PMCID: PMC6213916.
- 47. Berni Canani R, De Filippis F, Nocerino R, Paparo L, Di Scala C, Cosenza L, Della Gatta G, Calignano A, De Caro C, Laiola M, Gilbert JA, Ercolini D. Gut microbiota composition and butyrate production in children affected by non-IgE-mediated cow's milk allergy. Sci Rep. 2018 Aug 21;8(1):12500. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-30428-3. PMID: 30131575; PMCID: PMC6104073.
- 48. Fazlollahi M, Chun Y, Grishin A, Wood RA, Burks AW, Dawson P, Jones SM, Leung DYM, Sampson HA, Sicherer SH, Bunyavanich S. Early-life gut microbiome and egg allergy. Allergy. 2018 Jul;73(7):1515-1524. doi: 10.1111/all.13389. Epub 2018 Mar 15. PMID: 29318631; PMCID: PMC6436531.
- 49. Tanaka S, Kobayashi T, Songjinda P, Tateyama A, Tsubouchi M, Kiyohara C, Shirakawa T, Sonomoto K, Nakayama J. Influence of antibiotic exposure in the early postnatal period on

the development of intestinal microbiota. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 2009 Jun;56(1):80-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-695X.2009.00553.x. Epub 2009 Apr 6. PMID: 19385995.

- 50. Abrahamsson TR, Jakobsson HE, Andersson AF, Björkstén B, Engstrand L, Jenmalm MC. Low diversity of the gut microbiota in infants with atopic eczema. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2012 Feb;129(2):434-40, 440.e1-2. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.10.025. Epub 2011 Dec 6. PMID: 22153774.
- 51. Kalliomäki M, Kirjavainen P, Eerola E, Kero P, Salminen S, Isolauri E. Distinct patterns of neonatal gut microflora in infants in whom atopy was and was not developing. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2001 Jan;107(1):129-34. doi: 10.1067/mai.2001.111237. PMID: 11150002.
- 52. van Nimwegen FA, Penders J, Stobberingh EE, Postma DS, Koppelman GH, Kerkhof M, Reijmerink NE, Dompeling E, van den Brandt PA, Ferreira I, Mommers M, Thijs C. Mode and place of delivery, gastrointestinal microbiota, and their influence on asthma and atopy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2011 Nov;128(5):948-55.e1-3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.07.027. Epub 2011 Aug 27. PMID: 21872915.
- 53. Ege MJ, Bieli C, Frei R, van Strien RT, Riedler J, Ublagger E, Schram-Bijkerk D, Brunekreef B, van Hage M, Scheynius A, Pershagen G, Benz MR, Lauener R, von Mutius E, Braun-Fahrländer C; Parsifal Study team. Prenatal farm exposure is related to the expression of receptors of the innate immunity and to atopic sensitization in school-age children. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2006 Apr;117(4):817-23. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.12.1307. Epub 2006 Feb 7. PMID: 16630939.
- Stern DA, Riedler J, Nowak D, Braun-Fahrlander C, Swoboda I, Balic N, Chen KW, Vrtala S, Grönlund H, van Hage M, Valenta R, Spitzauer S, Von Mutius E, Vercelli D. Exposure to a farming environment has allergen-specific protective effects on TH2-dependent isotype switching in response to common inhalants. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2007 Feb;119(2):351-8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2006.10.013. Epub 2006 Nov 30. PMID: 17140649.

- 55. Biasucci G, Rubini M, Riboni S, Morelli L, Bessi E, Retetangos C. Mode of delivery affects the bacterial community in the newborn gut. Early Hum Dev. 2010 Jul;86 Suppl 1:13-5. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2010.01.004. Epub 2010 Feb 4. PMID: 20133091.
- 56. Dominguez-Bello MG, Costello EK, Contreras M, Magris M, Hidalgo G, Fierer N, Knight R. Delivery mode shapes the acquisition and structure of the initial microbiota across multiple body habitats in newborns. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010 Jun 29;107(26):119715. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1002601107. Epub 2010 Jun 21. PMID: 20566857; PMCID: PMC2900693.
- 57. Jakobsson HE, Abrahamsson TR, Jenmalm MC, Harris K, Quince C, Jernberg C, Björkstén B, Engstrand L, Andersson AF. Decreased gut microbiota diversity, delayed Bacteroidetes colonisation and reduced Th1 responses in infants delivered by caesarean section. Gut. 2014 Apr;63(4):559-66. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303249. Epub 2013 Aug 7. PMID: 23926244.
- 58. Thavagnanam S, Fleming J, Bromley A, Shields MD, Cardwell CR. A meta-analysis of the association between Caesarean section and childhood asthma. Clin Exp Allergy. 2008 Apr;38(4):629-33. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2007.02780.x. PMID: 18352976.
- 59. Pistiner M, Gold DR, Abdulkerim H, Hoffman E, Celedón JC. Birth by cesarean section, allergic rhinitis, and allergic sensitization among children with a parental history of atopy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008 Aug;122(2):274-9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008.05.007. Epub 2008 Jun 20. PMID: 18571710; PMCID: PMC4762591.
- 60. Adlerberth I, Wold AE. Establishment of the gut microbiota in Western infants. Acta Paediatr. 2009 Feb;98(2):229-38. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2008. 01060.x. PMID: 19143664.
- Penders J, Gerhold K, Stobberingh EE, Thijs C, Zimmermann K, Lau S, Hamelmann E. Establishment of the intestinal microbiota and its role for atopic dermatitis in early childhood. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2013 Sep;132(3):601-607.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.05.043. Epub 2013 Jul 27. PMID: 23900058.

- 62. Bäckhed F, Roswall J, Peng Y, Feng Q, Jia H, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Li Y, Xia Y, Xie H, Zhong H, Khan MT, Zhang J, Li J, Xiao L, Al-Aama J, Zhang D, Lee YS, Kotowska D, Colding C, Tremaroli V, Yin Y, Bergman S, Xu X, Madsen L, Kristiansen K, Dahlgren J, Wang J. Dynamics and Stabilization of the Human Gut Microbiome during the First Year of Life. Cell Host Microbe. 2015 Jun 10;17(6):852. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.05.012. Epub 2015 Jun 10. Erratum for: Cell Host Microbe. 2015 May 13;17(5):690-703. PMID: 26308884.
- 63. Reyman M, van Houten MA, van Baarle D, Bosch AATM, Man WH, Chu MLJN, Arp K, Watson RL, Sanders EAM, Fuentes S, Bogaert D. Author Correction: Impact of delivery mode-associated gut microbiota dynamics on health in the first year of life. Nat Commun. 2019 Nov 25;10(1):5352. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-13373-1.
- 64. Shao Y, Forster SC, Tsaliki E, Vervier K, Strang A, Simpson N, Kumar N, Stares MD, Rodger A, Brocklehurst P, Field N, Lawley TD. Stunted microbiota and opportunistic pathogen colonization in caesarean-section birth. Nature. 2019 Oct;574(7776):117-121. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1560-1. Epub 2019 Sep 18. PMID: 31534227; PMCID: PMC6894937.
- 65. Karmaus W, Botezan C. Does a higher number of siblings protect against the development of allergy and asthma? A review. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2002 Mar;56(3):209-17. doi: 10.1136/jech.56.3.209. PMID: 11854343; PMCID: PMC1732088.
- 66. Koplin JJ, Dharmage SC, Ponsonby AL, Tang ML, Lowe AJ, Gurrin LC, Osborne NJ, Martin PE, Robinson MN, Wake M, Hill DJ, Allen KJ; HealthNuts Investigators. Environmental and demographic risk factors for egg allergy in a population-based study of infants. Allergy. 2012 Nov;67(11):1415-22. doi: 10.1111/all.12015. Epub 2012 Sep 7. PMID: 22957661.
- 67. Fouhy F, Guinane CM, Hussey S, Wall R, Ryan CA, Dempsey EM, Murphy B, Ross RP, Fitzgerald GF, Stanton C, Cotter PD. High-throughput sequencing reveals the incomplete, short-term recovery of infant gut microbiota following parenteral antibiotic treatment with

ampicillin and gentamicin. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2012 Nov;56(11):5811-20. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00789-12. Epub 2012 Sep 4. PMID: 22948872; PMCID: PMC3486619.

- 68. Lynch SV, Wood RA, Boushey H, Bacharier LB, Bloomberg GR, Kattan M, O'Connor GT, Sandel MT, Calatroni A, Matsui E, Johnson CC, Lynn H, Visness CM, Jaffee KF, Gergen PJ, Gold DR, Wright RJ, Fujimura K, Rauch M, Busse WW, Gern JE. Effects of early-life exposure to allergens and bacteria on recurrent wheeze and atopy in urban children. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2014 Sep;134(3):593-601.e12. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.04.018. Epub 2014 Jun 4. PMID: 24908147; PMCID: PMC4151305.
- Maslowski KM, Mackay CR. Diet, gut microbiota and immune responses. Nat Immunol.
   2011 Jan;12(1):5-9. doi: 10.1038/ni0111-5. PMID: 21169997.
- 70. Zivkovic AM, German JB, Lebrilla CB, Mills DA. Human milk glycobiome and its impact on the infant gastrointestinal microbiota. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011 Mar 15;108 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):4653-8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1000083107. Epub 2010 Aug 2. PMID: 20679197; PMCID: PMC3063602.
- 71. Benno Y, Sawada K, Mitsuoka T. The intestinal microflora of infants: composition of fecal flora in breast-fed and bottle-fed infants. Microbiol Immunol. 1984;28(9):975-86. doi: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.1984.tb00754.x. PMID: 6513816.
- 72. Azad MB, Konya T, Maughan H, Guttman DS, Field CJ, Chari RS, Sears MR, Becker AB, Scott JA, Kozyrskyj AL; CHILD Study Investigators. Gut microbiota of healthy Canadian infants: profiles by mode of delivery and infant diet at 4 months. CMAJ. 2013 Mar 19;185(5):385-94. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.121189. Epub 2013 Feb 11. PMID: 23401405; PMCID: PMC3602254.
- 73. Devereux G. The increase in the prevalence of asthma and allergy: food for thought. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006 Nov;6(11):869-74. doi: 10.1038/nri1958. PMID: 17063187.
- 74. Wu GD, Chen J, Hoffmann C, Bittinger K, Chen YY, Keilbaugh SA, Bewtra M, Knights D, Walters WA, Knight R, Sinha R, Gilroy E, Gupta K, Baldassano R, Nessel L, Li H,

Bushman FD, Lewis JD. Linking long-term dietary patterns with gut microbial enterotypes. Science. 2011 Oct 7;334(6052):105-8. doi: 10.1126/science.1208344. Epub 2011 Sep 1. PMID: 21885731; PMCID: PMC3368382.

- 75. Thorburn AN, Macia L, Mackay CR. Diet, metabolites, and "western-lifestyle" inflammatory diseases. Immunity. 2014 Jun 19;40(6):833-42. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.05.014. PMID: 24950203.
- 76. Garcia-Larsen V, Ierodiakonou D, Jarrold K, Cunha S, Chivinge J, Robinson Z, Geoghegan N, Ruparelia A, Devani P, Trivella M, Leonardi-Bee J, Boyle RJ. Diet during pregnancy and infancy and risk of allergic or autoimmune disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med. 2018 Feb 28;15(2):e1002507. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002507. PMID: 29489823; PMCID: PMC5830033.
- 77. Barker DJP. Sir Richard Doll Lecture. Developmental origins of chronic disease. Public Health. 2012 Mar;126(3):185-189. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2011.11.014. Epub 2012 Feb 10. PMID: 22325676.
- 78. Netting MJ, Middleton PF, Makrides M. Does maternal diet during pregnancy and lactation affect outcomes in offspring? A systematic review of food-based approaches. Nutrition. 2014 Nov-Dec;30(11-12):1225-41. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2014.02.015. Epub 2014 Mar 12. PMID: 25280403.
- 79. Wopereis H, Oozeer R, Knipping K, Belzer C, Knol J. The first thousand days intestinal microbiology of early life: establishing a symbiosis. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. 2014 Aug;25(5):428-38. doi: 10.1111/pai.12232. Epub 2014 Jun 5. PMID: 24899389.
- 80. Grimshaw KE, Maskell J, Oliver EM, Morris RC, Foote KD, Mills EN, Margetts BM, Roberts G. Diet and food allergy development during infancy: birth cohort study findings using prospective food diary data. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2014 Feb;133(2):511-9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.05.035. Epub 2013 Jul 23. PMID: 23891269.
- 81. Wang Y, Allen KJ, Koplin JJ. Dietary intervention for preventing food allergy in children.
  Curr Opin Pediatr. 2017 Dec;29(6):704-710. doi: 10.1097/MOP.00000000000552. PMID: 28914636.
- 82. Kumar R, Caruso DM, Arguelles L, Kim JS, Schroeder A, Rowland B, Meyer KE, Schwarz KE, Birne JS, Ouyang F, Pongracic JA, Wang X. Early Life Eczema, Food Introduction, and Risk of Food Allergy in Children. Pediatr Allergy Immunol Pulmonol. 2010 Sep;23(3):175-182. doi: 10.1089/ped.2010.0014. PMID: 22375277; PMCID: PMC3281290.
- 83. Zhang GQ, Hu HJ, Liu CY, Zhang Q, Shakya S, Li ZY. Probiotics for Prevention of Atopy and Food Hypersensitivity in Early Childhood: A PRISMA-Compliant Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016 Feb;95(8):e2562. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000002562. PMID: 26937896; PMCID: PMC4778993.
- 84. Cuello-Garcia CA, Fiocchi A, Pawankar R, et al. World Allergy OrganizationMcMaster University guidelines for allergic disease prevention (GLAD-P): prebiotics. World Allergy Organ J (2016); 9:10.
- 85. Rooks MG, Garrett WS. Gut microbiota, metabolites and host immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2016 May 27;16(6):341-52. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.42. PMID: 27231050; PMCID: PMC5541232.
- 86. Castro-Rodriguez JA, Garcia-Marcos L. What Are the Effects of a Mediterranean Diet on Allergies and Asthma in Children? Front Pediatr. 2017 Apr 21;5:72. doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00072. PMID: 28484688; PMCID: PMC5399020
- 87. Castro-Rodriguez JA, Ramirez-Hernandez M, Padilla O, Pacheco-Gonzalez RM, Pérez-Fernández V, Garcia-Marcos L. Effect of foods and Mediterranean diet during pregnancy and first years of life on wheezing, rhinitis and dermatitis in preschoolers. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr). 2016 Sep-Oct;44(5):400-9. doi: 10.1016/j.aller.2015.12.002. Epub 2016 Apr 15. PMID: 27087566.

- Ramakrishna BS. Role of the gut microbiota in human nutrition and metabolism. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013 Dec;28 Suppl 4:9-17. doi: 10.1111/jgh.12294. PMID: 24251697.
- 89. Desai MS, Seekatz AM, Koropatkin NM, Kamada N, Hickey CA, Wolter M, Pudlo NA, Kitamoto S, Terrapon N, Muller A, Young VB, Henrissat B, Wilmes P, Stappenbeck TS, Núñez G, Martens EC. A Dietary Fiber-Deprived Gut Microbiota Degrades the Colonic Mucus Barrier and Enhances Pathogen Susceptibility. Cell. 2016 Nov 17;167(5):1339-1353.e21. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.10.043. PMID: 27863247; PMCID: PMC5131798.
- 90. De Filippis F, Pellegrini N, Vannini L et al. High-level adherence to a Mediterranean diet beneficially impacts the gut microbiota and associated metabolome. Gut (2016); 65:1812-21.
- 91. McKenzie C, Tan J, Macia L, Mackay CR. The nutrition-gut microbiome-physiology axis and allergic diseases. Immunol Rev. 2017 Jul;278(1):277-295. doi: 10.1111/imr.12556. PMID: 28658542.
- 92. Berni Canani R, Di Costanzo M, Leone L, Pedata M, Meli R, Calignano A. Potential beneficial effects of butyrate in intestinal and extraintestinal diseases. World J Gastroenterol. 2011 Mar 28;17(12):1519-28. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i12.1519. PMID: 21472114; PMCID: PMC3070119.
- 93. Louis P, Flint HJ. Diversity, metabolism and microbial ecology of butyrate-producing bacteria from the human large intestine. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2009 May;294(1):1-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2009.01514.x. Epub 2009 Feb 13. PMID: 19222573.
- 94. Schauber J, Svanholm C, Termén S, Iffland K, Menzel T, Scheppach W, Melcher R, Agerberth B, Lührs H, Gudmundsson GH. Expression of the cathelicidin LL-37 is modulated by short chain fatty acids in colonocytes: relevance of signalling pathways. Gut. 2003 May;52(5):735-41. doi: 10.1136/gut.52.5.735. PMID: 12692061; PMCID: PMC1773650.

- 95. Peng L, Li ZR, Green RS, Holzman IR, Lin J. Butyrate enhances the intestinal barrier by facilitating tight junction assembly via activation of AMP-activated protein kinase in Caco-2 cell monolayers. J Nutr. 2009 Sep;139(9):1619-25. doi: 10.3945/jn.109.104638. Epub 2009 Jul 22. PMID: 19625695; PMCID: PMC2728689
- 96. Kim M, Kim CH. Regulation of humoral immunity by gut microbial products. Gut Microbes. 2017 Jul 4;8(4):392-399. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2017.1299311. Epub 2017 Feb 28. Erratum for: Addendum to: Kim M, Qie Y, Park Y, Kim CH. Gut Microbial Metabolites Fuel Host Antibody Responses. Cell Host & Microbe. 2016 8 10;20(2):202-14. PMID: 28332901; PMCID: PMC5570419.
- 97. Kasubuchi M, Hasegawa S, Hiramatsu T, Ichimura A, Kimura I. Dietary gut microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, and host metabolic regulation. Nutrients. 2015 Apr 14;7(4):2839-49. doi: 10.3390/nu7042839. PMID: 25875123; PMCID: PMC4425176.
- 98. Ohira H, Fujioka Y, Katagiri C, Mamoto R, Aoyama-Ishikawa M, Amako K, Izumi Y, Nishiumi S, Yoshida M, Usami M, Ikeda M. Butyrate attenuates inflammation and lipolysis generated by the interaction of adipocytes and macrophages. J Atheroscler Thromb. 2013;20(5):425-42. doi: 10.5551/jat.15065. Epub 2013 Mar 7. PMID: 23470566.
- 99. Nastasi C, Candela M, Bonefeld CM, Geisler C, Hansen M, Krejsgaard T, Biagi E, Andersen MH, Brigidi P, Ødum N, Litman T, Woetmann A. The effect of short-chain fatty acids on human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Sci Rep. 2015 Nov 6;5:16148. doi: 10.1038/srep16148. PMID: 26541096; PMCID: PMC4635422.
- Fontenelle B, Gilbert KM. n-Butyrate anergized effector CD4+ T cells independent of regulatory T cell generation or activity. Scand J Immunol. 2012 Nov;76(5):457-63. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2012.02740.x. PMID: 22724664.
- 101. Brown AJ, Goldsworthy SM, Barnes AA, Eilert MM, Tcheang L, Daniels D, Muir AI, Wigglesworth MJ, Kinghorn I, Fraser NJ, Pike NB, Strum JC, Steplewski KM, Murdock PR, Holder JC, Marshall FH, Szekeres PG, Wilson S, Ignar DM, Foord SM, Wise A,

Dowell SJ. The Orphan G protein-coupled receptors GPR41 and GPR43 are activated by propionate and other short chain carboxylic acids. J Biol Chem. 2003 Mar 28;278(13):11312-9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M211609200. Epub 2002 Dec 19. PMID: 12496283.

- 102. Nilsson NE, Kotarsky K, Owman C, Olde B. Identification of a free fatty acid receptor, FFA2R, expressed on leukocytes and activated by short-chain fatty acids. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003 Apr 18;303(4):1047-52. doi: 10.1016/s0006-291x(03)00488-1.
  PMID: 12684041.
- 103. Thangaraju M, Cresci GA, Liu K, Ananth S, Gnanaprakasam JP, Browning DD, Mellinger JD, Smith SB, Digby GJ, Lambert NA, Prasad PD, Ganapathy V. GPR109A is a G-protein-coupled receptor for the bacterial fermentation product butyrate and functions as a tumor suppressor in colon. Cancer Res. 2009 Apr 1;69(7):2826-32. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4466. Epub 2009 Mar 10. PMID: 19276343; PMCID: PMC3747834.
- 104. Pluznick JL, Protzko RJ, Gevorgyan H, Peterlin Z, Sipos A, Han J, Brunet I, Wan LX, Rey F, Wang T, Firestein SJ, Yanagisawa M, Gordon JI, Eichmann A, Peti-Peterdi J, Caplan MJ. Olfactory receptor responding to gut microbiota-derived signals plays a role in renin secretion and blood pressure regulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013 Mar 12;110(11):4410-5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1215927110. Epub 2013 Feb 11. PMID: 23401498; PMCID: PMC3600440.
- 105. Kim MH, Kang SG, Park JH, Yanagisawa M, Kim CH. Short-chain fatty acids activate GPR41 and GPR43 on intestinal epithelial cells to promote inflammatory responses in mice. Gastroenterology. 2013 Aug;145(2):396-406.e1-10. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.04.056. Epub 2013 May 7. PMID: 23665276.
- 106. Le Poul E, Loison C, Struyf S, Springael JY, Lannoy V, Decobecq ME, Brezillon S, Dupriez V, Vassart G, Van Damme J, Parmentier M, Detheux M. Functional characterization of human receptors for short chain fatty acids and their role in

polymorphonuclear cell activation. J Biol Chem. 2003 Jul 11;278(28):25481-9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M301403200. Epub 2003 Apr 23. PMID: 12711604.

- 107. Park J, Kim M, Kang SG, Jannasch AH, Cooper B, Patterson J, Kim CH. Short-chain fatty acids induce both effector and regulatory T cells by suppression of histone deacetylases and regulation of the mTOR-S6K pathway. Mucosal Immunol. 2015 Jan;8(1):80-93. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.44. Epub 2014 Jun 11. PMID: 24917457; PMCID: PMC4263689.
- 108. Nakajima A, Nakatani A, Hasegawa S, Irie J, Ozawa K, Tsujimoto G, Suganami T, Itoh H, Kimura I. The short chain fatty acid receptor GPR43 regulates inflammatory signals in adipose tissue M2-type macrophages. PLoS One. 2017 Jul 10;12(7):e0179696. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0179696. PMID: 28692672; PMCID: PMC5503175.
- 109. Goverse G, Molenaar R, Macia L, Tan J, Erkelens MN, Konijn T, Knippenberg M, Cook EC, Hanekamp D, Veldhoen M, Hartog A, Roeselers G, Mackay CR, Mebius RE. Diet-Derived Short Chain Fatty Acids Stimulate Intestinal Epithelial Cells To Induce Mucosal Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells. J Immunol. 2017 Mar 1;198(5):2172-2181. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600165. Epub 2017 Jan 18. PMID: 28100682.
- Smith PM, Howitt MR, Panikov N, Michaud M, Gallini CA, Bohlooly-Y M,
  Glickman JN, Garrett WS. The microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, regulate
  colonic Treg cell homeostasis. Science. 2013 Aug 2;341(6145):569-73. doi:
  10.1126/science.1241165. Epub 2013 Jul 4. PMID: 23828891; PMCID: PMC3807819.
- Arpaia N, Campbell C, Fan X, Dikiy S, van der Veeken J, deRoos P, Liu H, Cross JR, Pfeffer K, Coffer PJ, Rudensky AY. Metabolites produced by commensal bacteria promote peripheral regulatory T-cell generation. Nature. 2013 Dec 19;504(7480):451-5. doi: 10.1038/nature12726. Epub 2013 Nov 13. PMID: 24226773; PMCID: PMC3869884.
- 112. Kim M, Qie Y, Park J, Kim CH. Gut Microbial Metabolites Fuel Host Antibody Responses. Cell Host Microbe. 2016 Aug 10;20(2):202-14. doi:

10.1016/j.chom.2016.07.001. Epub 2016 Jul 28. PMID: 27476413; PMCID: PMC4982788.

- 113. Furusawa Y, Obata Y, Fukuda S, Endo TA, Nakato G, Takahashi D, Nakanishi Y, Uetake C, Kato K, Kato T, Takahashi M, Fukuda NN, Murakami S, Miyauchi E, Hino S, Atarashi K, Onawa S, Fujimura Y, Lockett T, Clarke JM, Topping DL, Tomita M, Hori S, Ohara O, Morita T, Koseki H, Kikuchi J, Honda K, Hase K, Ohno H. Commensal microbe-derived butyrate induces the differentiation of colonic regulatory T cells. Nature. 2013 Dec 19;504(7480):446-50. doi: 10.1038/nature12721. Epub 2013 Nov 13. Erratum in: Nature. 2014 Feb 13;506(7487):254. PMID: 24226770.
- 114. Tao R, de Zoeten EF, Ozkaynak E, Chen C, Wang L, Porrett PM, Li B, Turka LA, Olson EN, Greene MI, Wells AD, Hancock WW. Deacetylase inhibition promotes the generation and function of regulatory T cells. Nat Med. 2007 Nov;13(11):1299-307. doi: 10.1038/nm1652. Epub 2007 Oct 7. PMID: 17922010.
- Sandin A, Bråbäck L, Norin E, Björkstén B. Faecal short chain fatty acid pattern and allergy in early childhood. Acta Paediatr. 2009 May;98(5):823-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2008.01215.x. Epub 2009 Jan 27. PMID: 19173682.
- 116. Aitoro R, Paparo L, Di Costanzo M, et al. Breast milk butyrate as protective factor against food allergy. Dig Liver Dis (2015);e237-e276.
- 117. Paparo L, Nocerino R, Aitoro R et al. Epigenetic mechanism elicited butyrate in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from children with IgE-mediated cow milk allergy. Dig Liver Dis (2015); e237-e276.
- 118. Nowak-Węgrzyn A, Chatchatee P. Mechanisms of Tolerance Induction. Ann Nutr Metab. 2017;70 Suppl 2:7-24. doi: 10.1159/000457915. Epub 2017 May 19. PMID: 28521317.
- Wang H, Ji Y, Wu G, Sun K, Sun Y, Li W, Wang B, He B, Zhang Q, Dai Z, Wu Z. 1-Tryptophan Activates Mammalian Target of Rapamycin and Enhances Expression of Tight Junction Proteins in Intestinal Porcine Epithelial Cells. J Nutr. 2015 Jun;145(6):1156-62. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.209817. Epub 2015 Apr 15. PMID: 25878205.

- 120. Hashimoto T, Perlot T, Rehman A, Trichereau J, Ishiguro H, Paolino M, Sigl V, Hanada T, Hanada R, Lipinski S, Wild B, Camargo SM, Singer D, Richter A, Kuba K, Fukamizu A, Schreiber S, Clevers H, Verrey F, Rosenstiel P, Penninger JM. ACE2 links amino acid malnutrition to microbial ecology and intestinal inflammation. Nature. 2012 Jul 25;487(7408):477-81. doi: 10.1038/nature11228. PMID: 22837003; PMCID: PMC7095315.
- 121. Bessede A, Gargaro M, Pallotta MT, Matino D, Servillo G, Brunacci C, Bicciato S, Mazza EM, Macchiarulo A, Vacca C, Iannitti R, Tissi L, Volpi C, Belladonna ML, Orabona C, Bianchi R, Lanz TV, Platten M, Della Fazia MA, Piobbico D, Zelante T, Funakoshi H, Nakamura T, Gilot D, Denison MS, Guillemin GJ, DuHadaway JB, Prendergast GC, Metz R, Geffard M, Boon L, Pirro M, Iorio A, Veyret B, Romani L, Grohmann U, Fallarino F, Puccetti P. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor control of a disease tolerance defence pathway. Nature. 2014 Jul 10;511(7508):184-90. doi: 10.1038/nature13323. PMID: 24930766; PMCID: PMC4098076.
- Pilotte L, Larrieu P, Stroobant V, Colau D, Dolusic E, Frédérick R, De Plaen E, Uyttenhove C, Wouters J, Masereel B, Van den Eynde BJ. Reversal of tumoral immune resistance by inhibition of tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012 Feb 14;109(7):2497-502. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1113873109. Epub 2012 Jan 30. PMID: 22308364; PMCID: PMC3289319.
- Fallarino F, Grohmann U, Vacca C, Bianchi R, Orabona C, Spreca A, Fioretti MC,
   Puccetti P. T cell apoptosis by tryptophan catabolism. Cell Death Differ. 2002
   Oct;9(10):1069-77. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4401073. PMID: 12232795.
- 124. Spits H, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, Koyasu S, Locksley RM, McKenzie AN, Mebius RE, Powrie F, Vivier E. Innate lymphoid cells--a proposal for uniform nomenclature. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013 Feb;13(2):145-9. doi: 10.1038/nri3365. PMID: 23348417.

- 125. Lanis JM, Alexeev EE, Curtis VF, Kitzenberg DA, Kao DJ, Battista KD, Gerich ME, Glover LE, Kominsky DJ, Colgan SP. Tryptophan metabolite activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor regulates IL-10 receptor expression on intestinal epithelia. Mucosal Immunol. 2017 Sep;10(5):1133-1144. doi: 10.1038/mi.2016.133. Epub 2017 Jan 18. PMID: 28098246; PMCID: PMC5515702.
- 126. Venkatesh M, Mukherjee S, Wang H, Li H, Sun K, Benechet AP, Qiu Z, Maher L, Redinbo MR, Phillips RS, Fleet JC, Kortagere S, Mukherjee P, Fasano A, Le Ven J, Nicholson JK, Dumas ME, Khanna KM, Mani S. Symbiotic bacterial metabolites regulate gastrointestinal barrier function via the xenobiotic sensor PXR and Toll-like receptor 4. Immunity. 2014 Aug 21;41(2):296-310. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.014. Epub 2014 Jul 24. PMID: 25065623; PMCID: PMC4142105.
- 127. Hammerschmidt-Kamper C, Biljes D, Merches K, Steiner I, Daldrup T, Bol-Schoenmakers M, Pieters RHH, Esser C. Indole-3-carbinol, a plant nutrient and AhR-Ligand precursor, supports oral tolerance against OVA and improves peanut allergy symptoms in mice. PLoS One. 2017 Jun 30;12(6):e0180321. doi:

10.1371/journal.pone.0180321. PMID: 28666018; PMCID: PMC5493375.

- Ursell LK, Metcalf JL, Parfrey LW, Knight R. Defining the human microbiome. Nutr Rev. 2012 Aug;70 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S38-44. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2012.00493.x.
   PMID: 22861806; PMCID: PMC3426293.
- 129. Zhao L. Genomics: The tale of our other genome. Nature. 2010 Jun 17;465(7300):879-80. doi: 10.1038/465879a. PMID: 20559375.
- De Filippis, F., Vitaglione, P., Cuomo, R., Berni Canani, R., Ercolini, D. 2018.
   Dietary interventions to modulate the gut microbiome how far away are we from precision medicine. Inflamm. Bowel Dis. Inflamm. Bow. Dis.24(10):2142-2154.

- Ley RE, Peterson DA, Gordon JI. Ecological and evolutionary forces shaping microbial diversity in the human intestine. Cell. 2006 Feb 24;124(4):837-48. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.017. PMID: 16497592.
- 132. Zoetendal EG, von Wright A, Vilpponen-Salmela T, Ben-Amor K, Akkermans AD, de Vos WM. Mucosa-associated bacteria in the human gastrointestinal tract are uniformly distributed along the colon and differ from the community recovered from feces. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2002 Jul;68(7):3401-7. doi: 10.1128/aem.68.7.3401-3407.2002. PMID: 12089021; PMCID: PMC126800.
- Uhr GT, Dohnalová L, Thaiss CA. The Dimension of Time in Host-Microbiome Interactions. mSystems. 2019 Feb 19;4(1):e00216-18. doi: 10.1128/mSystems.00216-18.
   PMID: 30801030; PMCID: PMC6381226.
- 134. Knights D, Ward TL, McKinlay CE, Miller H, Gonzalez A, McDonald D, Knight R.
  Rethinking "enterotypes". Cell Host Microbe. 2014 Oct 8;16(4):433-7. doi:
  10.1016/j.chom.2014.09.013. PMID: 25299329; PMCID: PMC5558460.
- Falony G, Joossens M, Vieira-Silva S, Wang J, Darzi Y, Faust K, Kurilshikov A, Bonder MJ, Valles-Colomer M, Vandeputte D, Tito RY, Chaffron S, Rymenans L, Verspecht C, De Sutter L, Lima-Mendez G, D'hoe K, Jonckheere K, Homola D, Garcia R, Tigchelaar EF, Eeckhaudt L, Fu J, Henckaerts L, Zhernakova A, Wijmenga C, Raes J. Population-level analysis of gut microbiome variation. Science. 2016 Apr 29;352(6285):560-4. doi: 10.1126/science.aad3503. Epub 2016 Apr 28. PMID: 27126039.
- Gilbert JA, Blaser MJ, Caporaso JG, Jansson JK, Lynch SV, Knight R. Current understanding of the human microbiome. Nat Med. 2018 Apr 10;24(4):392-400. doi: 10.1038/nm.4517. PMID: 29634682; PMCID: PMC7043356.
- Schloissnig S, Arumugam M, Sunagawa S, Mitreva M, Tap J, Zhu A, Waller A,Mende DR, Kultima JR, Martin J, Kota K, Sunyaev SR, Weinstock GM, Bork P. Genomic

variation landscape of the human gut microbiome. Nature. 2013 Jan 3;493(7430):45-50. doi: 10.1038/nature11711. Epub 2012 Dec 5. PMID: 23222524; PMCID: PMC3536929.

- 138. Zhu A, Sunagawa S, Mende DR, Bork P. Inter-individual differences in the gene content of human gut bacterial species. Genome Biol. 2015 Apr 21;16(1):82. doi: 10.1186/s13059-015-0646-9. PMID: 25896518; PMCID: PMC4428241.
- Almeida A, Mitchell AL, Boland M, Forster SC, Gloor GB, Tarkowska A, Lawley TD, Finn RD. A new genomic blueprint of the human gut microbiota. Nature. 2019 Apr;568(7753):499-504. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-0965-1. Epub 2019 Feb 11. PMID: 30745586; PMCID: PMC6784870.
- Pasolli E, Asnicar F, Manara S, Zolfo M, Karcher N, Armanini F, Beghini F, Manghi P, Tett A, Ghensi P, Collado MC, Rice BL, DuLong C, Morgan XC, Golden CD, Quince C, Huttenhower C, Segata N. Extensive Unexplored Human Microbiome Diversity Revealed by Over 150,000 Genomes from Metagenomes Spanning Age, Geography, and Lifestyle. Cell. 2019 Jan 24;176(3):649-662.e20. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.01.001. Epub 2019 Jan 17. PMID: 30661755; PMCID: PMC6349461.
- 141. Zeevi D, Korem T, Godneva A, Bar N, Kurilshikov A, Lotan-Pompan M,
  Weinberger A, Fu J, Wijmenga C, Zhernakova A, Segal E. Structural variation in the gut microbiome associates with host health. Nature. 2019 Apr;568(7750):43-48. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1065-y. Epub 2019 Mar 27. PMID: 30918406.
- 142. Fraher MH, O'Toole PW, Quigley EM. Techniques used to characterize the gut microbiota: a guide for the clinician. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012 Mar 27;9(6):312-22. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2012.44. PMID: 22450307.
- 143. Nicholson JK, Lindon JC. Systems biology: Metabonomics. Nature. 2008 Oct 23;455(7216):1054-6. doi: 10.1038/4551054a. PMID: 18948945.

- Moco S, Collino S, Rezzi S, Martin FP. Metabolomics perspectives in pediatric research. Pediatr Res. 2013 Apr;73(4 Pt 2):570-6. doi: 10.1038/pr.2013.1. Epub 2013 Jan 11. PMID: 23314292.
- 145. Vernocchi P, Del Chierico F, Putignani L. Gut Microbiota Profiling: Metabolomics
   Based Approach to Unravel Compounds Affecting Human Health. Front Microbiol. 2016
   Jul 26;7:1144. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01144. PMID: 27507964; PMCID: PMC4960240.
- Bashiardes S, Godneva A, Elinav E, Segal E. Towards utilization of the human genome and microbiome for personalized nutrition. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2018 Jun;51:57-63. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2017.11.013. Epub 2017 Dec 7. PMID: 29223004.
- Berni Canani R, Sangwan N, Stefka AT, Nocerino R, Paparo L, Aitoro R, Calignano A, Khan AA, Gilbert JA, Nagler CR. Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG-supplemented formula expands butyrate-producing bacterial strains in food allergic infants. ISME J. 2016 Mar;10(3):742-50. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2015.151. Epub 2015 Sep 22. PMID: 26394008; PMCID: PMC4817673.
- 148. Eidelman AI, Schanler RJ, Johnston M, et al. Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. Pediatrics 2012;129:e827–41.
- Mullins RJ, Wainstein BK, Barnes EH, et al. Increases in anaphylaxis fatalities in Australia from 1997 to 2013. Clin Exp Allergy (2016);46:1099-110
- 150. Chiu CY, Liao SL, Su KW, et al. Exclusive or partial breastfeeding for 6 months Is associated with reduced milk sensitization and risk of eczema in early childhood: the PATCH birth cohort study. Medicine (Baltimore) (2016); 95:e3391.
- Jonsson K, Barman M, Moberg S, et al. Fat intake and breast milk fatty acid composition in farming and nonfarming women and allergy development in the offspring.
   Pediatr Res (2016); 79:114–123.
- 152. Hoddinott P, Tappin D, Wright C. Breast feeding. BMJ (2008);336:881-7

- 153. Rogier EW, Frantz AL, Bruno ME, et al. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA (2014); 111:3074–3079
- 154. Macpherson AJ and Ganal-Vonarburg SC. Checkpoint for gut microbes after birth. Nature (2018); 560: 436–438
- 155. Friedman NJ and Zeiger RS. The role of breast-feeding in the development of allergies and asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2005); 115: 1238–48
- 156. Munblit D, Peroni DG, Boix-Amorós A, et al. Human Milk and Allergic Diseases:An Unsolved Puzzle. Nutrients (2017);9
- 157. Gartner LM, Morton J, Lawrence RA, et al. Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. Pediatrics 2005;115: 496–506
- Picciano MF. Nutrient composition of human milk. Pediatr Clin North Am (2001);48:53–67; Innis SM. Human milk: Maternal dietary lipids and infant development.
  Proc Nutr Soc (2007); 66:397–404
- 159. Koletzko B. Human milk lipids. Ann Nutr Metab (2016);69 Suppl 2:28–40)
- 160. Jiang Z, Liu Y, Zhu Y, et al. Characteristic chromatographic fingerprint study of short-chain fatty acids in human milk, infant formula, pure milk and fermented milk by gas chromatography–mass spectrometry. Int J Food Sci Nutr. (2016); 67:632-640
- 161. Tost J. DNA methylation: an introduction to the biology and the disease-associated changes of a promising biomarker.Mol. Biotechnol. (2010);44: 71–81;
- 162. Bird A. DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. Genes Dev. (2002);16:6–21).
- Moore LD, Le T, Fan G. DNA methylation and its basic function.Neuropsychopharmacology (2013);38: 23–38;
- 164. Smith ZD, Meissner A. DNA methylation: roles in mammalian development. Nat.Rev. Genet. (2013);14:204–220;

- 165. Robertson KD. DNA methylation, methyltransferases, and cancer. Oncogene (2001);20:3139–3155;
- Jurkowska RZ, Jeltsch A. Mechanisms and biological roles of DNA methyltransferases and DNA methylation: from past achievements to future challenges.
   Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. (2016); 945:1–17)
- 167. Kouzarides T. Chromatin modifications and their function. Cell (2007); 128:693–705.;
- Rothbart SB, Strahl BD. Interpreting the language of histone and DNA modifications. Biochim. Biophys. Acta (2014); 1839: 627–643).
- Ernst J, Kellis M. ChromHMM: automating chromatin-state discovery and characterization. Nat. Methods (2012); 9, 215–216;
- Hoffman MM, Ernst J, Wilder SP et al. Integrative annotation of chromatin elementsfrom ENCODE data. Nucleic Acids Res. (2013); 41: 827–841
- 171. Jin B, Li Y, Robertson KD. DNA methylation: superior or subordinate in the epigenetic hierarchy? Genes Cancer (2011); 2:607–617
- Saetrom P, Snove O Jr., Rossi JJ. Epigenetics and microRNAs. Pediatr. Res. (2007);
  61(5 Pt 2), R17–R23;
- 173. Ha M, Kim VN. Regulation of microRNA biogenesis. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. (2014);15:509–524).
- 174. Piletic K, Kunej T. MicroRNA epigenetic signatures in human disease. Arch. Toxicol. (20169; 90:2405–2419;
- Eulalio A, Mano M. MicroRNA screening and the quest for biologically relevant targets. J. Biomol. Screen. (2015);20:1003–1017;
- Kala R, Peek GW, Hardy TM, Tollefsbol TO. MicroRNAs: an emerging science in cancer epigenetics. J. Clin. Bioinform. (2013);3: 6.;

- 177. Chuang JC, Jones PA. Epigenetics and microRNAs. Pediatr. Res. (2007);61(5 Pt 2), R24–R29).
- 178. Liang Y, Chang C, Lu Q. The genetics and epigenetics of atopic dermatitis-filaggrin and other polymorphisms. Clin. Rev. Allergy Immunol. (2016);51: 315–328.;
- 179. Bin L, Leung DY. Genetic and epigenetic studies of atopic dermatitis. Allergy Asthma Clin. Immunol. (2016);12:52;
- Brook PO, Perry MM, Adcock IM, Durham AL. Epigenome-modifying tools in asthma. Epigenomics (2015);7:1017–1032;
- 181. Moheimani F, Hsu AC, Reid AT et al. The genetic and epigenetic landscapes of the epithelium in asthma. Respir. Res. (2016); 17:119;
- 182. Perry MM, Adcock IM, Chung KF. Role of microRNAs in allergic asthma: present and future. Curr. Opin. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (2015);15:156–162).
- 183. Miller JA, Witherow DS, Carson S. A laboratory-intensive course on RNA interference and model organisms. CBE Life Sci. Educ. (2009); 8: 316–325
- Potaczek DP, Garn H, Unger SD, Renz H. Antisense molecules: a new class of drugs. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (2016); 137:1334–1346
- Kala R, Peek GW, Hardy TM, Tollefsbol TO. MicroRNAs: an emerging science in cancer epigenetics. J. Clin. Bioinform. (2013);3: 6;
- 186. Chuang JC, Jones PA. Epigenetics and microRNAs. Pediatr. Res. (2007);61(5 Pt 2), R24–R29;
- 187. Sato F, Tsuchiya S, Meltzer SJ, Shimizu K. MicroRNAs and epigenetics. FEBS J.
  (2011);278: 1598–1609).
- 188. Martino D, Joo JE, Sexton-Oates A, et al. Epigenome-wide association study reveals longitudinally stable DNAmethylation differences in CD4+ T cells from children with IgEmediated foodallergy. Epigenetics (2014);9:998–1006;

- 189. Syed A, Garcia MA, Lyu SC, Bucayu R, Kohli A, Ishida S, et al. Peanut oralimmunotherapy results in increased antigen-induced regulatory T-cellfunction and hypomethylation of forkhead box protein 3 (FOXP3). J AllergyClin Immunol (2014);133:500–10;
- 190. Hong X, Hao K, Ladd-Acosta C, et al. Genome-wideassociation study identifies peanut allergy-specific loci and evidence ofepigenetic mediation in US children. Nat Commun (2015);6:6304;
- 191. Berni Canani R, Paparo L, Nocerino R, et al. Differences in DNA methylation profile of Th1and Th2 cytokine genes are associated with tolerance acquisition in children with IgE-mediated cow's milk allergy. Clin Epigenetics. (2015);7:38;
- 192. Paparo L, Nocerino R, Cosenza L, et al. Epigenetic features of FoxP3 in children with cow's milk allergy. Clin Epigenetics. (2016);8:86;
- 193. D'Argenio, V., Del Monaco, V., Paparo, L., et al. Altered miR-193a-5p expression in children with cow's milk allergy. Allergy (2018); 73:379-86129).
- 194. Martino D, Joo JE, Sexton-Oates A, et al. Epigenome-wide association study reveals longitudinally stable DNAmethylation differences in CD4+ T cells from children with IgEmediated foodallergy. Epigenetics (2014);9:998–1006.
- 195. Kondo N, Kobayashi Y, Shinoda S, et al. Cord blood lymphocyte responses to food antigens for the prediction of allergic disorders. Arch Dis Child (1992);67:1003–7;
- Prescott SL, Macaubas C, Smallacombe T, et al. Reciprocal age-related patterns of allergen-specific T-cell immunity in normalvs. atopic infants. Clin Exp Allergy (1998);28 S5:39–44;
- 197. Tang ML, Kemp AS, Thorburn J, Hill DJ. Reduced interferon-gamma secretionin neonates and subsequent atopy. Lancet (1994);344:983–5

- 198. Hong X, Hao K, Ladd-Acosta C, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies peanut allergy-specific loci and evidence ofepigenetic mediation in US children. Nat Commun (2015); 6:6304
- 199. Syed A, Garcia MA, Lyu SC, Bucayu R, Kohli A, Ishida S, et al. Peanut oralimmunotherapy results in increased antigen-induced regulatory T-cellfunction and hypomethylation of forkhead box protein 3 (FOXP3). J AllergyClin Immunol (2014); 133:500–10
- 200. David Martino, Melanie Neeland, Thanh Dang, et al. Epigenetic dysregulation of naive CD4+ T-cell activation genes in childhood food allergy. Nature communications (2018); 9:3308.
- 201. Drong AW, Nicholson G, Hedman AK, et al. The presence of methylation quantitative trait loci indicates a direct geneticinfluence on the level of DNA methylation in adipose tissue. PLoS One (2013); 8:e55923
- 202. Liu Y, Li X, Aryee MJ, et al. GeMes, clusters of DNA methylation under genetic control, can inform genetic and epigenetic analysis of disease. Am J Hum Genet (2014); 94:485–95.)
- 203. Wu WK., et al. Optimization of fecal sample processing for microbiome study The journey from bathroom to bench. J Formos Med Assoc. 2019; 118:545-555.
- 204. Berni Canani R, Di Costanzo M, Bedogni G, Amoroso A, Cosenza L, Di Scala C, Granata V, Nocerino R. Extensively hydrolyzed casein formula containing Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG reduces the occurrence of other allergic manifestations in children with cow's milk allergy: 3-year randomized controlled trial. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017 Jun;139(6):1906-1913.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.10.050. Epub 2016 Dec 30. PMID: 28043872.
- Schmieder, R., Edwards, R. Quality control and preprocessing of metagenomic datasets. Bioinformatics 27(6), 863-864 (2011).

- 206. Beghini, F., et al. Integrating taxonomic, functional, and strain-level profiling of diverse microbial communities with bioBakery 3. Preprint at https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.11.19.388223v1 (2021).
- 207. Franzosa EA, McIver LJ, Rahnavard G, Thompson LR, Schirmer M, Weingart G, Lipson KS, Knight R, Caporaso JG, Segata N, Huttenhower C. Species-level functional profiling of metagenomes and metatranscriptomes. Nat Methods. 2018 Nov;15(11):962-968. doi: 10.1038/s41592-018-0176-y. Epub 2018 Oct 30. PMID: 30377376; PMCID: PMC6235447.
- 208. Zhu W, Lomsadze A, Borodovsky M. Ab initio gene identification in metagenomic sequences. Nucleic Acids Res. 2010 Jul;38(12):e132. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq275. Epub 2010 Apr 19. PMID: 20403810; PMCID: PMC2896542.
- 209. Henke MT, Kenny DJ, Cassilly CD, Vlamakis H, Xavier RJ, Clardy J.
  Ruminococcus gnavus, a member of the human gut microbiome associated with Crohn's disease, produces an inflammatory polysaccharide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019 Jun 25;116(26):12672-12677. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1904099116. Epub 2019 Jun 10. PMID: 31182571; PMCID: PMC6601261.
- 210. Ondov BD, Treangen TJ, Melsted P, Mallonee AB, Bergman NH, Koren S, Phillippy AM. Mash: fast genome and metagenome distance estimation using MinHash. Genome Biol. 2016 Jun 20;17(1):132. doi: 10.1186/s13059-016-0997-x. PMID: 27323842; PMCID: PMC4915045.
- 211. Letunic I, Bork P. Interactive Tree Of Life (iTOL) v4: recent updates and new developments. Nucleic Acids Res. 2019 Jul 2;47(W1):W256-W259. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkz239. PMID: 30931475; PMCID: PMC6602468.
- 212. Pasolli, E., Truong, D.T., Malik, F., Waldron, L., Segata, N. Machine learning metaanalysis of large metagenomic datasets: tools and biological insights. PLoS Comput Biol 12(7), e1004977 (2016).

- 213. Spevacek AR, Smilowitz JT, Chin EL et al. J Nutr (2015); 145:1698–708.
- 214. Navid F, Boniotto M, Walker C, et al. Induction of regulatory T cells by a murine β defensin. J Immunol. (2012); 188:735-43.

215. Trinchese et al Nutriens 2018

- 216. O Pabst and A M Mowat. Oral tolerance to food protein Mucosal Immunol. (2012);
  5: 232–23.
- 217. Paparo L, Di Costanzo M, Di Scala C, et al. The influence of early life nutrition on epigenetic regulatory mechanisms of the immune system. Nutrients. (2014); 6:4706-19
- Beier UH, Wang L, Han R, et al. Histone deacetylases 6 and 9 and sirtuin-1 control
   Foxp3+ regulatory T cell function through shared and isoform-specific mechanisms. Sci
   Signal. (2012); 5:45
- 219. van Loosdregt J, Brunen D, Fleskens V, et al. Rapid temporal control of Foxp3protein degradation by sirtuin-1. PLoS ONE. (2011); 6:e 19047
- 220. Tao R, de Zoeten EF, Ozkaynak E, et al. Deacetylase inhibition promotes the generation and function of regulatory T cells. Nat Med. (2007); 13:1299–1307;
- Beier UH, Wang L, Bhatti TR, et al. Sirtuin-1 targeting promotes Foxp3+ T regulatory cell function and prolongs allograft survival. Mol Cell Biol. (2011); 31:1022–
   1029;
- 222. van Loosdregt J, Brunen D, Fleskens V, et al. Rapid temporal control of Foxp3 protein degradation by sirtuin-1. PLoS ONE. (2011); 6:e19047;
- Li B, Samanta A, Song X, et al. FOXP3 interactions with histone acetyltransferase and class II histone deacetylases are required for repression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. (2007); 104:4571–4576.;
- 224. Tao R, de Zoeten EF, Ozkaynak E, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors and transplantation. Curr Opin Immunol. (2007); 19:589–595.).

- 225. Sharon Chinthrajah R, Hernandez JD, Boyd SD, et al. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of food allergy and food tolerance. (2016); 137:984–997
- 226. Hammad H and Lambrecht BN. Barrier Epithelial Cells and the Control of Type 2 Immunity. Immunity. (2015); 43: 29-40.
- 227. Li-Ping Thio C, Po-Yu Chi, Alan Chuan-Ying Lai, and Ya-Jen Chang. Regulation of type 2 innate lymphoid cell–dependent airway hyperreactivity by butyrate. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2018 doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.02.032.
- 228. Chen G, Ran X, Li B, et al. Sodium Butyrate Inhibits Inflammation and Maintains Epithelium Barrier Integrity in a TNBS-induced Inflammatory Bowel Disease Mice Model. EBioMedicine (2018); 30:317-325.
- Gaudier E, Rival M, Buisine MP, et al. Butyrate enemas upregulate Muc genes expression but decrease adherent mucus thickness in mice colon. Physiol Res. (2009); 58:111-9.
- 230. Corfield AP1, Myerscough N, Longman R. Mucins and mucosal protection in the gastrointestinal tract: new prospects for mucins in the pathology of gastrointestinal disease. Gut. (2000); 47:589-94
- 231. Shan M, Gentile M, Yeiser JR, et al. Mucus enhances gut homeostasis and oral tolerance by delivering immunoregulatory signals Science. (2013); 342:447-53.
- 232. Roediger WE. Utilization of nutrients by isolated epithelial cells of the rat colon.Gastroenterology. (1982);83(2):424-9.
- 233. Navid F, Boniotto M, Walker C, et al. Induction of regulatory T cells by a murine βdefensin. J Immunol. (2012); 188:735-43.
- Aguilera-Aguirre L. and Bacsi A. Mitochondrial dysfunction increases allergic airway inflammation. J Immunol (2009); 183:5379-87.;

- 235. Kim, S.R. and Kim, D.I. NLRP3 inflammasome activation by mitochondrial ROS in bronchial epithelial cells is required for allergic inflammation. Cell Death Dis (2014), 5:e1498.;
- 236. Iyer, D., Mishra, N. Mitochondrial Function in Allergic Disease. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep (2017), 17:29;
- 237. Qi, S., Barnig, C. Effect of nasal allergen challenge in allergic rhinitis on mitochondrial function of peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol (2017), 118: 367-369.
- 238. Mitsui, M., Shoda, T. Factors Associated with Development of Food Allergy in Young Children after Liver Transplantation: A Retrospective Analysis of 10 Years' Experience. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract (2017);5: 1698-1706.
- 239. Watanabe, T., Katsukura, H. Helper CD4+ T cells for IgE response to a dietary antigen develop in the liver. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2003); 111:1375-85.
- 240. Sarah Maria, Stephanie P. Shu, Judy K et al. Longitudinal analysis of butyrate in human milk: a GEHM study of three global cohorts through the first year of lactation ESPGHAN (2015)
- 241. Koh A, De Vadder F, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Bäckhed F. From Dietary Fiber to Host Physiology: Short-Chain Fatty Acids as Key Bacterial Metabolites. Cell. (2016); 165:1332-1345
- 242. Thorburn AN, McKenzie CI, Shen S, et al. Evidence that asthma is a developmental origin disease influenced by maternal diet and bacterial metabolites. Nat Commun. (2015);
  6:7320.
- 243. Grimshaw KE, Maskell J, Oliver EM, et al. Diet and food allergy development during infancy: birth cohort study findings using prospective food diary data. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2014); 133:511-9.

- 244. Jian Tan, Craig McKenzie, Peter J. Vuillermin, et al. Dietary Fiber and Bacterial SCFA Enhance Oral Tolerance and Protect against Food Allergy through Diverse Cellular Pathways. Cell Reports. (2016); 15: 2809-2824
- Lee KH, Song Y, Wu W, Yu K, Zhang G. The gut microbiota, environmental factors, and links to the development of food allergy. Clin Mol Allergy. 2020 Apr 2;18:5. doi: 10.1186/s12948-020-00120-x. PMID: 32265597; PMCID: PMC7119288.
- Chua HH, Chou HC, Tung YL, Chiang BL, Liao CC, Liu HH, Ni YH. Intestinal Dysbiosis Featuring Abundance of Ruminococcus gnavus Associates With Allergic Diseases in Infants. Gastroenterology. 2018 Jan;154(1):154-167. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.09.006. Epub 2017 Sep 12. PMID: 28912020.
- 247. Feehley T, Plunkett CH, Bao R, Choi Hong SM, Culleen E, Belda-Ferre P, Campbell E, Aitoro R, Nocerino R, Paparo L, Andrade J, Antonopoulos DA, Berni Canani R, Nagler CR. Healthy infants harbor intestinal bacteria that protect against food allergy. Nat Med. 2019 Mar;25(3):448-453. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0324-z. Epub 2019 Jan 14. PMID: 30643289; PMCID: PMC6408964.
- 248. Galazzo G, van Best N, Bervoets L, Dapaah IO, Savelkoul PH, Hornef MW; GI-MDH consortium, Lau S, Hamelmann E, Penders J. Development of the Microbiota and Associations With Birth Mode, Diet, and Atopic Disorders in a Longitudinal Analysis of Stool Samples, Collected From Infancy Through Early Childhood. Gastroenterology. 2020 May;158(6):1584-1596. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.01.024. Epub 2020 Jan 18. PMID: 31958431.
- 249. Bao R, Hesser LA, He Z, Zhou X, Nadeau KC, Nagler CR. Fecal microbiome and metabolome differ in healthy and food-allergic twins. J Clin Invest. 2021 Jan 19;131(2):e141935. doi: 10.1172/JCI141935. PMID: 33463536; PMCID: PMC7810484.
- 250. Jang SE, Lim SM, Jeong JJ, Jang HM, Lee HJ, Han MJ, Kim DH. Gastrointestinal inflammation by gut microbiota disturbance induces memory impairment in mice. Mucosal

Immunol. 2018 Mar;11(2):369-379. doi: 10.1038/mi.2017.49. Epub 2017 Jun 14. PMID: 28612842.

- 251. Mahdavinia M, Engen PA, LoSavio PS, Naqib A, Khan RJ, Tobin MC, Mehta A, Kota R, Preite NZ, Codispoti CD, Tajudeen BA, Schleimer RP, Green SJ, Keshavarzian A, Batra PS. The nasal microbiome in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis: Analyzing the effects of atopy and bacterial functional pathways in 111 patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2018 Jul;142(1):287-290.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.01.033. Epub 2018 Feb 13. PMID: 29452201; PMCID: PMC6890201.
- 252. Ni J, Shen TD, Chen EZ, Bittinger K, Bailey A, Roggiani M, Sirota-Madi A, Friedman ES, Chau L, Lin A, Nissim I, Scott J, Lauder A, Hoffmann C, Rivas G, Albenberg L, Baldassano RN, Braun J, Xavier RJ, Clish CB, Yudkoff M, Li H, Goulian M, Bushman FD, Lewis JD, Wu GD. A role for bacterial urease in gut dysbiosis and Crohn's disease. Sci Transl Med. 2017 Nov 15;9(416):eaah6888. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aah6888. PMID: 29141885; PMCID: PMC5808452.
- 253. Kim, S., Wairkar, Y.P., Daniels, R.W., Diantonio, A. (2010). The novel endosomal membrane protein Ema interacts with the class C Vps-HOPS complex to promote endosomal maturation. J. Cell Biol. 188(5): 717--734.
- 254. Pizarro-Cerdá J, Cossart P. Bacterial adhesion and entry into host cells. Cell. 2006
  Feb 24;124(4):715-27. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.012. PMID: 16497583.
- 255. De Filippis, F., Pasolli, E., Ercolini, D. 2020. Newly explored Faecalibacterium diversity is connected to age, lifestyle, geography, and disease. Curr. Biol. 30:1-12.
- 256. Tett A, Huang KD, Asnicar F, Fehlner-Peach H, Pasolli E, Karcher N, Armanini F, Manghi P, Bonham K, Zolfo M, De Filippis F, Magnabosco C, Bonneau R, Lusingu J, Amuasi J, Reinhard K, Rattei T, Boulund F, Engstrand L, Zink A, Collado MC, Littman DR, Eibach D, Ercolini D, Rota-Stabelli O, Huttenhower C, Maixner F, Segata N. The Prevotella copri Complex Comprises Four Distinct Clades Underrepresented in Westernized

Populations. Cell Host Microbe. 2019 Nov 13;26(5):666-679.e7. doi:

10.1016/j.chom.2019.08.018. Epub 2019 Oct 10. PMID: 31607556; PMCID: PMC6854460.

- 257. Karcher N, Pasolli E, Asnicar F, Huang KD, Tett A, Manara S, Armanini F, Bain D, Duncan SH, Louis P, Zolfo M, Manghi P, Valles-Colomer M, Raffaetà R, Rota-Stabelli O, Collado MC, Zeller G, Falush D, Maixner F, Walker AW, Huttenhower C, Segata N. Analysis of 1321 Eubacterium rectale genomes from metagenomes uncovers complex phylogeographic population structure and subspecies functional adaptations. Genome Biol. 2020 Jun 8;21(1):138. doi: 10.1186/s13059-020-02042-y. PMID: 32513234; PMCID: PMC7278147.
- 258. Meslier V, Laiola M, Roager HM, De Filippis F, Roume H, Quinquis B, Giacco R, Mennella I, Ferracane R, Pons N, Pasolli E, Rivellese A, Dragsted LO, Vitaglione P, Ehrlich SD, Ercolini D. Mediterranean diet intervention in overweight and obese subjects lowers plasma cholesterol and causes changes in the gut microbiome and metabolome independently of energy intake. Gut. 2020 Jul;69(7):1258-1268. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-320438. Epub 2020 Feb 19. PMID: 32075887; PMCID: PMC7306983.
- Joossens M, Huys G, Cnockaert M, De Preter V, Verbeke K, Rutgeerts P,
  Vandamme P, Vermeire S. Dysbiosis of the faecal microbiota in patients with Crohn's disease and their unaffected relatives. Gut. 2011 May;60(5):631-7. doi: 10.1136/gut.2010.223263. Epub 2011 Jan 5. PMID: 21209126.

260. Hall AB, Yassour M, Sauk J, Garner A, Jiang X, Arthur T, Lagoudas GK, Vatanen T, Fornelos N, Wilson R, Bertha M, Cohen M, Garber J, Khalili H, Gevers D, Ananthakrishnan AN, Kugathasan S, Lander ES, Blainey P, Vlamakis H, Xavier RJ, Huttenhower C. A novel Ruminococcus gnavus clade enriched in inflammatory bowel disease patients. Genome Med. 2017 Nov 28;9(1):103. doi: 10.1186/s13073-017-0490-5. PMID: 29183332; PMCID: PMC5704459.

- Bjorksten B, Naaber P, Sepp E, Mikelsaar M. The intestinal microflora in allergic
   Estonian and Swedish 2–year–old children. Clin Exp Allergy (1999) 29:342–6. 66.
- 262. Thompson–Chagoyan OC, Vieites JM, Maldonado J, Edwards C, Gil A. Changes in faecal microbiota of infants with cow's milk protein allergy a Spanish prospective case– control 6–month follow–up study. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. (2010) 21:e394–e400. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2009. 00961.x 67.
- 263. Thompson–Chagoyan OC, Fallani M, Maldonado J, Vieites JM, Khanna S, Edwards C, et al. Faecal microbiota and short–chain fatty acid levels in faeces from infants with cow's milk protein allergy. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. (2011) 156:325–32. doi: 10.1159/000323893
- 264. Nakayama J, Kobayashi T, Tanaka S, Korenori Y, Tateyama A, Sakamoto N, et al. Aberrant structures of fecal bacterial community in allergic Infants profiled by 16S rRNA gene pyrosequencing. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. (2011) 63:397–406. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-695X.2011.00872.x 69.
- 265. Ling Z, Li Z, Liu X, Cheng Y, Luo Y, Tong X, et al. Altered fecal microbiota composition associated with food allergy in infants. App Environ Microbiol. (2014)
  80:2546–54. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00003–14 70.
- 266. Chen CC, Chen KJ, Kong MS, Chang HJ, Huang JL. Alterations in the gut microbiota of children with food sensitization in early life. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. (2016) 27:254–62. doi: 10.1111/pai.12522
- 267. Inoue R, Sawai T, Sawai C, Nakatani M, Romero–Pérez GA, Ozeki M, et al. A preliminary study of gut dysbiosis in children with food allergy. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. (2017) 81:2396–9. doi: 10.1080/09168451.2017.1383849 73.
- 268. Kourosh A, Luna RA, Balderas M, Nance C, Anagnostou A, Devaraj S, et al. Fecal microbiome signatures are different in food– allergic children compared to siblings and healthy children. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. (2018) 29:545–54. doi: 10.1111/pai.12904

- 269. Dong P, Feng JJ, Yan DY, Lyu YJ, Xu X. Early–life gut microbiome and cow's milk allergy– a prospective case control 6–month follow–up study. Saudi J Biol Sci. (2018)
  25:875–80. doi: 10.1016/j.sjbs.2017.11.051
- Abdel-Gadir A, Stephen-Victor E, Gerber GK, Noval Rivas M, Wang S, Harb H,
  Wang L, Li N, Crestani E, Spielman S, Secor W, Biehl H, DiBenedetto N, Dong X, Umetsu DT, Bry L, Rachid R, Chatila TA. Microbiota therapy acts via a regulatory T cell
  MyD88/RORγt pathway to suppress food allergy. Nat Med. 2019 Jul;25(7):1164-1174. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0461-z. Epub 2019 Jun 24. Erratum in: Nat Med. 2019
  Sep;25(9):1458. PMID: 31235962; PMCID: PMC6677395.
- 271. Mennini M, Reddel S, Del Chierico F, Gardini S, Quagliariello A, Vernocchi P, Valluzzi RL, Fierro V, Riccardi C, Napolitano T, Fiocchi AG, Putignani L. Gut Microbiota Profile in Children with IgE-Mediated Cow's Milk Allergy and Cow's Milk Sensitization and Probiotic Intestinal Persistence Evaluation. Int J Mol Sci. 2021 Feb 6;22(4):1649. doi: 10.3390/ijms22041649. PMID: 33562104; PMCID: PMC7915344.

### 8. Tables

### Table 1: Main gut microbiota features in food allergy

	OTUs	DIVERSITY	TECHNOLOGY	MAIN FEATURES	REFERENCES
Byorkesten et al. 1999 (n=62; FA)	N.R.	N.R.	Bacterial culture	Coliforms, S. Aureus	261
				↓Lactobacilli, Bifidobacteria	
Thompson-Chagoyan OC et	<b></b>	N.R.	Bacterial culture	<b>▲</b> Lactobacilli	262
<i>ut. 2010 (n=40:FA)</i>				₿ifidobacteria	
Thompson-Chagoyan OC et	N.R.	N.R.	Bacterial culture	C.coccoides, Atophium cluster	263
al. 2011 (n=46:FA)				•	
Nakayama J et al. 2011 (n=11: FA)	=	=	16s rRNA sequencing	A Bacteroides, Propionibacterium ,	264
(n-11, 1 /1)				$\checkmark$ Acinobacterium, Clostridium	
Ling Z et al. 2014 (n=34: FA)	T	=	16s rRNA sequencing	A Bacteroidetes, Proteobacteria,	265
	•			Actinobacteria Firmicutes	
Azad MB et al. 2015 (n=12:		=	16s rRNA sequencing	, Enterobacteriaceae, Bacteroidaceae	26
FS)	•		8	▼	
Chen CC et al. 2015 (n=23:	N.R.	Т	16s rRNA sequencing	Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria	266
F5)		V		<b>↓</b> Veillonella	
Berni Canani et al. 2016	•	N.R.	16s rRNA sequencing	▲ Ruminococcaceae, Lachnospiraceae	147
(n=39; FA)	Ŧ			⊤ <b>⊥</b> Bifidobacteriaceae, Streptococcaceae,	
Punyayaniah S at al 2016		ND	16c rPNA componing	Enterobacteriaceae	27
(n=226; FA)	<b>†</b>	N.K.	Tos IKINA sequencing	Bucterolueles, Enterobacier	27
Inoue R et al. 2017 (n=4: FA)	N.R.	N.R.	16s rRNA sequencing	🔺 Lachnospira, Veillionella, Suterella	267
				Dorea, Akkermansia	
Kourosh A. et al. 2018 (n=68;	•	N.R.	16s rRNA sequencing	Oscillobacter valericigenes,	268
FA)	Ŧ			Lachnocrostidium bolteae, Faecalibacterium sp	
Earlyllah: Matel 2019	ND	ND			49
(n=141; FA)	IN.K.	<b>N.K.</b>	Tos TKINA sequencing	Lacinospiraceae, sirepiococcaceae, Leuconostocaceae	40
Dong et al. 2018	N.R.	N.R.	16s rRNA sequencing	Lactobacillaceae	269
(n=60; FA				➡ Bifidobacteriaceae, Ruminococcaceae	
Berni Canani R. et al. 2018	N.R.	N.R.	16s rRNA sequencing	Bacteroides, Alistines	47
(n=46; FA)			8	Τ	
Diaz M. et al. 2018	N.R.	N.R.	16s rRNA sequencing	<b>♦</b> Coriobacteriaceae	46
(n-27; FA)					
Abdel Gadir A. et al. 2019	•	N.R.	16s rRNA sequencing	🚽 Clostridiales species, Bacteroidales	270
(n=56; FA)	•			•	
Cait A. et al. 2019	N.R.	N.R.	Shotgun metagenomic	► F. prausnitzii	28
(n=105; FS)			analysis	Roseburia Ruminococcus bromii	
				Bacteroides dorei	
reehley et al. 2019 (n=24; CMA)	★	N.K.	16s rRNA sequencing	Parabacteroides, Blautia,	247
				Enterococcus	
Galazzo G. et al 2020 (n=440; FS)	N.R.	N.R.	16s rRNA sequencing		248
Goldberg et al. 2020	N.R.	N.R.	16s rRNA sequencing	Collinsella aerofaciens,	39
(n=255; FA)				unclassified Methanobrevibacter),	
				Blautia obeum, Coprococcus catus P. Copri,	
Bao R. et al. 2021		N.R.	16s rRNA sequencing	Bifidobacterium adolescentis Phascolarctobacterium faecium,	249
(n=36; FA)	+		, 0	▼ Ruminococcus bromii.	
Monnini M et al 2021	NP	ND	16s rPNA sequencing	A Haemonhilus Klabaiella Demostalla	271
(n=26; FA)	IN.K.	IN.K.	tos inina sequencing	Actinobacillus and Streptococcus	2/1

Abbreviations: FA= food allergy; FS= sensitization to food antigens; OTUs = operational taxonomic units; N.R.= not reported

Technique	Description	Advantages	Disadvantages
Culture	Isolation of bacteria on selective media	Cheap, semi-quantitative	Labour intensive, <30% of gut microbiota have been cultured to date
Qpcr	Amplification and quantification of 16S rRNA. Reaction mixture contains a compound that fluoresces when it binds to double-stranded DNA	Fast,quantitative, Phylogenetic identification	PCR bias, unable to identify unknown species
DGGE/TGGE	Gel separation of 16S rRNA amplicons using denaturant/ temperature	Fast, semi-quantitative, bands can be excised for further analysis	No phylogenetic identification, PCR bias
T-RFLP	Fluorescently labelled primers are amplified and then restriction enzymes are used to digest the 16S rRNA amplicon. Digested fragments separated by gel electrophoresis	Fast, cheap, semi-quantitative	No phylogenetic identification, PCR bias, low resolution
Fish	Fluorescently labelled oligonucleotide probes hybridize complementary target 16S rRNA sequences. When hybridization occurs, fluorescence can be enumerated using flow cytometry	Phylogenetic identification, semi- quantitative, no PCR bias	Dependent on probe sequences— unable to identify unknown species
DNA microarrays	Fluorescently labelled oligonucleotide probes hybridize with complementary nucleotide sequences. Fluorescence detected with a laser	Fast, Phylogenetic identification, semi-quantitative	Cross hybridization, PCR bias, species present in low levels can be difficult to detect
Cloned 16S rRNA gene sequencing	Cloning of full-length 16S rRNA amplicon, Sanger sequencing and capillary electrophoresis	Phylogenetic identification, quantitative	PCR bias, laborious, expensive, cloning bias
Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)	Thermally stable and volatile compounds are separated by GC and then eluting metabolites are detected by electron-impact (EI) mass spectrometers.	High efficiency, reproducibility and sensitivity	It can only be performed for volatile compounds
Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (LC)	Allows to separate compounds with little effort in a few pre-analytics steps (compared to GC-MS). The metabolite separation obtained with LC is followed by electrospray ionization (ESI) or atmospheric chemical ionization under pressure (APCI)	Lower temperatures of analysis, and it does not require sample volatility. Sensitivity, specificity, resolving power, and capability to extract additional information about metabolites from their retention time (RT) domain.	
Capillary Electrophoresis Mass Spectrometr (CE)	Offers high-analyte resolution and detect a wider spectrum of (polar) compounds compared to HPLC.	High resolution	It is properly applicable only to charged analytes
Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)	Allows rapid, non-destructive and high-throughput determination of different sample types. This technique allows detecting different molecules, such as lipids and fatty acids (FAs), proteins, peptides, carbohydrates, polysaccharides, nucleic acids.	Ultra-high mass resolution able to distinguish slight variations in a wide number of mass signals, and allowing to obtain the structural identification of new biomarkers	Not high sensitivity and selectivity
Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (NMR)	It uses the intramolecular magnetic field around atoms in molecules to change the resonance frequency, thus allowing access to details of molecules' electronic structure and obtaining information about their dynamics, reaction state, and chemical environment.	Useful to determine metabolic fingerprints leading to the identification and quantification of compounds in a non-targeted large- scale, in a non-destructive way, and with a high reproducibility	It is a relatively insensitive technique, and can only detect metabolites in high concentrations
Direct sequencing of 16S rRNA amplicons	Massive parallel sequencing of partial 16S rRNA amplicons for example, 454 Pyrosequencing® (Roche Diagnostics GMBH Ltd, Mannheim, Germany) (amplicon immobilized on beads, amplified by emulsion PCR, addition of luciferase results in a chemoluminescent signal)	Fast, Phylogenetic identification, quantitative, identification of unknown bacteria	PCR bias, expensive, laborious
Microbiome shotgun sequencing	Massive parallel sequencing of the whole genome (e.g. 454 pyrosequencing® or Illumina®, San Diego, CA, USA)	Phylogenetic identification, quantitative	Expensive, analysis of data is computationally intense

**Abbreviations**: DGGE, denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis; FISH, fluorescence in situ hybridization; qPCR, quantitative PCR; TGGE, temperature gradient gel electrophoresis; T-RFLP, terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism.

### Table 3. Demographic and clinical characteristics of the population

	Patients with	Patients with	Healthy
	respiratory allergy	food allergy	controls
N.	30	55	29
Male, n (%)	21 (70)	34 (61.8)	15 (51.7)
Spontaneous delivery, n (%)	16 (53.3)	32 (58.2)	16 (55.2)
Born at term, n (%)	30 (100)	55 (100)	29 (100)
Birth weight, gr (mean, SD)	3207 (372.8)	3241.8 (453.4)	3145.9 (546.3)
Age at diagnosis, months (mean, SD)	57.8 (10.9)	14 (15.1)	-
Age at enrollment, months (mean, SD)	57.8 (10.9)	57.4 (11)	62.1 (10.1)
Breastfeeding for at least 4 weeks, n (%)	15 (50)	41 (74.5)	20 (69)
Duration of breastfeeding, months (mean, SD)	7.4 (6.2)	8.6 (7.4)	9.5 (9)
Weaning age, months (mean, SD)	5.3 (0.8)	5.3 (1.2)	5.1 (0.7)
Familial allergy risk, n (%)	19 (63.3)	40 (72.7)	0 (0)
Gastrointestinal symptoms, n (%)	0 (0)	30 (54.5)	-
Vomiting, n (%)	0 (0)	20 (36.4)	-
Diarrhea, n (%)	0 (0)	16 (29.1)	-
Cutaneous symptoms, n (%)	0 (0)	30 (54.5)	-
Urticaria, n (%)	0 (0)	30 (54.5)	-
Respiratory symptoms, n (%)	30 (100)	0 (0)	-
Asthma, n (%)	15 (50)	0 (0)	-
Oculorhinitis, n (%)	15 (50)	0 (0)	-

### 9. Figure Legends

#### Figure 1. The food allergy pyramid

Children with FA present an increased risk to develop later in the life other conditions such as allergic disorders (atopic march), inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD), functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGIDs), and neuropsychiatric disorders. Several genetic factors are implicated in the pathogenesis of these conditions, but recent evidence suggest the pivotal role of gut microbiota dysbiosis (induced by environmental factors). Emerging evidence support the hypothesis of dysbiosis as the first hit in the development of alterations in intestinal barrier and immune system function (responsible for the occurrence of FA and atopic march) and dysregulation of the brain-gut endocrine-immune system axis (responsible for the occurrence of FGIDs, IBD and neuropsychiatric disorders), at least in part through an activation of epigenetic mechanisms.

#### Figure 2. Gut microbiota as a target of intervention against food allergy

Several genetic, environmental and dietary factors could modulate the gut microbiota-immune system axis influencing the occurrence of FA. For instance, increased family size, exposure to pets and/or rural environment, healthy diet (full of fibers, fermented foods, antioxidants, omega-3), breastfeeding and use of probiotics are associated with protection to FA. Conversely, C-section, prenatal and early-life exposure to antibiotics/gastric acidity inhibitors/antiseptic agents, unhealthy diet (low fibers/high saturated fats and junk foods) may increase the risk for the development of FA. All these environmental factors act mainly on a modulation of gut microbiota composition and function which in turn could be responsible for the epigenetic regulation of genes involved in immune tolerance.

### Figure 3. The experimental design of food allergy mouse model

Four-weeks-old female C3H/HeJ mice were used in FA animal model. Two weeks before first sensitization, oral gavage with 30 mg/kg/d of butyrate was started and continued during the whole study. Mice were sensitized orally on day 0, 7, 14, 21, 28 with 20 mg of BLG or 1 mg of OVA or 12 mg of PE mixed with 10 µg cholera toxin (CT) as adjuvant. Control mice receive CT only. On day 35 mice were challenged by gavage with BLG (50mg) or OVA (5mg) or PE (36mg). Anaphylaxis score and rectal temperature were assessed for 1 h after challenge and blood samples were collected to measure mMCP-1 and sIgE. After 24h, mice were sacrificed; colon, ileum and spleen were collected.

## Figure 4 Modulation of Th1 /Th2 response and FoxP3 expression in CD4+ T cells from children affected by food allergy stimulated with butyrate

(A) CD4+ T cells from children with IgE-mediated FA were stimulated with BLG, OVA,PN (100  $\mu$ l/well) and butyrate (0.75 mM) for 24h and a significant increase of IL-4,IL-5, IL-13 production were observed.

(B) A significant inhibition of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 production was observed with 0.75 mM butyrate.

(C) Butyrate stimulated, at the some dose, IL-10 and IFN- $\gamma$  production and FoxP3 expression, through a demethylation of respective gene (D). Data were analyzed with independent sample t-test. NT= untreated cells; BLG=  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin; OVA= ovalbumin; PN = peanut extract. \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01.

### Figure 5. Butyrate breast milk concentrations during first 5 months of lactaction.

(A) butyrate concentrations increase in mature HM compared to colostrum.

(B) resulted significantly higher in mature HM than in colostrum starting from the 0.5 to 0.75 mM in the 2 ° month of lactation, and remain stable until the 5° month of lactation. Data were analyzed with independent sample t-test. \*p<0.05.

# Figure 6. Immune and non immune effects and HDAC activity of butyrate effects on human enterocytes.

Dose-response direct effects of butyrate on HBD-3 (A), Muc5AC (B), Muc2 (C) and tight junctions expression levels (D) on HT-29 cells.

(E) Butyrate acts as an HDAC inhibitor in a dose-dependent manner.

Data represent the mean (± standard deviation; represented by vertical bars) of two independent experiments, each performed in triplicate; Data were analyzed with independent sample t-test. HBD-3=  $\beta$ -defensin 3; Muc5AC=mucin 5AC; Muc2=mucin 2; ZO-1= zonula occludens 1; GUS = glucuronidase; TSA=trichostatin A. \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.001vs untreated cells.

## Figure 7. Evidence on effective sensitization to food allergy in the animal model and Th2 and Th1 response in spleen from mice sensitized to food allergens.

Pre-treatment with 30 mg/kg/day of butyrate in a BLG-, OVA-, PN- sensitized mice significantly reduced anaphylactic score (A), serum MCP-1 (B) and sIgE levels (C).

Cells from spleen were stimulated 1  $\mu$ g/mL anti-CD3 (clone 2C11), or 200  $\mu$ g/mL BLG/OVA/PN and incubated at 37 °C for 72 h. (D) Butyrate stimulated IL-10 and IFN- $\gamma$  (E) production and

inhibited IL-4 (F) and IL-13 (G) production in BLG-, OVA-, PN- sensitized mice. Data are reported as means  $\pm$  SEM from duplicate analyses. Data were analyzed with independent sample t-test. CTRL= control mice; BLG= mice sensitized with  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin; OVA= mice sensitized with ovalbumin; PN = mice sensitized with peanut extract. \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001

### Figure 8. Evidence of hepatic mitochondrial dysfunction in mice sensitized to food allergens.

(A) The mitochondrial H2O2 yield and (B) the basal activity of the aconitase were reported. Data are reported as means  $\pm$  SEM from duplicate analyses. Data were analyzed with independent sample t-test. Control = control mice; BLG= mice sensitized with  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin; OVA= mice sensitized with ovalbumin; PN = mice sensitized with peanut extract. \* p<0.05 vs control;# p<0.05 vs sensitized group.

## Figure 9. Overall gut microbiome composition does not discriminate allergic and healthy children

Principal coordinates analysis based on the gut microbiome composition (as obtained by MetaPhlAn3). Allergic children are included in a unique group (A) or separated according to the type of allergy (B).

### Figure 10. Respiratory allergy leads to higher gut microbial diversity

Box plots showing Shannon (A, C) and Simpson (B, D) diversity index in allergic and healthy children. Allergic children are included in a unique group (C, D) or separated according to the type of allergy (A, B). The significance was tested by applying pair-wise Wilcoxon test. CT, healthy controls; ALLERGY, allergic children; FA, food allergy; RA, respiratory allergy.

### Figure 11. Microbial signatures in allergic children gut microbiome

Heatplot reporting the average relative abundance of microbial taxa significantly different between healthy (CT) and allergic children (ALLERGY) (A) or healthy children (CT) and children with food (FA) or respiratory (RA) allergies (B), as defined by Wilcoxon test (FDR q<0.1). In panel B, \* indicates significance between CT and FA; # indicates significance between CT and RA.

### Figure 12. Short-chain fatty acids are depleted in the gut of allergic children

Box plots showing the concentration of butyrate (A, C) and propionate (B, D) in faecal samples of allergic and healthy children. Allergic children are included in a unique group (C, D) or separated according to the type of allergy (A, B). The significance was tested by applying pair-wise Wilcoxon test. CT, healthy controls; ALLERGY, allergic children; FA, food allergy; RA, respiratory allergy.

#### Figure 13. Gut microbiome features may predict the development of oral tolerance

Heatplot reporting the average relative abundance of microbial taxa significantly different between food allergy children developing (T) or not (NT) oral tolerance upon 36 months of exclusion diet, as defined by Wilcoxon test (FDR q<0.1). Taxa are ordered according to the feature importance score from Random Forest classification model, indicated in the side colored bar.

## Figure 14. Gut microbiome of allergic children shows a higher inflammatory potential and a reduced ability to degrade complex polysaccharides

Box plots showing the relative abundance of microbial genes involved in lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis (A, B), urea (C) and fibre degradation (D, E) in healthy (CT), food (FA) and respiratory (RA) allergic children.

### Figure 15. Allergic children harbor a different B. bifidum pangenome

A: Presence and absence of 76 *B. bifidum* genes significantly different between healthy (CT), food (FA) and respiratory (RA) allergic children (blue, present; gray, absent). The significance was tested by applying paired chi-squared tests; B: Principal coordinates analysis based on presence/absence of the 76 significant genes. The complete list of the 76 significant genes and their prevalence is reported in Supplementary Table S1B.

#### Figure 16. Allergic children harbor a different R. gnavus pangenome

A: Presence and absence of 155 *R. gnavus* genes significantly different between healthy (CT), food (FA) and respiratory (RA) allergic children (blue, present; gray, absent). The significance was tested by applying paired chi-squared tests; B: Principal coordinates analysis based on presence/absence of the 155 significant genes; C: Heatplot showing the prevalence (%) of selected significant genes in the three children groups (CT, healthy controls; FA, food allergy; RA, respiratory allergy). The complete list of the 155 significant genes and their prevalence is reported in Supplementary Table S1A; D: Box plots showing the number of hits (> 90% identity over 50% of query length) against *R. gnavus* genes involved in the production of a pro-inflammatory polysaccharide.

# Figure 17. Delivery mode selects different Blautia wexlerae and Bacteroides vulgatus strains, independently from the health status

Phylogenetic tree of the *Blautia wexlerae* (A) and *Bacteroides vulgatus* (B) Metagenome-Assembled Genomes (MAGs) retrieved from the children analysed. Outer ring is colored according to the delivery mode (pink, C-section; green, vaginal delivery).

### Figure 18. Toward a gut microbiota-based precision medicine against food allergy

We are approaching an era where the metagenomic and metabolomic evaluation of gut microbiota in children at risk for FA will drive personalized intervention to preserve or restore an "eubiosis" state based on nutritional counseling and educational programs.

### 10. Figures






## Figure 2. Gut microbiota as a target of intervention against food allergy







Figure 4 Modulation of Th1 /Th2 response and FoxP3 expression in CD4+ T cells from children affected by food allergy stimulated with butyrate

Figure 5. Butyrate breast milk concentrations during first 5 months of lactaction.





Figure 6. Immune and non immune effects and HDAC activity of butyrate effects on human enterocytes.

Figure 7. Evidence on effective sensitization to food allergy in the animal model and Th2 and Th1 response in spleen from mice sensitized to food allergens.







Figure 9. Overall gut microbiome composition does not discriminate allergic and healthy children





## Figure 10. Respiratory allergy leads to higher gut microbial diversity

# Figure 11. Microbial signatures in allergic children gut microbiome 11A

			14
2.1	2.7	Anaerostipes_hadrus	
0.7	0.3	Bacteroides_dorei	12
2.8	1.4	Bacteroides_vulgatus	
0.0	0.1	Bifidobacterium_kashiwanohense	10
16.6	11.5	Bifidobacterium_longum	10
0.1	0.1	Blautia_hydrogenotrophica	8
0.1	0.1	Blautia_producta	Ŭ
0.7	0.5	Blautia_sp_CAG_257	6
3.0	4.0	Blautia_wexlerae	Ŭ
0.2	0.2	Clostridium_innocuum	4
0.2	0.1	Clostridium_spiroforme	-
0.1	0.2	Coprococcus_eutactus	2
0.2	0.4	Dialister_invisus	2
1.2	0.8	Eggerthella_lenta	0
0.0	0.1	Enterococcus_gallinarum	0
0.5	1.2	Eubacterium hallii	
0.1	0.1	Eubacterium sp CAG 274	
2.1	3.1	Faecalibacterium prausnitzii	
0.0	0.1	Firmicutes bacterium CAG 646	
0.0	0.1	Firmicutes bacterium CAG 94	
0.1	0.2	Gemmiger formicilis	
0.0	0.1	Lactobacillus rhamnosus	
0.2	0.1	Monoglobus pectinilyticus	
0.2	0.4	Parabacteroides distasonis	
0.2	0.2	Parabacteroides merdae	
0.2	0.5	Prevotella copri	
0.0	0.1	Proteobacteria bacterium CAG 139	
0.1	0.0	Roseburia sp CAG 471	
14.4	10.6	Ruminococcus bromii	
1.4	3.0	Ruminococcus <sup>-</sup> gnavus	
0.4	0.2	Ruminococcus lactaris	
0.7	1.1	Streptococcus thermophilus	
4	4	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
C,	a Ci		
、	(y)		
	,×		
`			

## Figure 11B

2.1	3.6	2.3	Anaerostipes hadrus	14
0.7	0.4	0.2	Bacteroides dorei	40
2.8	2.9	0.6	Bacteroides vulgatus	12
0.0	0.0	0.1	Bifidobacterium kashiwanohense	10
16.6	9.9	12.3	Bifidobacterium_longum	10
3.0	2.3	4.9	Blautia_wexlerae	Q
0.0	0.0	0.5	Catenibacterium_mitsuokai	0
0.0	0.1	0.1	Clostridium_sp_CAG_58	6
0.2	0.1	0.1	Clostridium_spiroforme	0
0.0	0.0	0.1	Collinsella_massiliensis	Δ
0.1	0.3	0.1	Coprococcus_eutactus	-
0.2	0.6	0.3	Dialister_invisus	2
1.2	0.7	0.8	Eggerthella_lenta	2
0.1	0.2	0.1	Eisenbergiella_tayi	0
1.0	0.5	0.1	Eubacterium_siraeum	0
0.1	0.1	0.1	Eubacterium_sp_CAG_274	
0.0	0.1	0.0	Firmicutes_bacterium_CAG_646	
0.1	0.2	0.2	Gemmiger_formicilis	
0.4	0.3	0.3	Gordonibacter_pamelaeae	
0.1	0.2	0.2	Intestinibacter_bartlettii	
0.0	0.0	0.1	Lactobacillus_rhamnosus	
0.0	0.0	0.1	Olsenella_scatoligenes	
0.2	0.3	0.5	Parabacteroides_distasonis	
0.2	0.5	0.1	Parabacteroides_merdae	
0.2	1.5	0.1	Prevotella_copri	
0.1	0.0	0.0	Koseburia_sp_CAG_4/1	
1.2	1.0	0.7	Sellimonas_intestinalis	
0.7	0.2	1.6	Streptococcus_thermophilus	
Ś	25	4P		



Figure 12. Short-chain fatty acids are depleted in the gut of allergic children.

## Figure 13. Gut microbiome features may predict the development of oral tolerance

	0.01	0.00	Streptococcus aordonii		score
	1.34	0.01	Lachnospira pectinoschiza	14	
	0.24	0.15	Intestinibacter bartlettii	40	100
	0.26	1.22	Ruthenibacterium lactatiformans	12	
	0.08	0.00	Haemophilus parainfluenzae	10	
	0.04	0.00	Veillonella infantium	10	
	0.01	0.29	Clostridium leptum	8	2
	15.44	10.79	Bifidobacterium longum		
	0.02	0.00	Streptococcus_oralis	6	
	0.01	0.00	Bacteroides_sp_CAG_144		
	0.10	0.01	Veillonella_dispar	4	
	0.20	0.12	Streptococcus_parasanguinis	2	
	0.58	0.15	Ruminococcus_lactaris	2	
	2.97	2.09	Anaerostipes_hadrus	0	
	0.02	0.01	Clostridium_sp_CAG_299	U	
	0.01	0.00	Clostridium_perfringens		
	0.00	0.12	Clostridium_sp_CAG_58		
	0.00	0.03	Anaerotruncus_colihominis		
	0.01	0.01	Klebsiella_pneumoniae		
	0.00	0.04	Pseudoflavonifractor_sp_An184		
.0	<b>、</b> へ	1			
CO.		4			
9					

Figure 14. Gut microbiome of allergic children shows a higher inflammatory potential and a reduced ability to degrade complex polysaccharides 14A



14B



14C





14E





Figure 15. Allergic children harbor a different *B. bifidum* pangenome 15A



## Figure 16. Allergic children harbor a different *R. gnavus* pangenome



APLV7

AA12 AA27



16D



Figure 17. Delivery mode selects different *Blautia wexlerae* and *Bacteroides vulgatus* strains, independently from the health status

17A







Figure 18. Toward a gut microbiota-based precision medicine against food allergy

Received: 24 January 2018

Accepted: 17 July 2018

# SCIENTIFIC REPORTS

### **OPEN** Gut microbiota composition and butyrate production in children affected by non-IgE-mediated cow's milk allergy Published online: 21 August 2018

Roberto Berni Canani (1<sup>3,2,1,4</sup>, Francesca De Filippis (2<sup>4,3</sup>, Rita Nocerino<sup>2</sup>, Lorella Paparo<sup>2</sup>, Carman Di Scala<sup>2</sup>, Linda Cosenza<sup>2</sup>, Giusy Dalla Gatta<sup>4,4</sup>, Antonio Calignano<sup>8</sup>, Carmen De Caro<sup>3</sup>, Manolo Laiola<sup>2</sup>, Jack & Gilbert<sup>2</sup> & Danilo Freninib<sup>3</sup>

Cow's milk allergy (CMA) is one of the earliest and most common food allergy and can be elicited by Cow's milk allergy (CMA) is one of the earliest and most common food allergy and can be elicited by both ligt- or non-ligt-mediated machanism. We previously described dysbiosis in children with tigt-mediated CMA and the effect of detary treatment with occassively hydropyced case informula (ERCF) alone or in combination with the problotic L actobiocillus rhomonus GG (LGG). On the contrary, the gut microbiotist in non-ligt-mediated CMA remains unchangenetized and thirdy we available gut microbiotist composition and fecal torprace several in children affected by non-ligt-mediated CMA, we found a gut microbiotist dysbiosis in non-ligt-mediated CMA, driven by an antichament of Bacteraides and Alistiper. Comparing these results with those previously obtained in children with Igt-mediated CMA, we demonstrated evertapping dispatches in the gut microbiotia dysbiosis of non-ligt-mediated CMA, we demonstrated CMA children (TMA) for a set of the control of Bacteraides and Alistiper. Comparing these results with those previously obtained in children with Igt-mediated CMA, we demonstrated CMA children in the gut microbiotia dysbiosis of non-ligt-mediated CMA, and on hadywate production is formously the progressive increase in Bacteroides throm had by to big-mediated CMA patients. ENCF contains LGG was more strongly susceited with an effect on dysbiosis and on hadywate production is in children with CMA will confirm these secults, gut microbiotis dysbiosis could be a relevant target for innovative therapeutic citategies in children with non-ligt-mediated CMA.

Food allergy (FA) results from an abnormal interance enablated reaction against food antigens, such as cosvi mills allergy (CMA) is one of the earliest and most common FA. The transmest methanism of CMA and by §§ exactland on new §§F-mathaned (soft modulated) and in receptored as a first indicator of a dynaptical interance response in the podiatric age? In back, follows affected by CMA is the first year of life inner an increased risk to develop other aspic manifestications in their later life", as well as other chosen's immune endplated in terms of a new §§F-mathaned to the second by CMA pathogenesis is important in order to effectively proved and manage the disease and in later life", as well as other chosen's increase endplated interance, built of the second of the second provide the second of the interaction of the interactions of the interaction interaction of the interaction of the

tment of Translational Medical Science, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, "Suro "Department of Transitional Mulical Service, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Tair, "Surgean Laboratory for the Investigation of Food-Induced Dissause, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Tair, "Chill Cardinatori Biotechnologies, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Tair, "Tark Senta on Microbione Studies, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, "Department of Aglicalizatia Sciences, University of Naples Federico II, Portici, Italy, "Department of Pharmacy, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Tair, "Science and Filippia and Rist Notorino Control Laboratory University of Chicago, Chicago, Li, UGA, Roberto Berni Canasi, Francesca De Filippia and Rist Notorino Control Laboratory University of Chicago, Chicago, Li, UGA, Roberto Berni Canasi, Francesca De Filippia and Rist Notorino Control Laboratory University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, "Division of Biocelence, Argone National Laboratory University of Chicago, Chicago, Li, UGA, Roberto Berni Canasi, Francesca De Filippia and Rist Notorino Control Laboratory University, Correspondences and requests for materials should be addressed to R.B.C. (email: Berni Gunna Jt) or D.E. (email: ecolority) Control Laboratory University of Naples, Tairo Control Laboratory University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, "Division of Biocelence, Argone National Control Laboratory University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, "Division of Biocelence, Argone National Control Laboratory University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, Tairo, Status II, Control Laboratory, Control Labora

SCIENTIFIC REPORTS (2010) 812530 (DOI-10.1558/y41589-008-30428-3

frontiers in Immunology

#### NUMER (Address 15 February 2010) aut. 111 2565 forms 2014 2014

۲

#### Gut Microbiome as Target for Innovative Strategies Against Food Allergy

Roberto Berni Canani<sup>12,14</sup>°, Lorella Paparo<sup>13</sup>, Rita Nocerino<sup>13</sup>, Carmen Di Scala<sup>13</sup>, Giusy Della Gatta<sup>14</sup>, Ylenta Maddalena<sup>1</sup>, Aniello Buono<sup>13</sup>, Criatina Bruno<sup>16</sup>, Luana Voto<sup>1</sup> and Danilo Ercolini<sup>14</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Degenerat of Baromanual Medical Sciences – Parkamin Bactimo, Linkowsky of Napare Stackson (P), Napare, Ball, "European Eaktoretray for the homologistics of Ecode Inscience Danamas, Linkowsky of Napare, Stackson (P), Napare, Ball, "Inscience Parkations and CSPAGE Advances Barowsky, Linkowsky of Napare, Technico (P), Napare, Ball, "Ecode on Manufacture Bacteries Linkowsky, of Napare Sciences (F), Napare, Ball, "Engantment of Agiliantiana Sciences, Linkowsky of Napare Sciences, P. Napare, Ball, "Engine Technico IP, Napare, Ball, "Engantment of Agiliantiana Sciences, Linkowsky of Napare Sciences, P. Napare, Ball, "Engine Technico IP, Napare, Ball, "Engantment of Agiliantiana Sciences, Linkowsky of Napare Sciences, P. Napare, Ball, "Engine Technico IP, Napare, Ball, "Engantment of Agiliantiana Sciences, Linkowsky of Napare, Sciences, P. Napare, Ball, "Engine Technico IP, Napare, Ball, "Engine Technico, P. Napare, P. N

The dramatic increase in food allergy prevalence and severity globally requires effective strategies. Food allergy derives from a defect in immune tolerance mechanisms. Immune

#### OPEN ACCESS

> Apecially section in some submitted to

Ancoartering Macculationally a section of the journa Rooters & Instantiation

Received 02 Jay 2018 Accepted 32 January 2019 Addited 15 February 2019

Citables: Berni Canan R. Aguaro I., Noonico A

en Canan R. Paparo L. Noonto P. Di Scale C. Diela Gana G. Matalaine Y. Razini A. River C. Hata and Positiv D (2016) Gar Micolaten al Target Er rossantie Strangen Againt Food Alergie Proc. Immunol. 101(6) 40(1):1110009000.2018.00001

This articl

tolerance is modulated by gut microbiota function and structure, and microbiome abarations (dysticsic) have a pixctainole in the development of food allergy. Environmental factors, including a low Rbanhigh-fat dist, ossavan delivery, antiseptic agents, lack of breastfleeding, and drugs can induce gut microbiome dysticsis, and have been associated with food allergy. New experimental tools and technologies have provided information regarding the role of metabolities generated from detary nutrients and selected problectic strains that could act on immune tolerance mechanisms. The mechanisms are multiple and still not completely defined. Increasing evidence has provided useful information on optimal bacterial species/rishains, dosaga, and timing for intervention. The increased knowledge of the crucial role played by nutrients and gut microbiota-derived metabolities is opening the way to a post-biotic approach in the stimulation of immune tolerance through epigenetic regulation. This review focused in the potential role of gut microbiotion as the target for innovative strategies against tood alergy.

room men B

Reywords: immune tolerance, gut microbists, mediterranean diet, dysbiosis, problotics, gut microbists metabolites, short chain taty acids, botynte

#### INTRODUCTION

#### The Changing Scenario of Food Allergy

1

From allengy (7A) is one of the most common allenging disorders in the pediatric age, and it has been considered as a global bashb problem, particularly in industrialmed world (1). During the last two decides, studies have suggested that the epidemiology of 1A has shown a dramatic increase in the prevalence, severity of clusical manifestations and risk of perintence into later ages, leading to an increase in methical visits, hospital administers, invariants, burden of care and minilas, and accontence impact, with an increase of cours for the families and healthcare system (2--0). According to the most recent epidemiological data, time trand analysis showed up to a 7-fold increase in hospital administers for food seven allengic mactions in children in the

Eventions in Investmentally J Asses Institutions and

Sibnary 2018/10/www.1015/66/ait.187

130

Aily Top Mol Biol - Advances in Microbiology, Infectional Dismass and Public Bealth https://doi.org/10.100727184\_2014\_316 @ Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

#### Targeting Food Allergy with Probiotics

Lorella Paparo, Rita Nocerino, Carmen Di Scala, Giusy Della Gatta, Margherita Di Costanzo, Aniello Bucino, Cristina Bruno, and Roberto Berni Canani

#### Abstract

The dramatic increase in food allergy provalence and severity globally is domanifug effective strategies. Forst allergy derives from a defect in immune tolerance mechanismu Immune telerance is modulated by get

Authors Lowila Toparo, Rita Nosericar, Carmer Di Scala, Gaoy Dulla Ganz and Margherina Di Costanan have been republy contributed to this chapter.

L. Paparo, R. Nocarmo, C. Di Scala, G. Della Gata.

and M. Di Contanto Department of Translational Medical Science, University of Staples "Federate II", Naples, Enty

CEINCE-Bomcnelogie Avianne v.c. at L. University of Narios "Federico II", Narkis, July

A. Buone CEINGE-Biotecordopte Aviations v.c.ar.1., University of Naples 'Telerics II', Naples, Eaty

C. Brano

Department of Translational Medical Science, University of Naples "Federics II", Naples, July

R. Berri Cause (74)

Department of Translational Medical Science, University of Supley 'Federace II', Napley, Isity

Barquan Laboratory for the housingators of Food-Induced Diseases, University of Napley "Federace II", Mattes, Indy

CIDNOE Resecretegie Avanue v.e. at 1, University of Naples 'Evidence IF', Naples, Edy

Ted. Freuz on Manchisme Investigation. University of

Nation Folicities B, Neples, help e-mail: hentiff tarjoin.11

the choice of optimal bacterial species/strains, desage, and timing for intervention. The increased knowledge on the crucial role played by gut microbiota-derived metabolites, such as butyrate, is also opening the way to a postbiotic approach in the stimulation of immune inference. Keyseords

microbiots composition and function, and gut

microbiota dyabiosis into been associated with

the development of food allergy. Scherted pro-

biotic strains could act on immune tolerance

michanisms. The mechanisms are multiple

and still not completely defined. Increasing evidence is providing useful information on

Butyrate - Cow's milk allergy - Gat mambiota - Immune tolerance - Post-bintics -Probictics

#### Abbreviations

EA.

Off

OVA

- BLG B-bacinglobulin
- cow's milk allergy CMA
- extensively hydrolyzed cases formula EHCF
  - food allergy
- LAB lactic acid bacteria
- 100 Lociobacillar charateress GG
  - ural food immunufactory malhumin
- PBMC» peripheral blood monomaclear cells

APLT Almentary Pharmacology & Themperchild WHLEY

#### The therapeutic efficacy of Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis BB-12<sup>®</sup> in infant colic: A randomised, double blind, placebo-controlled trial

Rita Nocerino<sup>1,2</sup> | Francesca De Filippis<sup>3,4</sup> | Gaetano Cecere<sup>1</sup> | Antonio Marino<sup>1</sup> | Maria Micilio<sup>1</sup> | Carmen Di Scala<sup>1,2</sup> | Carmen de Caro<sup>5</sup> | Antonio Calignano<sup>5</sup> | Cristina Bruno<sup>1,2</sup> | Lorella Paparo<sup>1,2</sup> | Anna M. lannicelli<sup>1</sup> | Linda Cosenza<sup>1,2</sup> | Ylenia Maddalena<sup>1,2</sup> | Giusy della Gatta<sup>1,2</sup> | Serena Coppola<sup>1,2</sup> | Laura Carucci<sup>1,2</sup> | Danilo Ercolini<sup>2,4</sup> | Roberto Berni Canani<sup>1,2,4,0</sup>

Industriby of Hantal Linksford Number and CENCE Advanced Bistochumingles, University of Nagles Federics II, Nagles, Italy

DOC 10 YOT GAL ISTAL

Department of Apricalized Sciences. University of Master-Federics 8, Partici, Itany Mask Force on Minubioner Diation, University of Naster Federics 8, Naster,

taly. "Decision of Plannin University of Regilier Forthelics II. Master, Italy Tantapean Laboratory for the investigati of Food Indone Diseases, University of Naples Foods (at 1, Naples, Italy

Corvenacedeece

Part Dr. Milanto Barri Casari, Department Burt Di, Johantti Bere-Cavali, Departi 21 Translational Medical foliosco-Populatic locition, CDMGI-Adamirph Biotechnologian, European Lidou story for the lowertgation of Food Industry Datasets, Tool Farm on Microbiologian demonstrate of dealers, "Federican b", who li-Praisel 5 Mill21 Wayles, Hally Could be to be along it

Recalling to the matchine This result mans function in y factor Sup. A., Tercenter Roma, Million, Italy, Hummon, Josha 6.p.A. has no influence as fail the residuation super use on encodence as go the contraction of charles. Bit the callection, analysis and interpretation of the share () the section of the encodering for paths atom.

Summary

Background: The pathogenesis of indent tolic is poorly defined. Get microbints or to be involved, supporting the potential therapeutic rule of probletics. Aims: To assess the rate of infants with a reduction of x50% of mean dely crying da ration after 28 days of intervention with the problem: Eithester tertion animals subust turtis 98-12" (BB-22). Secondary pulcames were shifty surface of crying episodes alooping time, runther of bossel recoversants and aloid consistency

Methods: Randomized controlled trial (RCT) on otherwise healthy exclusively breast feel infants with infant solid sandomly effectivel to receive #8-12.0. + 10" CPU/May or planebo for 26 days. Gut microbiota structure and butyrete, beta-defemin-2 (HBD-2). cathelicidis (LL-37), secretary IgA (sigA) and fascal calprotectin levels were ass Results: Eighty infants were candomised, 40/group. The rate of infants with reduction of 150% of mean daily crying duration was higher in infants treated with 88-12, starting from the and of 2nd week. No infant relayout when treatment was stopped. The mean number of crying episodes decreased in both groups, but with a higher effect in 88-12 amon (-4.7 ± 5.4 vs -2.3 ± 2.2, P + 0.05). Mean daily stool frequency da created in both groups but the effect was significantly higher in the 88-12 group. stool consistency was similar between the two groups. An increase in Difidebacterized are (with significant correlation with crying time reduction), butyrate and HBD-2, LL-37, sigA levels associated with a decrease in faecal colprotectin level we observed in the BB-12 group.

Conclusions: Supplementation with DB-12 is effective in managing infant color. The effect sould derive from immune and non-immune mechanisms associated with a mutulation of pat microhistu structure and function.

The Harding States for this address in Problem (Palar 1)

This is an open access afficite easier the 5 in any needbars, provident the original work is properly client and is not used for commental proposes. In 2019 The Authors, Administrary Pharmacology & Therapolation published by John Wiley & Soon 113

110 D 2017 July Wiley & Sent Ltd

Rinet / Namual The: 2020 51:110-120

THE JOURNAL OF PEDIATRICS . www.ipeds.com

# ORIGINAL

#### Dietary Treatment with Extensively Hydrolyzed Casein Formula Containing the Probiotic Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG Prevents the Occurrence of Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders in Children with Cow's Milk Allergy

Rita Nocerino, RN<sup>1,3</sup>, Margherita Di Costanzo, MD<sup>1,3</sup>, Giorgio Bedogni, MD, PhD<sup>3</sup>, Linda Cosenza, MD<sup>1,3</sup>, Yienia Maddalena, MD<sup>1,2</sup>, Carmen Di Scala, RDN<sup>1,2</sup>, Giusy Della Gatta, RDN<sup>1,2</sup>, Laura Carucci, MD<sup>1,2</sup>, Luana Voto, RDN<sup>1</sup>, Serena Coppola, RDN<sup>1,2</sup>, Anna Maria lannicelli, RN<sup>1</sup>, and Roberto Berri Canani, MD, PhD<sup>1,2,4,5</sup>

Objective To investigate whether the addition of the probiotic Lactobacillus rhemnosus GG (LGG) to the extensively hydrolyzed casein formula (EHCF) for cow's milk allergy (CMA) treatment could reduce the occurrence of functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGIDs).

Study design This cohort study included children with a positive history for CMA in the first year of life who were trietted with EHCF alone or in combination with LGG and had exidence of immune tolerance acquisition to com's milk for at least 12 months. FGID was diagnosed according to the Rome III diagnostic criteria by investigators unaware of previous treatment. A cohort of consecutive healthy children was also evaluated as a corrice population. **Results**. A total of 330 subjects were included, 110 per cohort (EHCF, EHCF+LGG, and healthy controls). The rate of subjects with >1 FGID was significantly lower in the EHCF+LGG cohort compared with the EHCF cohort (40% vs 16.4%; P < .05). In the EHCF+LGG cohort, a lower includence was observed for all components of the main study outcome. The prevalence of FGIDs in the healthy cohort was lower than that in the EHCF+LGG cohort. The incidence rate ratio of FGIDs for the EHCF+LGG cohort vs the EHCF cohort (0.40; 95% CI, 0.25-0.65; P < .001) was unmodified after correction for age at CMA diagnosis, breastleeding, wearing time, and presence of a frait-degree reliative with an FGID.

Conclusions These results confirm the increased risk for developing FGIDs in children with CMA and suggest that EHCF+LGG could reduce this risk. (J Pediatr 2019;213:137-42).

Interesting and the explained in terms of structural or biochemical abnormalities, are a very common problem in childhood.<sup>1</sup> IGIDs are the rough of any combination of motility disturbance, visceral hypersensitivity, abneed rancousl and immune function, altered gut microbiota, and altered central nervous system processing.<sup>1</sup> There is increasing evidence sugconting that IGIDs are the rough from immune motion of motility disturbance.

gening that PGIDs can roull freen immune system dysregulation and gut microbiota dyshiosis.<sup>5,4</sup> Cow's mile allergy (CMA) is a common food allergy is early childhood, with an estimated prevalence of 2%-3%.<sup>6</sup> CMA usually occurs in the first months of life and is associated with gatrointestinal inflammation and gut dyshiosis.<sup>5,4</sup> CMA usually occurs in the first months of life and is associated with gatrointestinal inflammation and gut dyshiosis.<sup>5,4</sup> There is an emerging evidence pointing to CMA as a predisposing condition in patients with FGIDs.<sup>15,15</sup> Genome-wide association studies have identified ingle malecolide polymorphisms common to allergies that confer a risk for FGIDs.<sup>15,15</sup> This evidence indicates the importance of effective strategies to prevent FGIDs in children with CMA. Dietary intervention with extensively hydrolyzed case in formula (EHCF) supplemented with the probiotic Lactobacillar

Distary intervention with extensively hydrolyzed casein formula (EHCF) supplemented with the probiotic Lactobacillas rhammanss GG (LGG) has shown benefits in decreasing inflammation and gastrointestinal symptoms in children with CMA,<sup>19</sup> as well as in reducing the duration of disease and the occurrence of other

Group, an our restrictions later in life.<sup>30,23</sup> Multiple mechanisms might be responsible for these clinical effects, including a positive effect on gat dyblionis and epigenetic regulation of immune and noniremune gene expression.<sup>20,23</sup> L rhavenusus GG also has been proposed for the treatment of pediatric FGIDs.<sup>8</sup>

ORU .	Colorry-forming units
CMA.	Cow's milk allergy
EHCF	Extensively hydrolyped case in formula
FUD	Functional gastrointentinal blooder
sildik	Incidence rate ratio
1.99	Lactubecilus memoraus (43
PWRM	Painson working regression model
OPI2S-REE	Porte III diagnostic orbeita

Prom No "Department of The statistical Medical Estimates University of Statistics Patients S. Margins, Nutr." (EDNDE Advances) Elementonicapes, "Clima de Dalama, Bala, "Elemento de Carlos, Banavisas, Tanles, Baly, "Elemento Los Reins, Banavisas, Tanles, Baly, "Elemento Los Reins, Banavisas, Tanles, Baly, "Elemento de Las Statisticas S. Statisticas B. Balana, Danamer, and "Dala Patients S. Statistics, Pell 2015 Elements, and Statisticas S. Statistics, Pell 2016 Elements, Statisticas and Statistics, Pell and Reins, The advance statistical for marketing of the publication. The advance statistical for more carlos of intertion statistics, The advance statistics of a statistics, Pell Internet, Statisticas and Statistics, Statisti

127

Sele succession and

#### Editorial: interventions in infantile colic - can efficacy be attributed to treatment or to time? Authors' reply

Not there the increase of all interactions are paper structure, the foregroups of the structure entropy of all interactions and the structure structure in the structure of structure is crucial for tendentiand controlled state. BC14 as before the value with an addy paids of annual 4 metrics of age with progression requests, well allow the structure of age.<sup>100</sup> For these measure, with the aim in reduction the 10 metrics of age.<sup>100</sup> For these measures, with the aim in reduction the transmitter of age.<sup>100</sup> For these measures, with the aim in reduction the transmitter of age.<sup>100</sup> For these measures, with the aim in reduction the transmitter of age.<sup>100</sup> For these measures, with the aim in reduction the structure of age.<sup>100</sup> For these measures, with the aim in reduction the structure of a structure of infantile reduction the structure of a structure, and an element and the metric of the field of the metric and the metrics of structure interaction there is the structure and field only before registrations that the field on the structure and field only infantile structure and age of the metric of the metric of structure is structure the structure and structure of structure is structure from the structure of structure of structure is structure from the structure of structure of structure is a structure from the structure of structure of structure is a structure from the structure of structure of structure is a structure from the structure of structure of structure is a structure from the structure of structure of structure is a structure from the structure of structure of structure is a structure of structure of structure of structure is a structure of structure of structure of structure of structure of the structure of structure of structure of structure of structure of the structure of structure

Arriantly distary intercention for tion lankating motives, last not been included in the management of fortunitie with termsorchiscient entries model basic tergation impairs on maternal token interaction and as the lenger termsontimulate of insurthening.<sup>4</sup> Honorem resent size suggests provide benefit dentation (non-themethic suggest provide benefit dentation), this shading model change that optimis.<sup>6</sup> In our study, the provide influence of maternal dentary function, or changes in distary tables too, account by analyting date from 7-day funct date provides at landities and during the last meth of maternation. To distary changes uses of an entries for last meth of the during

Repareting the diagramits of infrastile scale, is now defined an ending its the band diagramits articula analytic solar the trial sondesigned jike Banne II Obserie parameters of induktile, localing or enging that must and etaip willings distance source with explosive law big 10 hours per day and essenting at loast 3 days per must for at Real 1 source and etaip values to distuis? In Figure IC, we reported lead or of the former spectrum find should be considered for the diagrams of Infantile colo and, as described in the test, at loantine the altineous between the test alsoly groups assured significant

De laconne suggeteled former acteur spore foramente stead pattern, had tits, sontinal mit, fan anter analisite in Konsteiner 2008 wiene nær 827 mar alveady rompletal Marsoner, av slated infore tosk, blanks del net take programperipations, av die sendiaatien av suggiv mentadion stellt after sudfittene Faith dering the steals.

In a and similar study population of colleky infants, we image tigated studynesses() closed extension and patiential resolutions of action of a unit-characterized position study. No this infant data on the good safety perfile of the position value, imperative citized resolution agentic with contradiction of periodicerrotation and extension must be an and burden position. We calculate the object position for the relations with \$22 in the transformed of length position of the transformation and \$22 in the transformed of length position.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEWENT

The authors' declarations of partnersal and financial interests are on shanged from these in the original article.<sup>9</sup>

#### LINKED-CONTENT

This article is listed to known or at and larness papers. To cites these articles, visit https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.11048.and/https:// doi.org/10.1111/apt.11099.

~	in the second	2- P	ilean i	e
	Lai	-	Č	-
	1.00	-	-	-
			in.	s.
	Care	- 5	6.4	c

Fulfall print Wiley & Security

#### WILLY -----REPTRENCES. Antonio Calignana<sup>1</sup> Jacons H. Editrial interaction is interfit cells - can officery be attributed to relatence or to time? Johant Planeter/Tell Cristina Brans<sup>21</sup> hereful hereit?? 2020 (3.2%) (41. Markel and in Street Roverties R. Be Filippis I. Conser G. et al. The Recognoids officence of Relativescence astrophy units. Note: 30(12): 10. Units. Linda Courses<sup>114</sup> Varia Maddalora \*\* other a parameters, should blind placehol or ParmontPare 2010-16-1-07-026. 3. Mode G. Bilgin II, Samanul K. Barranulis review and name analysis basing and orging denations and procedures of color to inflame. J Corry della Carta 11 Reneral Commist 1 Loss Cours?" Andrea Martinel Galls Examination 8. Relposell GL Brignand, Healing RA, Basestar Interneting Har Inspect of carding indications. Industries. 2010; URAPELINT Relationers (H. 2019) and A. Tatari, L. A. d. Friterinance, and other specification on how for the transmissional intention rule is dealer to Berry Carson Parts 5.8 Vepertment of Transinianal Multical Interest, interestly of we have been been and the balance when he and the RCS Hughes Pasterior & Hugeles, Hully and MM Insuel tertaintenin analysis, biotean 2018/001 PS 6. Genealmen 5. Gantaer 1. Generation 9. c. 4 Fisie of Landae Bar CONCE Advanced Boliningin, Oniorale of Marine nerves (Festivite') (FOI2 and Landscher rotat Fairtiel Nation Into (Final-marth) 12248 in Information a conductional distance sharps for the second secon counties of Applications No. on, Delands of Marks Padorica & Panial Sala 3 Katalor B. Renditana M. Gaptan P. Improin blast ode following solution of lattour load all's lattour. I Autobacilies 2001101079 (etc) Tanà Panco ne Ministeire Maalie, University of Replice Participanti, Mandra, Malla 8. Leales P. Terano V. New restorem he inter cells. Car (200 Chearinger of Namue's University of Visain Antonio 8. Judian 2010/22/74:191 9 Januaria W. Chalg SS, Yaland GN, Barratt A. Gibaro PK, Hair A. Names and enlateratory for the Instalgation of Facel Induced Restantiant district restaring the basis of Amery PEGANA Disease, University of Regim Patients of Regim, Ruly of branching motion is an initially a proto improvement of the completes of interfals initi that for a topical dist, dileter Employees a Partners Tao 205848 4011125 Wyman M, Milla W. Bennings HM. Daulitans GP. Parities DF. Tamintas 1 Oblificad heaviered sustainmenting functions and GEOD

